Nurturing Eemân in Children

تنمية الإيمامُ في الأطفال

Dr. Aisha Hamdan

كلأم الله Kalamullah.Com

الدار العالمية للكتاب الإسلام

INTERNATIONAL ISLAMIC PUBLISHING HOUSE

Contents

Arabic honorific symbols used in this book	10
Pronunciation and Transliteration Chart	
About the word Lord	15
Publisher's Note	
Preface	
Introduction	19
PART ONE: THE FOUNDATIONS OF	
NURTURING EEMÂN IN CHILDREN	23
CHAPTER 1: 'Aqeedah, Eemân, and Ihsân	24
The meaning of 'aqeedah	24
The importance of Islamic 'aqeedah	
The relationship between 'aqeedah and eemân	
The meaning of eemân and mu'min	
The meaning of ihsân	
Relation to parenting	
CHAPTER 2: The Responsibility of Parenting	
Responsibility and accountability	
Children as a test from Allah	
Rewards and joys of parenting	
Goals of parenting	

CHAPTER 3: The Basics of Parenting	47
The importance of the marital relationship	47
Gender roles	. 51
The honourable role of motherhood	. 53
The role of fatherhood	. 55
Nurturing one's own eemân	. 56
Basic rights of the child (Duties of parents)	. 57
Basic rights of parents (Duties of the child)	. 58
The importance of breastfeeding, bonding and early attachment	. 60
Praying for a righteous child	. 62
CHAPTER 4: Knowledge and Education in Islam	. 64
The importance of knowledge	. 64
The meaning of knowledge	. 66
Knowledge and parents	. 67
Knowledge and parenting	. 68
More than knowledge alone	. 70
The Arabic language	. 70
The Prophet Muhammad's methods of education and teaching	73
CHAPTER 5: Fitrah: The Innate Nature of Children	77
What is fițrah?	77
The influence of parents	. 79
The influence of Satan	. 80
The responsibility of parents in relation to fitrah	. 81

PART TWO: CONNECTING CHILDREN TO THE	
PILLARS OF EEMÂN	83
CHAPTER 6: Allah, the Exalted, the Almighty	84
Belief in Allah	84
Connecting children to Allah	87
CHAPTER 7: The Angels	98
Belief in the angels	98
Connecting children to the angels	100
CHAPTER 8: The Prophets and Messengers	112
Belief in the prophets and messengers	112
Connecting children to the prophets and messengers	116
CHAPTER 9: The Books and Revelation	122
Belief in the books and revelation	122
Connecting children to revelation	125
CHAPTER 10: The Day of Resurrection and the Hereaft	er 132
Belief in the day of Resurrection and the hereafter	132
Connecting children to the Day of Resurrection and the hereafter	137
Responsibility and accountability	143
The nature of this world	144
CHAPTER 11: Divine Will and Predestination	148
Belief in Divine will and predestination	148
Connecting children to Divine will and predestination	151

.

PART THREE: DEVELOPING AN ISLAMIC	
PERSONALITY	159
CHAPTER 12: Additional Keys to Developing	
an Islamic Personality in Children	160
Definitions	160
Begin from an early age	160
Teach children to understand all things from the perspective of Islam	164
Teach importance of obedience to parents	164
Encourage a focus on worthy values and related projects	168
Be good role models	171
Demonstrate and encourage pride in being Muslim	172
Instil love of jihad	172
Place Islam before ethnicity and nationality	176
CHAPTER 13: Enhancing the Islamic Personality and	
Building Self-Esteem	178
Definitions of self-concept and self-esteem	178
Importance of self-esteem	178
Building self-esteem	179
PART FOUR: ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS	187
CHAPTER 14: The Home Environment	188
Create an environment of eemân within the home	188
Establish prayer within the home	189
Make teaching and learning ongoing activities	191

Maintain an Islamic library192
Know the supplications and Islamic rulings that pertain to houses
Invite righteous and knowledgeable people to the home 195
Remove negative influences from the home
Ensure that physical aspects are conducive to fulfilling religious obligations
Some notes regarding television
CHAPTER 15: The Peer Environment
The role of peers
Choosing righteous friends
Friendship based upon love of Allah
CHAPTER 16: The Community Environment
Encourage a sense of belonging to the Muslim nation
Practical suggestions for developing a sense of community212
Conclusion
References
Appendix: Parenting Resources

Arabic honorific symbols used in this book

- (ﷺ) : Subhânahu wa Ta'âla "The Exalted"
- (繧): Ṣalla-Allâhu 'Alayhi wa Sallam "Blessings and peace be upon him"
- () : 'Alayhis-Salâm "May peace be upon him"
- (2006) : Radia-Allâhu 'Anhu --- "May Allah be pleased with him"
- (1): Radia-Allâhu 'Anhâ "May Allah be pleased with her"

Pronunciation and Transliteration Chart

Arabic script	Pronunciation	Transliterated
		as:
Ĩ	short 'a', as in cat	а
آ – ی	longer 'a', as in cab (not as in cake)	â
ب	/b/ as in <i>bell</i> , <i>rubber</i> and <i>tab</i>	b
ت	/t/ as in tap, mustard and sit	t
õ	takes the sound of the preceding	h or t (when
	diactrical mark sometimes ending in h	followed by
	(when in pausal form): ah, ih, or ooh; or	another
	atu(n), ati(n) or ata(n) when in	Arabic word)
	uninterrupted speech	
ث	/th/ as in thing, maths and wealth	th
ج	/j/ as in <i>jam</i> , <i>ajar</i> and <i>age</i>	j
ح	a 'harsher' sound than the English	<u></u> <u> </u>
	initial /h/, and may occur medially and	
	in word-final position as well	
خ	as in Bach (in German); may occur	kh
	initially and medially as well	
د	/d/ as in do, muddy and red	d
ذ	as in this, father, and with	dh
ر	/r/ as in <i>raw</i> , art and war; may also be a	r
	rolled r, as with Spanish words	

Arabic script	Pronunciation	Transliterated
		as:
j	/z/ as in zoo, easy and gaze	Z
س	/s/ as in so, messy and grass	S
ش	as in ship, ashes and rush	sh
ص	no close equivalent in English, but may	ş
	be approximated by	
	pronouncing it as /sw/ or	
	/s/ farther back in the mouth	
ض	no close equivalent in English,	ģ
	but may be approximated by	
	pronouncing /d/	
	farther back in the mouth	
ط	no close equivalent in English,	ţ
	but may be approximated by	
	pronouncing /t/	
	farther back in the mouth	
ظ	no close equivalent in English,	dh
	but may be approximated by	
	pronouncing 'the'	
	farther back in the mouth	
٤	no close equivalent in English:	6
C	a guttural sound in	
	the back of the throat	
ż	no close equivalent in English,	gh
	but may be closely approximated	
	by pronouncing it like the	
	French /r/ in 'rouge'	
ف	/f/ as in fill, effort and muff	f

Arabic script	Pronunciation	Transliterated as:
ق	no close equivalent in English, but may be approximated by pronouncing /k/ farther back in the mouth	q
ك ل	 /k/ as in king, buckle and tack /l/ as in lap, halo; in the word Allah, it becomes velarized as in ball 	k1
<u>۴</u>	/m/ as in men, simple and ram	m
ن هـ – ه – ـه	/n/ as in <i>net</i> , <i>ant</i> and <i>can</i> /h/ as in hat; unlike /h/ in English, in Arabic /h/ is pronounced in medial and word-final positions as well	n h
و و (as a vowel)	as in <i>wet</i> and <i>away</i> long u, as in <i>boot</i> and <i>too</i>	w 00
ي ي (as a vowel)	as in yet and yard long e, as in eat, beef and see	y ee
ç	glottal stop: may be closely approximated by pronouncing it like 't' in the Cockney English pronunciation of <i>butter</i> : <i>bu'er</i> , or the stop sound in <i>uh</i> - <i>oh</i> !	, (Omitted in initial position)

Diphthongs:

Arabic script	Pronunciation	Transliterated
		as:
أوَ ، و	Long o, as in owe, boat and go	au, aw, ow
أي ، يَ	Long 'a', as in <i>able</i> ,	ay, ai, ei
	rain and say	

Diacritical marks (tashkeel):

Name of mark	Pronunciation	Transliterated as:
fatḥah	very short 'a' or schwa (unstressed vowel)	а
kasrah	shorter version of ee or schwa (unstressed vowel)	i
, Dammah	shorter version of oo	u
shaddah	a doubled consonant is stressed in the word, and the length of the sound is also doubled	Double letter
sukoon	no vowel sound between consonants or at the end of a word	Absence of vowel

About the word Lord

The word *lord* in English has several related meanings. The original meaning is 'master' or 'ruler', and in this sense it is often used to refer to human beings: 'the lord of the mansion' or 'Lord So-and-so' (in the United Kingdom, for example). The word *Lord* with a capital L is used in the lexicon of Islam to refer to the One and Only God — Allah. In Islam, there is no ambiguity about the meaning of this word. While it is true that one may occasionally use the word *lord* (whether capitalized or not) to refer to a human being, in Islamic discourse the reference of this term is always clear from the context. Whereas for Christians, Hindus and other polytheists, the word *Lord* with a capital L may refer to Allah, to Jesus or to some imagined deity, for Muslims, there can be no plurality of meaning. Allah alone is the Lord, and the Lord is Allah — not Jesus, not Rama, not any other being.

The Editor

Publisher's Note

Il praise and thanks belong to Allah alone, the One, the Almighty, and All-Merciful. Blessings and peace be upon Prophet Muhammad, the last of His Messengers and Prophets, his family, his Companions and all those who follow in his footsteps until the end of time.

As parents, we often worry about the practical aspects of raising our children: providing them with their basic physical, emotional and cognitive needs. We put much effort into ensuring that they have the best food, healthcare, education, social interactions, recreation, and so forth. We give them love, affection and guidance. We do everything in our power to protect them from harm. In summary, we try to build for them the foundations of a successful future, hoping to reap the fruits of our efforts when they grow up to be well-rounded and well-adjusted adults who are capable of contributing to society and starting a family of their own.

But how much time do we spend worrying about their eternal future: their life in the hereafter? How much effort and planning do we put into this aspect of our children's lives? Indeed, our top priority as parents should be to nurture and strengthen them spiritually. Our primary goal should be to guide them towards all that pleases Allah and leads to paradise, and to steer them away from all that displeases Him and leads to hellfire.

In her book, *Nurturing Eemân in Children*, Dr. Aisha Hamdan discusses the importance of building a rock-solid foundation of faith in our children's hearts and minds, while providing clear guidelines on how to accomplish this.

May Allah guide all of us who have children under our care to raise them in a way that is most pleasing to Him, and in a manner that brings them happiness in this life and the next. May Allah grant us all righteous companions and offspring and join us with them in paradise.

> Muhammad ibn 'Abdul Muhsin Al Tuwaijri Managing Director International Islamic Publishing House Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Preface

In the name of Allah, Most Compassionate, Most Merciful

Il praises are due to Allah; we praise Him; we seek His help; we seek His forgiveness; and we seek His guidance. We seek refuge in Allah from the evil in our souls and the evil of our deeds. For whomever Allah guides, there is none to lead them astray. And for whomever He allows to go astray, there is none to guide them. I bear witness that there is none worthy of worship except Allah, for whom there is no partner. And I bear witness that Muhammad is His servant and Messenger. O believers, have $taqwa^{1}$ of Allah according to His right and do not die except as Muslims. O humankind, have taqwâ of your Lord, the One who created you from one soul and created from it its mate, and from them spread forth many men and women. And fear Allah from whom you demand your mutual rights and [do not cut] familial ties. Surely, Allah is ever a Watcher over you. O believers, have taqwâ of Allah and always speak the truth. He will direct you to do righteous deeds and will forgive you your sins. And whosoever obeys Allah and His Messenger has indeed achieved a great achievement.²

¹ taqwâ: fearful awareness of Allah; being mindful of Allah; pious dedication; being careful not to transgress the bounds set by Allah

 $^{^2}$ In this Preface, the author is quoting translated meanings of several well-known verses of the Qur'an, as well as some supplications and phrases from prophetic hadiths. (Editor)

Introduction

In overview of the condition of children and families in the world today leaves one bewildered and saddened. The family structure is falling apart, with divorce, separation, single parenthood, and fatherless homes becoming the norms rather than the exceptions. Technology has resulted in families spending less time together than at any point in history. Children spend more time immersed in television programs and computer games (more than 20 hours per week) than in meaningful conversations with their parents (less than 30 minutes per week). Mothers are entering the workforce in everincreasing numbers, often leaving their young children in the care of strangers for long periods of time. The list is endless.

The most significant trend in families today is a decline in basic morals and values. Immorality is becoming an acceptable and familiar way of life. Cheating, gambling, consumption of alcohol and drugs, premarital and extramarital relations, and others have become the norm in many countries of the world. In relation to children and families, disobedience, deceit, and disrespect are the three dangerous Ds of this era. Children and teens no longer find it important or necessary to obey and respect their parents. They will disobey or be deceitful in order to please their friends or to gain some worldly pleasure. They do this with little thought or feelings of guilt. This is an insidious and ominous concern that must be taken seriously.

Unfortunately, Muslim families are not immune to these concerns and phenomena. Many Muslims in the West struggle with these issues on a daily basis. And, as globalization sinks its teeth into every bit of area on the earth, Muslims around the world are affected to a greater degree. Although globalization is actually term that is meant to describe economic forces, it is having far-reaching effects on the social and moral structures of societies. Nations are not only importing goods and services, but they are also bringing in ideals, values, and morals that are often contrary to the traditional beliefs and practices of these societies. The main route of transmission is the media, including television, Internet, and magazines. A child halfway around the world is exposed to the same mind-numbing, valueless, morally corrupt material as a child in America. As children and youth scramble to become 'Westernized', members of the older generation struggle to maintain their ethnic, cultural, and religious identities. This leads inevitably to all sorts of intergenerational conflict and, of course, to the three dangerous Ds.

The most significant worry is the impact that these events are having on the Islamic values of families and societies; for it is these values that are suffering the most. The long-term concern is that with each generation, these values will become weaker and weaker. It is not uncommon in Muslim countries, for example, to see teenage boys and girls hanging out together at the mall: the girls without Islamic covering, fully made-up and wearing perfume. Boys and girls communicate together through Internet chat rooms, email, and cell phones. Teenage smoking, drug use, and delinquency are on the rise in many countries. The extent of more clandestine diseases, such as illegitimate relations, is unknown.

The solution

We are all familiar with these images; but the focus of this book is not on the problem, rather on the solution. For the solution to these social ills and troubles is within the hands and hearts of each and every Muslim. It is within reach and can be accomplished with sincere dedication. The answer, of course, is Islam and a return to the virtuous and honourable principles of this way of life. This is, in fact, the only real and viable solution; for it has been ordained by our Lord and our Creator, who knows us better than we know our own selves. Any other solution that has been attempted has fallen short of its goals.

This is not a new notion or proposal, for people since the beginning of humankind have proposed the same. Prophets, righteous men and women, and scholars throughout history have called people to the true meaning and purpose in life and warned them about the deception that is present within it. This book is intended to repeat the call for a renewal of, and return to, those timeless Islamic values and the eternal Islamic way of life. This is the only genuine medicine for all of the social ills present in the world today; the only resolute protection against Satan. Deviation from Allah's laws only leads to destruction and disorder, while a restoration of His way of life will bring the harmony and stability that are so needed. The challenge is in persuading everyone to take the medicine, for it requires effort and earnest commitment. Additionally, it is a lifelong process of treatment that does not end until the time of death.

The focus of this book will be on nurturing the next generation and instilling Islamic values and *eemân* (faith) in them from a very young age. Those who have taken the remedy from the time of birth will find it less difficult or strange to continue it throughout their lifetime. It will naturally flow and progress as the person develops and grows through each phase of life. In actuality, children have within them a very special seed known as the *fitrah*. The fitrah is the innate, inborn tendency to know Allah, to believe in the oneness of Allah, and to develop eemân. The seeds of eemân are already planted and only need to be nurtured lovingly in order to grow into beautiful, flowering plants. For this reason, the book is entitled *Nurturing Eemân in Children*.

It is also hoped that over the course of this process, those attempting to administer the remedy will learn and grow in Islam themselves. People generally learn the most by teaching others, and this is one of the most significant outcomes of parenting. When we look at our children and think about what and how we want them to be, these questions should also arise regarding our own selves. When we see them imitate our behaviour we should ask if this is how we really want our children to behave. Is this the best behaviour for us as adults? What do we truly want for our children and our family in this life and in the hereafter?

This is not simply a book on parenting from an Islamic perspective, for there are many such books already available. It is not a book about how to be a Muslim, for most of us are already familiar with this. We all know how to fast, pray, give $zakat^3$, and so on. Rather, this book is an attempt to educate parents about how to take their children and themselves to the next level. This next level is the level of eemân: of faith, of sincere devotion to Allah, and of fear of Allah. It is an attempt to influence and affect the hearts and souls of each and every Muslim, for strengthening of eemân and the heart is the only protection against the evils of society and the whispering of Satan. This is a call to teach our children how to be genuine believers rather than simply Muslims by name. We must educate them about what it really means to have faith in Allah, to comprehend the meaning of *tawheed*,⁴ and to be conscious of Allah in every decision and action. Our dream for them is to be exemplary callers to Islam, sincere seekers of knowledge, fearless soldiers, societal reformers, righteous wives and caring mothers.

It is this sincere faith that will lead the believers to implement Islam completely in life: within themselves, within their families, and within society. This implementation will lead to the restoration of values in society and a return to the authentic peace that Islam represents.

 $^{^3}$ zakât: obligatory charity: an 'alms tax' on wealth payable by Muslims and to be distributed to other Muslims who qualify as recipients

⁴ tawheed: (belief in) the Oneness of Allah: that He alone deserves to be worshipped and that He has no partners

PART ONE

THE FOUNDATIONS OF NURTURING EEMÂN IN CHILDREN

The foundations of Nurturing Eemân in Children are centred on knowledge of Islamic principles, parenting, human nature, and knowledge itself. This section covers the following: 'aqeedah, eemân, and *iḥsân*; the responsibility and basics of parenting; knowledge and education in Islam; and fiṭrah: the innate nature of humans, which is yet uncorrupted in children. With an understanding of these concepts, parents build a solid foundation upon which to nurture and develop their children.

Chapter 1 'Aqeedah, Eemân, and Iḥsân

The principles of 'aqeedah (belief) and eemân form the foundation of our religion. They are also significant for the task of parenting. The meaning of these terms and their relation to parenting will be discussed in the following section.

The meaning of 'Aqeedah

'Aqâ'id (plural of 'aqeedah) are those things that people's hearts affirm and believe in; things that people accept as true. It is certain and firm belief, without doubt. 'Aqeedah is knowledge that one believes in the heart. In Islam, this would be matters of knowledge that have been transmitted in authentic reports from Allah and the Messenger (\cong) (*Salla Allâhu 'Alayhi wa Sallam* — Blessings and peace be upon him).¹ Allah (\cong) mentions,

﴿ءَامَنَ ٱلرَّسُولُ بِمَآ أُنْزِلَ إِلَيْهِ مِن زَبِّهِ، وَٱلْمُؤْمِنُونَۚ كُلُّ ءَامَنَ بِآللَهِ وَمَكَتِبِكَنِهِ، وَكُنُبِهِ، وَرُسُلِهِ، لَا نُفَرِّقُ بَيْنَ أَحَدٍ مِن رُسُلِهِ، وَقَسَالُواْ سَعِعْنَا وَأَطَعْنَا عُفْرَانَكَ رَبَّنَا وَإِلَيْكَ ٱلْمَصِيرُ (٢٩)

(The Messenger has believed in what was revealed to him from his Lord, and [so have] the believers. All of them have believed in Allah and His angels and His books and His messengers, [saying], 'We make no distinction between any of His messengers.' And they say, 'We hear, and we obey. [We seek] Your forgiveness, our Lord, and to You is the [final] destination.' (Qur'an 2: 285)

¹ Al-Ashqar, Belief in Allah, pp. 29-31

People throughout the world have various belief systems, but the only true 'aqeedah is found in the religion of Islam, since this is the complete, perfect and protected religion. Allah (\bigotimes) says,

أَلْيَوْمَ أَكْمَلْتُ لَكُمْ دِينَكُمْ وأَتَمْتُ عَلَيْكُمْ نِعْمَتِى وَرَضِيتُ لَكُمُ أَلِإِسْلَمَ دِينَاً ...

(... This day I have perfected for you your religion and completed My favour upon you and have approved for you Islam as your religion...) (Qur'an 5: 3)

And:

النَّحل: مَكَزَّلُنَا عَلَيْكَ ٱلْكِتَبَ تِبْيَنَا لِكُلِّ شَيْءٍ ... ٢٠ اللَّهُ عَلَيْكَ ٱلْكِتَبَ تِبْيَنَا لِكُلِّ شَيْءٍ ... ٢٩ [النَّحل: ٨٩] And We have sent down to you the Book as clarification for all

things...) (Qur'an 16: 89)

The Prophet (\gtrsim) said: «I have not left anything that Allah has commanded of you except that I have ordered you to do it. And I have not left anything which He has prohibited for you except that I have prohibited it for you.»²

Allah has guaranteed to protect the Qur'an and Islam until the end of time. Allah (ﷺ) affirms,

[الججر: ٩]

﴿إِنَّا خَعْنُ نَزُّلُنَا ٱلذِّكْرِ وَإِنَّا لَهُ, لَحَفِظُونَ ٢

(Indeed, it is We who sent down the message [the Qur'an], and indeed, We will be its guardian.) (Qur'an 15: 9)

This 'aqeedah, as found in the Qur'an and the Hadith,³ convinces the mind with evidence and fills the heart with eemân, . certainty, and light. Other religions are either based on falsehood or

² Al-Bayhaqi, At-Tabarâni; a sound, authentic hadith

³ Hadith (hadeeth): the collected sayings and actions of Prophet Muhammad (bpuh) that with the Qur'an form the basis of Islamic law

have become distorted, although they may contain some grains of truth here and there.⁴

The importance of Islamic 'aqeedah

True Islamic 'aqeedah is as essential for humans as water and air. Without it, humans are lost and confused. It is the only 'aqeedah that can answer questions that have preoccupied the minds of the human race for centuries: Where did I come from? Where did the universe come from? Who is the Creator? Why did He create us and the universe? What is our role in this universe? What is our relationship to the Creator? Are there other, invisible worlds beyond the world that we can see? Is there another life after this life? These unrelenting questions have existed since the beginning of time and can only be answered by Islam.⁵

The relationship between 'aqeedah and eemân

'Aqeedah (belief) forms the foundation and basis of eemân (faith or firm belief). Eemân is based upon 'aqeedah that is firmly established in the heart. Eemân is verbally declared and is confirmed by actions conforming to the dictates of 'aqeedah. Correct 'aqeedah is important so that one's eemân will be acceptable and strong. The more knowledge of 'aqeedah that a person possesses, the more his or her eemân will increase and grow.⁶

The meaning of eemân and Mu'min

Eemân, then, is sincere faith that develops from an individual's belief system. This faith impacts the person's thoughts, feelings,

⁴ Al-Ashqar, Belief in Allah, p. 34

⁵ Al-Ashqar, Belief in Allah, p. 35

⁶ Al-Ashqar, Belief in Allah, pp. 39-40

speech, and actions. The Islamic belief system is comprehensive, but is built upon six basic pillars: belief in Allah, the angels, the prophets, the books, the Day of Resurrection and the hereafter, and divine decree. To understand the true meanings of eemân and *mu'min* (believer), it is prudent to turn to a well-known hadith⁷ on this topic. In the hadith, Angel Gabriel⁸ asks Prophet Muhammad (\cong) to explain the meanings of Islam, eemân, and iḥsân. The Prophet (\cong) replied wisely.

On the authority of 'Umar (a) - (May Allah be pleased with him) who said: «One day, while we were sitting with the Messenger of Allah (see), there came before us a man with extremely white clothing and extremely black hair. There were no signs of travel on him and none of us knew him. He [came and] sat next to the Prophet (ﷺ). He supported his knees up against the knees of the Prophet (ﷺ) and put his hands on (the Prophet's) thighs. He said: O Muhammad, tell me about Islam. The Messenger of Allah (2022) answered: Islam is to testify that there is none worthy of worship except Allah and that Muhammad is the Messenger of Allah, to establish the prayers, to pay zakât, to fast [the month of] Ramadan, and to make the pilgrimage to the House if you have the means to do so. He said: You have spoken truthfully. We were amazed that he asks the question and then he says that he (Allah's Messenger) had spoken truthfully. He said: Tell me about eemân (faith). He [the Messenger of Allah (2013)] responded: It is to believe in Allah, His angels, His books, His messengers, and the Last Day, and to believe in the divine decree, the good and the evil thereof. He said: You have spoken truthfully. He said: Tell me about ihsân (goodness). He [the Prophet] answered: It is that you worship

⁷ hadith (hadeeth): a saying or action of Prophet Muhammad (bpuh) that was remembered and recorded by his Companions and followers

⁸ Angel Gabriel or *Jibreel* in Arabic: the archangel who transmitted the verses of the Qur'an and other communication from Allah to Prophet Muhammad (bpuh) (Editor)

Allah as if you see Him. And even though you do not see Him, [you know] He sees you.»⁹

The title Nurturing Eemân in Children has been chosen for a particular purpose. As specified in this hadith, there is a distinction between Islam and eemân, and between Muslim and mu'min. In general, a Muslim is a person who declares that s/he believes in the message of Islam [s/he believes that there is none worthy of worship other than Allah and that Muhammad (ﷺ) is the Messenger of Allah]. A mu'min, or a believer, on the other hand, is someone who truly and firmly believes in Islam and tries to implement it in his or her life. It can also be said that a Muslim is one who declares that s/he submits himself or herself to Allah, while a believer is one who fulfils the requirements of such submission in word and deed. A believer is one whose faith is complete and unwavering; one who entertains no doubts and is ready to strive hard, sacrificing his or her wealth and his or her life for Allah's cause.

A person may claim to be Muslim and practice the pillars of Islam, but have very little or no eemân in his or her heart. S/he may, in fact, be a hypocrite who is pretending to be a Muslim. In this day and age, there are over one billion people who claim to be Muslims. How many of us are really true Muslims who submit to Allah and implement the basic pillars? How many of us are *mu'mineen*: true believers in the religion whose sincerity and pure intention for the sake of Allah are reflected in all our behaviours? Unfortunately, the answer is probably, "very few". For this reason, it is imperative to teach parents what eemân means and how to nurture it in them and in their children.

Eemân is a more comprehensive term than Islam, and in fact, the pillars of Islam are considered parts of eemân. The nucleus of eemân is the heart, for this is the centre of faith. Eemân also includes

⁹ Bukhari and Muslim

sayings of the tongue and actions of the body and has many parts. The Prophet ($\underline{\mathfrak{W}}$) said: «Eemân has more than seventy parts; the highest is the confession that there is none worthy of worship other than Allah, and the lowest is removing a harmful object from the road.»¹⁰ *Şalât* (prayers), zakât, fasting, and hajj are all components of eemân, as are virtues such as modesty, honesty, and sincerity.

Islam (submission), then, is only one part of eemân. Ibn al-Qayyim wrote that eemân is composed of the following components: 1. having the knowledge of what the Prophet (ﷺ) taught,

having complete and firm belief in what the Prophet (ﷺ) brought,
 verbally professing one's belief in what he brought,

4. submitting to what he brought out of love and humility, and 5. acting in accord with what the Prophet ($\underline{\mathfrak{B}}$) brought, both inwardly and outwardly, implementing it and calling others to its path.¹¹

The three essential components of eemân, as stated by many scholars, are:

1. belief in the heart,

- 2. profession by the tongue (one's statements), and
- 3. performance of deeds by the body (one's actions).¹²

Belief in the heart

The heart is the core and foundation of eemân. The heart must be sound and correct for all else to be the same. The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «Indeed, in the body is a piece [of flesh], such that if it is good, all the rest of the body will be good, whereas if it be corrupted, all the rest of the body will be corrupted. Indeed, [that piece] is the heart.»¹³ One of

^{· 10} Bukhari and Muslim

¹¹ Ibn al-Qayyim,, al-Fawâ'id, p. 107 (translation as quoted in Zarabozo, He Came to Teach You Your Religion, p. 86)

¹² Zarabozo, He Came to Teach You Your Religion, p. 86

¹³ Bukhari, Muslim, and Ahmad

the aspects of this is what scholars call a 'statement of the heart'. This includes recognition, knowledge, and affirmation. The second facet is what is termed 'actions of the heart'. These include commitment, voluntary submission, and acceptance. Other important elements include love of Allah, awe of Allah, fear of Allah, trust in Allah, and hope in Allah. Without these necessary conditions of faith, a person cannot honestly claim to be a mu'min. Stating the profession of faith and belief in Allah and the Messenger (\ge), are not sufficient for complete faith.¹⁴

Belief in the heart is the most essential component of eemân, since it is the influential foundation for the other elements. To develop true eemân and to protect it, these components must be given their necessary attention. A true mu'min must recognize, desire, and love the truth and have hate for falsehood and disbelief. S/he must love Allah and put his or her trust, hope, and fear in Him alone.¹⁵

Profession by the tongue

The second component of eemân is profession of faith 'by the tongue', a statement testifying to the truthfulness of his or her belief. This is the testimony "I bear witness that there is none worthy of worship except Allah and that Muhammad is the messenger of Allah," which a person proclaims to become a Muslim and which is repeated each day in the five daily prayers. This statement is not only words, but a commitment to the religion of Islam with the intention of following its requirements and obligations.

If a person believes in his or her heart but does not state this belief verbally (although s/he has the ability to do so), then s/he may not be considered to be a believer. S/he would not be treated as such in this life or in the hereafter. The verbal profession of faith is an

¹⁴ Zarabozo, He Came to Teach You Your Religion, p. 87

¹⁵ Zarabozo, He Came to Teach You Your Religion, p. 89

essential aspect for this reason. A person who has the ability to make this statement but does not do so is considered a disbeliever.¹⁶ Those who fear for their lives or are forced to keep silent would not fall into this category.

For the statement to be sound, it must be accompanied by sincerity, correct belief in Allah, abandonment of any form of associating partners with Allah and implementation of the laws of Islam. In essence, belief in the heart must be present for the profession of faith to be complete and honest. The hypocrites are those who make the profession and pretend to be Muslim but the 'actions of the heart' are not present.¹⁷

Performance of deeds

As a natural extension, the level of eemân in the heart will be reflected in the behaviour of an individual. A heart filled with eemân (trust, hope and fear in Allah) will lead the body to perform acts of obedience and to avoid forbidden or even doubtful actions. It is inconceivable that there would be strong eemân in the heart that is not demonstrated in outward deeds. Therefore, deeds are another fundamental component of eemân. There is also a reciprocal relationship, wherein acts of obedience to Allah will increase the inner faith of a person, whereas acts of disobedience will decrease faith.¹⁸

The meaning of ihsân

In the hadith regarding Islam, eemân, and iḥsân, Angel Gabriel asked the Prophet (ﷺ): «Tell me about iḥsân (goodness, perfection, and excellence). He [the Prophet (ﷺ)] answered: It is that you

¹⁶ Zarabozo, He Came to Teach You Your Religion, pp. 90-91

¹⁷ Zarabozo, He Came to Teach You Your Religion, p. 91

¹⁸ Zarabozo, He Came to Teach You Your Religion, pp. 94-95

worship Allah as if you see Him. And even though you do not see Him, (you know) He sees you.»

Ihsân is the highest level that a human being can achieve. It means to do something in the best way and to attain perfection and excellence in something. In the context of Islamic law, this entails performing acts of worship well and in the manner enjoined by Allah. The ultimate goal of ihsân is to fulfil one's obligations to Allah and to do so in the best manner possible. The essence of ihsân is love of Allah, which motivates the human to try to attain Allah's pleasure.

In a general sense, iḥsân also means to deal with others in a good manner and to perform acts of goodness and kindness. In the context of the religion of Islam, iḥsân encompasses all acts of goodness toward others. A person with iḥsân tries to give benefit rather than harm to others. His or her wealth, position, knowledge and physical abilities are used to assist and benefit other humans.¹⁹

According to the famous hadith, the motivating factor behind ihsân is the fact that the person is aware that Allah is watching all of his or her actions. A person who is constantly aware of this fact will attempt to please Allah and avoid displeasing Him. This leads one to love Allah and to venerate and honour Him. For all actions, the intention will be directed for the sake of Allah, which leads to purity and sincerity of the heart. Since the intention will be solely for Allah's sake, the person will also attempt to do everything in the most excellent manner. The result will be that the person excels in his or her submission and obedience to Allah as well in his or her relationships with other human beings.²⁰

¹⁹ Zarabozo, *He Came to Teach You Your Religion*, p. 198

²⁰ Zarabozo, He Came to Teach You Your Religion, pp. 198-199

Relation to parenting

What all of this means for the purpose of our endeavour is that the goal of parents should not only be to develop their children as Muslims, but also to foster firm 'aqeedah and eemân in the heart. If a family spends a great deal of time teaching their children the practical aspects of the religion rather than focusing on 'aqeedah, it is likely that the behaviour will not be enduring. It would be similar to building a house with a very weak foundation; the house is likely to collapse. Children may know how to pray and fast and so on, but it may not be in their hearts to do so. They may complete these acts to please their family or to show off to Muslim friends, but it will not be lasting. What is needed is an understanding of the true meaning of being a Muslim, of being a mu'min, and even of attaining the level of iḥsân.

Parents must cultivate this eemân in the hearts of their children, beginning from birth. They must teach their children to sincerely submit to Allah with their hearts, with their tongues, and with their deeds. Children must learn to have fear of Allah, love of Allah, and trust in Allah. Their love of Allah should surpass love of any other person or thing in this world. Allah (35) says,

[البَقَرَة: ١٦٥]

﴿ ... وَٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُوٓا أَشَدُ حُبًّا بِتَةٍ ... ٢

(... But those who believe are stronger in love for Allah...) (Qur'an 2: 165)

«A man asked the Prophet (靈) about the Hour (that is, the Day of Judgment) saying: When will the Hour be? The Prophet asked: What have you prepared for it? The man replied: Nothing, except that I love Allah and His Messenger. The Prophet said: You will be with those who you love.»²¹ Children should love the truth of Islam and hate disbelief and hypocrisy. The Prophet (靈) said: «Whoever possesses the following three qualities will taste the sweetness of

²¹ Bukhari

eemân: One to whom Allah and His Messenger become dearer than anything else, whoever loves his brother (or sister) solely for Allah's sake, and whoever hates to revert to disbelief just as he would hate to be thrown into the fire.»²² They must have hope in Allah's help and rewards and fear of His anger and punishment. When parents have completed this task, they will have nurtured true believers and carriers of the message of the Prophets (peace be upon them all). Imagine a world with one billion believers (mu'mineen).

It should be obvious that the most essential building block in this formula is the belief system - the foundation of faith. Eemân is built upon knowledge of Allah and His Oneness, of His Names and attributes, of His majesty and power, of His mercy and forgiveness, of His will and decree, of His prophets and messengers, and so on. From an Islamic perspective, the importance of correct and resolute 'ageedah cannot be overemphasized, for beliefs direct practices. The Prophet (3) taught his companions 'aqeedah for thirteen years before introducing the practical aspects of Islam. This approach was followed to ensure firm eemân and commitment to the religion of Allah. If parents were to teach their children only correct 'ageedah and nothing of practice, they would have a far greater chance of entering paradise than those who pray and fast and give poor-due, but who also worship graves, for example. This is due to the realization that accurate belief in Allah and His religion is necessary for developing a relationship with Him and for cultivating within us the ability to distinguish right from wrong (conscience). This relationship and ability to discern will then lead us to choose the lawful in each and every circumstance. This choice will be made regardless of the pressure to act otherwise.

It is for this reason that a child who has developed eemân and piety will make the job of parenting an easier one. The choices that a child makes will come from within, with love and fear of Allah, rather

²² Bukhari and Muslim

than having to be imposed externally. Modern psychological principles focus on the application of consequences for behaviour: rewards for positive behaviour and punishment for negative behaviour. While these techniques may be useful at times, they should not be the foundation of parenting. If parents assist their children in developing internal strength, these techniques will rarely be needed, if at all. The focus for a child with eemân will be to seek the pleasure and rewards from Allah with the profound realization that these are greater than any material or social reward that can be gained in this life.

In the end, parents nurture eemân in their children so that they will be successful, not only in this life, but in the hereafter. This should be the central goal for their children. For success in Islam is not measured by wealth or position, it is measured by sincere obedience to Allah and the attainment of paradise in the next life. Allah ($\frac{2}{36}$) says,

﴿لَكِنِ ٱلَّذِينَ ٱتَّقَوْا رَبَّهُمْ لَهُمْ جَنَّتُ تَجَرِى مِن تَحْتِهَا ٱلْأَنْهَرُ خَلِدِينٍ فِيها نُزُلًا مِّنْ عِندِ ٱللَّهِ وَمَا عِندَ ٱللَّهِ خَيْرٌ لِلْأَبْرَارِ (٢ [آل عمرَان: ۱۹۸]

(But those who feared their Lord will have gardens beneath which rivers flow, abiding eternally therein, as accommodation from Allah. And that which is with Allah is best for the righteous.) (Qur'an 3: 198) Allah (3) also indicates,

﴿قَالَ ٱللَّهُ هَٰذَا يَوْمُ يَنفَعُ ٱلصَّدِقِينَ صِدْقُهُمْ لَهُمْ جَنَّتُ تَجَرِى مِن تَحْتِهَا ٱلْأَنْهَ رُ خَلِدِينَ فِبهَآ أَبَدَأُ رَضِيَ ٱللَّهُ عَنْهُمْ وَرَضُوا عَنْهُ ذَلِكَ ٱلْفَوْرُ ٱلْعَظِيمُ (٢) *

Allah will say: This is the Day when the truthful will benefit from
their truthfulness. For them are gardens [in Paradise] beneath which rivers flow, wherein they will abide forever, Allah being pleased with them, and they with Him. That is the great attainment.
(Qur'an 5: 119) Truly that is the great attainment.

Chapter 2 The Responsibility of Parenting

Solution \mathbb{C}^{1} Muslims, it is important to understand the significance and responsibility of the parenting role, the importance of preparing children for the hereafter, and the obligation of protecting them from the hellfire. Allah (\mathfrak{K}) says,

﴿يَتَأَيُّهَا ٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُوا فُوَا أَنفُسَكُمُ وَأَهْلِيكُمُ نَارًا وَقُوْدُهَا ٱلنَّاسُ وَٱلْحِجَارَةُ عَلَيْهَا مَلَتِيكَةٌ غِلَاظٌ شِدَادٌ ... (1) [التّحريم: ٦]

What are the meanings and implications of this verse? It is generally a clear reminder for believers to protect themselves, their children, and their families from hellfire; the fire which is already burning and whose fuel is people and stones. This is a dire warning and one that should be taken very seriously. This should be a main focus in parenting from an Islamic perspective.

Allah (3) continues in the next verses,

﴿ يَتَأَيُّهُمَا ٱلَّذِينَ كَفَرُوا لَا نَعْدَدِرُوا ٱلْيَوْمُ إِنَّمَا تُخْزَوْنَ مَا كُنُمُ تَعْمَلُونَ (٢) يَتَآَيُّهُا ٱلَّذِينَ مَامَنُوا تُوبُوا إِلَى ٱللَهِ تَوْبَعَةً نَصُوحًا عَسَىٰ رَبُّكُمْ أَن يُكَفِّرَ عَنكُمْ سَيِّتَاتِكُمْ وَيُدْخِلَكُمْ جَنَّتِ تَجَرِى مِن تَحَتِّهَا ٱلْأَنْهَارُ يَوْمَ لَا يُخْزِى ٱللَّهُ ٱلنَّبِيَّ وَٱلَذِينَ ءَامَنُوا مَعَةً. ...

O you who have disbelieved, make no excuses that Day. You will only be recompensed for what you used to do. O you who have

believed, repent to Allah with sincere repentance. Perhaps your Lord will remove from you your misdeeds and admit you into gardens beneath which rivers flow [on] the Day when Allah will not disgrace the Prophet and those who believed with him.... (Qur'an 66: 7-8)

The disbelievers will have no excuse on that day for their disbelief. The believers are asked to repent to Allah with sincerity so that they may be admitted into the gardens that He has also prepared. A person's eternal abode will be determined by his or her beliefs and actions in this life. The perpetual outcome of parents and that of their children is dependent upon these factors. Which outcome is preferable, and which one is being prepared for?

Responsibility and accountability

The Prophet ($\underset{k=1}{\overset{k=1}{\underset{k=1}{\atopk=1}{\underset{k=1}{\underset{k=1}{\underset{k=1}{\atopk=1}{\underset{k=1}{\atopk=1}{\underset{k=1}{\atopk=1}{$

This hadith of the Prophet (ﷺ) emphasizes the fact that parenting is a crucial responsibility that must be approached earnestly and sincerely. Parents nurture, rear, and protect their children in this life, and focus on preparing them for the life to come. Responsibility entails accountability, as elaborated in the Qur'anic verse above. Allah will hold each and every parent accountable for how they carried out this responsibility and this will be present on their balance of deeds in the hereafter. For this reason, parenting could be a person's door to paradise or it could be his or her gate to the hellfire.

Parenting is not only a responsibility, but it is probably the most critical duty in the world. Parents are raising the next generation that

¹ Bukhari and Muslim

will either succeed or fail in re-establishing Islam on this earth. The task has tremendous bearing on the future of the Muslim nation, and its outcome will depend upon the ability of parents to succeed. Parents have the capability to influence a child more than any other person. This influence, in turn, affects the community in which they live. Families are the building blocks of society, and the society is only as strong as its foundation. For these reasons, it is imperative that parents appreciate the significance of this role and accept the responsibility that comes with it.

Children as a test from Allah

One of the most fundamental concepts for a parent to understand is that children are a test and that through this test they will be held accountable on the Day of Judgment. Once this is realized, there should be a profound change in how they relate to and deal with their children. Allah ($\frac{1}{36}$) says,

﴿وَاعْلَمُوَا أَنَّمَا أَمُوَلُحُهُمْ وَأَوْلَدُكُمْ فِتْـنَةٌ وَأَنَّ ٱللَّهَ عِندَهُۥ أَجْرُ عَظِيمٌ ٢

[الأنفَال: ٢٨]

And know that your properties and your children are but a trial and that Allah has with Him a great reward. (Qur'an 8: 28) He also indicates,

(التغابُن: ١٥] (التغابُن: ١٥] (التغابُن: ١٥] (التغابُن: ١٥] (التغابُن: ١٥] (التغابُن: ١٥] (التغابُن: ١٥) (Your wealth and your children are but a trial, and Allah has with Him a great reward.) (Qur'an 64: 15) The Arabic word that is used in these verses is fitnah,² which is translated as 'trial' or 'test'. The world is full of trials since part of

 $^{^{2}}$ Fitnah also has other meanings that are more negative such as persecution, shirk (associating partners with Allah) and disbelief, falling into sin, confusing truth=

Allah's plan is to test His slaves with various tribulations and blessings. Children and families are part of this test. Allah does this so that the believer will be distinguished from the disbeliever and the truthful and sincere from the liars and hypocrites.

Allah () mentions,

﴿ أَحَسِبَ ٱلنَّاسُ أَن يُتْرَكُوا أَن يَقُولُوا ءَامَتَ وَهُمْ لَا يُفْتَنُونَ ﴾ وَلَقَدْ فَتَنَّا ٱلَّذِينَ مِن قَبْلِهِمْ فَلَيَعْلَمَنَ ٱللَّهُ ٱلَّذِينَ صَدَقُوا وَلَيَعْلَمَنَ ٱلْكَذِبِينَ ﴾ [العَنكبوت: ٢-٣] Do the people think that they will be left to say: We believe, and they will not be tried? But We have certainly tried those before them, and Allah will surely make evident those who are truthful, and He will surely make evident the liars.) (Qur'an 29: 2-3)

Allah tests humans with both calamities and blessings to determine who will be patient and thankful and who will be impatient and ungrateful. He also wants to determine who will be His obedient servants and who will be disobedient and defiant. He will then reward or punish accordingly on the Day of Judgment.

The calamities with which Allah tests His slaves are many. He tests them with fear, hunger, and loss of wealth, lives and homes. He tests them with the inability to have children, among other things. Allah (3) declares,

﴿وَلَنَبَلُوَنَكُمُ بِتَىٰءٍ مِنَ ٱلْحَوْفِ وَٱلْجُوعِ وَنَقْصٍ مِنَ ٱلْأَمْوَلِ وَٱلْأَنفُسِ وَٱلشَّرَتِ وَبَنِّرِ ٱلصَّدِينَ ٢ ٢ الذِينَ إِذَا أَصَبَتْهُم مُصِيبَةٌ قَالُوا إِنَّا لِلَهِ وَإِنَّا إِلَيْهِ رَجِعُونَ ٢ أَوْلَتِكَ عَلَيْهِمْ صَلَوَتُ مِن رَّتِهِمْ وَرَحْمَةٌ وَأُوْلَتِكَ هُمُ ٱلْمُهْتَدُونَ ٢ ٢ (البَقَرَة: ٥٥٥-١٥٧) And We will surely test you with something of fear and hunger and a loss of wealth and lives and fruits, but give good tidings to the

⁼with falsehood, and so on. For our purposes, we will only be using it in the sense of 'trial' or 'test'.
patient, who, when disaster strikes them, say: Indeed we belong to Allah, and indeed to Him we will return. Those are the ones upon whom are blessings from their Lord and mercy. And it is those who are [rightly] guided. (Qur'an 2: 155-157)

Out of Allah's mercy to His servants, He sends tribulations and tests so that they may return and repent to Him, giving up that which Allah has forbidden, and so that Allah might forgive them. It is part of Allah's mercy that tests occur in this life so that our souls might be purified and come back to Allah before we die. Allah ($\frac{1}{36}$) says,

﴿ وَلَنُذِيقَنَّهُم مِن ٱلْعَذَابِ ٱلْأَدْنَى دُونَ ٱلْعَذَابِ ٱلْأَكْبَرِ لَعَلَّهُمْ يَرْجِعُون (أ) *

(And we will surely let them taste the nearer punishment short of the greater punishment, that perhaps they will return [repent].)

(Qur'an 32: 21)

Allah may also test His slaves in order to raise them in status and to allow them to explate for their sins, as the Prophet (ﷺ) said: «No misfortune or disease befalls a Muslim, no worry or grief or harm or distress — not even a thorn that pricks him — but Allah will wipe out some of his sins because of that.»³ The Prophet (ﷺ) also said: «A Muslim male or female is tried in person and children and property until he or she faces Allah (on the Day of Judgment) in such a state that all of his or her sins have been forgiven.»⁴

What most people often forget is that blessings may also be a test or tribulation from Allah. Wealth and children, for example, are a trial and a trust by which Allah tests His servants to know who will give thanks for them and who will be distracted from Allah by them. The ease with which people become absorbed in their wealth, possessions and children demonstrates the nature of this test. These

³ Bukhari

⁴ A reliable hadith narrated by At-Tirmidhi

are facets of life that may distract people from the worship and remembrance of Allah.

The test is not only to show who will be grateful and who will be ungrateful, but also to determine how parents will raise their children. Will they treat them with kindness, love and respect? Will they raise them in Islam with all of the knowledge and blessings that it contains? Will they prepare them for the hereafter and for paradise? Or will they raise them with another system of beliefs and practices (such as other religions or secularism) that are contrary to Islam? Will they send them to the hellfire, along with themselves? This is the true nature of the test, as it is with all tests that Allah gives to us.

Unfortunately, in this day and age, too many people fail in this test that Allah has given them, or they attempt to avoid the test as much as possible. They may put their children in day-care for 40 or more hours a week or hire a live-in maid to take care of the physical and emotional needs of their children. Other aspects may be given precedence over the children, such as career, money, hobbies, or friendships. They may spend time and effort on other projects, but the children are often not given their due consideration. In today's world, many children have not received the time and attention that is due to them from their parents and society suffers as a result of this.

What parents fail to realize is that by neglecting their children and failing in this test from Allah, they may have missed a golden opportunity for eternal and spiritual rewards. The opportunity is right before their eyes, but they simply fail to take advantage of it. The job does require a lot of effort and hard work, but it is also one of the most rewarding tests that Allah could give His servants. Parenting is, above all else, a test of patience, selflessness, and sacrifice. Allah (ﷺ) says,

﴿أَمْ حَسِبْتُمْ أَن تَدْخُلُوا ٱلْجَنَّةَ وَلَمَّا يَعْلَمِ ٱللَّهِ ٱلَّذِينَ جَـهِكُوا مِنكُمْ وَيَعْلَمَ ٱلصَّنبرينَ 🕅 🕻 [آل عمرَان: ١٤٢]

Or do you think that you will enter Paradise while Allah has not yet made evident those of you who fight in His cause and made evident those who are steadfast? (Qur'an 3: 142)

As a person excels in the test, these qualities become solidified and engrained. These are the qualities of eemân that parents strive to nurture not only in their children, but also in themselves. It is amazing that in the process of nurturing believing children, parents also 'nurture' themselves. The increase in eemân that is experienced through parenting will bring one closer to Allah and closer to an understanding of His infinite wisdom and mercy. What better opportunity to experience a taste of paradise in this life?

Rewards and joys of parenting

As with any responsibility, there are rewards and joys in being a parent. These rewards far outweigh the challenges, responsibilities, and efforts of parenting. In fact, parenting holds some of Allah's greatest rewards on this earth: unconditional love, bonding and human closeness, shared moments, a smiling face with loving eyes, and hugs full of love and care. Look into the eyes of your child, feel his or her skin, and listen to his or her voice, and you will understand the true beauty of this gift. It is as if Allah is giving us a little sample of heaven right here in this earthly life.

Above all, a devout parent will experience the gratification of watching his or her child grow into an obedient servant of Allah; a believer who will love and obey Allah and contribute to the society around him or her. This servant of Allah may also provide enduring good deeds to a parent's record through supplication. The Prophet (20) said: «When a person dies, no good deeds will be added on his record except for three: continuous charity, beneficial knowledge, and a pious child who supplicates for him.»⁵ A pious child who

⁵ Muslim

supplicates is one of only three ways through which a person may acquire continuing good deeds for presentation on the Day of Judgment. All of the effort definitely pays off in the end.

Goals of parenting

How do parents save themselves and their children from the hellfire? How do they fulfil their responsibility before Allah? How do they achieve the bliss and happiness guaranteed for the obedient servants of Allah? What are the goals that they should have for their children? These points will be elaborated throughout this book. It necessarily begins by setting goals for ourselves and our children.

The story of Luqmân

In Soorat Luqmân (Chapter 31 of the Qur'an), we find the wisdom that Prophet Luqmân () provided to his son:

(وَلَقَدْ ءَالَيْنَا لُقْمَنَ ٱلْحِكْمَة آَنِ ٱشْكُرْ لِلَهِ وَمَن يَشْكُرْ فَإِنَّمَا يَشْكُرُ لِنَفْسِهِ وَمَن يَشْكُرُ فَإِنَّهُ عَنَى كَفَرَ فَإِنَّ اللّهَ عَنَى حَمِيكُ أَنْ وَإِذْ قَالَ لُقْمَنُ لِآتِنِهِ وَهُوَ يَعِظُهُ يَبُنَى لَا تُشْرِكُ بِاللّهِ لَكُفَرَ فَإِنَّ اللّهَ عَنى حَمِيكُ إِنَّ وَاذِ قَالَ لُقْمَنُ لِآتِنِهِ وَهُوَ يَعِظُهُ يَبُنَى لَا تُشْرِكُ إِاللّهِ اللّهُ اللّهُ عَنى حَمِيكُ أَن وَوَصَيْنَا آلِإِنسَنَ بِوَلِدَيْهِ حَمَلَتَهُ أَمْهُ وَهُنَا عَلَى وَهُنِ وَفَصَنْهُ فَي الشَّرْكَ لَظُلْمٌ عَظِيمٌ إِن وَوَصَيْنَا آلِإِنسَنَ بِوَلِدَيْهِ حَمَلَتَهُ أَمْهُ وَهُنَا عَلَى وَهُنِ وَفَصَنْهُ, فِي اللّهُ فِي عَلَمُهُ فَا عَلَى وَهُنَا عَلَى وَهُنِ وَفَصَنْهُ, فِي عَامَيْنِ أَنِ ٱسْكُرْ لِي وَلُولَدِيْكَ إِلَى أَمْصِيرُ إِنَ وَلِي حَمَلَةُ أَمْهُ وَهُنَا عَلَى وَهُنِ تُشْتُرُ لَن الشَكْرُ لِي مَعْرُوفًا أَنْ اللّهُ عَلَى وَهُنَ عَلَى وَهُنَ مَنْ أَنَابَ إِلَى قُمْ لَكُ بِهِ عِلْمُ هُمَا أَسْكُمُ نَعْمَاعُ مَا لَدُيْ مَعْرُوفًا أَوَاتَيْع سَبِيلَ مَنْ أَنَابَ إِلَى تُشْعَدُ إِلَى مَعْرُوفًا أَنْ يَنْعَمُ وَ الْتَمْ نَعْمَا أَنْ اللَهُ مَنْ أَنَابَ إِلَى ثُلُكُ مُعْدُونَ إِلَى مَعْرُوفًا أَنْ اللَهُ عَلَى مَعْرُوفَ إِلَى اللَهُ عَلَى اللَهُ أَنْ قَالَ لَقْمَنُ لِلاَنَهُ مَعْنَى اللَهُ لَعَنْهُ عَلَى مَعْرُوفَ وَالْتَعْهُمُ وَاللَهُ لَكُلُونَ وَلَى اللَهُ لَعْنَى مَا إِلَى مَعْرُوفٍ وَاللَّهُ لَعَيْ عَلَى اللَهُ لَلْ عَنْ أَنَابَ إِلَى عَنْ أَنَهُ لَعْنَى إِنَى اللَهُ لَعْنَا عَنْ عَنَى اللَهُ لَعْ عَمْ اللَهُ لَعْهُ فَي أَنْ أَنَهُ لَعْنَ عَنْ الْمَا عَنْ عَنْ الْمَا عَلَ عَلَي مَنْ الْنَ أَنْهُ لَكُنَى وَلَنَا عَنْ عَمَا عَنْ عَمَا لَهُ عَنْ عَلَى وَقُونَ اللَهُ عَلَى فَنْ عَنْ عَلَى مَا اللَهُ عَلَى فَنْ اللَهُ عَلَى وَاللَهُ مَنْ الْنَا لَعْهُ فَلَنْ اللَهُ عَلَى مَنْ عَلَى مَنْ الْنَالَ لَقُونَ اللَهُ عَلَى مَنْ الْنَالَ اللَهُ عَلَى وَقُنَ مَنْ مَنْ عَلَى وَقُ مَنْ أَنَابَ إِلَى اللَهُ لَعْنَا إِنَا اللَهُ عَلَى مَنْ عَنْ إِنَا مَعْهُ وَاللَهُ مَعْهُ مَا مَا لَكُمُ واللَ اللَهُ عَلَى مَعْنَ مَا أَسْ مَا أَسْ مِنَا عَا الللَهُ مَنْ عَائَ مَنْ مَا مَعْهُ مَنْ عَالَهُ مَنْ الْعَامَ مَنْ مَا مَ (And We had certainly given Lugmân wisdom [and said:] Be grateful to Allah. And whoever is grateful is grateful for [the benefit of] himself. And whoever denies [His favour] -- then indeed, Allah is Free of need and Praiseworthy. And [mention, O Muhammad], when Luqmân said to his son while he was instructing him: O my son, do not associate [anything] with Allah. Indeed, association [with Him] is great injustice. And We have enjoined upon the human being [care] for his parents. His mother carried him, [increasing her] in weakness upon weakness, and his weaning is in two years. Be grateful to Me and to your parents; to Me is the [final] destination. But if they endeavour to make you associate with Me that of which you have no knowledge, do not obey them but accompany them in [this] world with appropriate kindness and follow the way of those who turn back to Me [in repentance]. Then to Me will be your return, and I will inform you about what you used to do. [And Luqmân said]: O my son, indeed if it [a wrong] should be the weight of a mustard seed and should be within a rock or [anywhere] in the heavens or in the earth, Allah will bring it forth. Indeed, Allah is Subtle and Acquainted. O my son, establish prayer, enjoin what is right, forbid what is wrong, and be patient over what befalls you. Indeed, [all] that is of the matters [requiring] determination. And do not turn your cheek [in contempt] toward people and do not walk through the earth exultantly. Indeed, Allah does not like everyone self-deluded and boastful. And be moderate in your pace and lower your voice; indeed, the most disagreeable of sounds is the braying of donkeys. (Qur'an 31: 12-19)

Luqmân was a wise man whose insight was bestowed upon him by Allah. He taught this wisdom to his son for his benefit in this world and the world to come. Understandably, priority was given to teaching tawheed and warning against polytheism, since this is the foundation of the Islamic creed. Following one's duty to Allah, he enjoined kindness and obedience to parents. This ingredient is critical in terms of parenting, for it eases the task when children assimilate this principle into their personalities. After informing him of the rights due to Allah and parents through the expression of gratefulness, Luqmân reminds his son of the awareness of Allah (\Im) in all matters, public and private:

﴿يَنُبُنَى إِنَّهَا إِن نَكُ مِثْقَالَ حَبَّةٍ مِّنْ خَرْدَلِ فَتَكُن فِي صَخْرَةٍ أَوْ فِي ٱلسَّمَوَتِ أَوْ فِ ٱلأَرْضِ يَأْتِ بِهَا ٱللَّهُ إِنَّ ٱللَّهَ لَطِيفُ خَبِيرُ (٥

O my son, indeed if it [a wrong] should be the weight of a mustard seed and should be within a rock or [anywhere] in the heavens or in the earth, Allah will bring it forth. Indeed, Allah is Subtle and Acquainted.

Allah is aware of all that we do and for this reason we should have fear of Allah. We should also be cautious about taking sins lightly. The obligation of performing prayer and observing it perfectly is then mentioned. He encouraged his son to enjoin right conduct and forbid wrongdoing, to be patient over what comes to pass, and to avoid arrogance and boasting.

These few verses contain an abundance of wisdom for parents. From this, parents can delineate the important goals for their children:

Belief (eemân) in Allah with pure tawheed and avoidance of associating partners with Allah

* Kindness, respect and obedience toward parents

* Fear of Allah and awareness of His all-encompassing presence

- * Establishment of prayer, on time and in the correct manner
- * Enjoining what is right and forbidding what is wrong
- Bearing life with patience
- Humility and meekness
- * Moderation and avoidance of extremes
- In addition to these, the following may be added:
- * Strength in belief and faith

* Attachment to the Qur'an and authentic hadiths

- * Love of and sincerity to Allah, His Messenger, and His Book
- ♦ Adherence to the Sunnah of the Prophet (變)
- * Understanding of all things from the perspective of Islam
- * Islamic personality, values, and identity
- Equity and justice in dealing with others
- * Kindness, mercy and good character towards all people
- Concern for the affairs of all Muslims (aid them, fulfil their rights)
- Inviting others to Allah and Islam
- Pride in being Muslim

Associated personality characteristics that would be desirable include the following:

- ✤ Self-confident and with positive self-esteem
- Motivated
- Responsible
- Persistent, hard-working
- * Capable and skilful
- * Content and satisfied
- * Honest and trustworthy
- Courageous
- Leader

The foundation of these goals is the development of 'aqeedah, eemân and fear of Allah. In essence, the individual develops an Islamic personality and an Islamic identity. This becomes the centre of the heart and soul. All effort will be put forward to live a life of Islam, eemân, and iḥsân. True success will then be achieved in this life and the hereafter. In the end, the supreme goal for both parents and children is paradise.

Chapter 3 The Basics of Parenting

Before addressing the core elements of nurturing eemân in children, it will be valuable to discuss some of the basics of parenting to lay the foundation. The following section will cover the importance of the marital relationship and its relation to parenting, gender roles, and the role of motherhood and fatherhood. It also discusses the need for parents to nurture their own eemân, and to be aware of the basic rights of the child (duties of parents), the basic rights of parents (duties of the child), and the importance of breastfeeding, bonding, and early attachment. It concludes with precious advice on praying for a righteous child.

The importance of the marital relationship

﴿وَمِنْ ءَايَنِيهِ أَنْ خَلَقَ لَكُم مِنْ أَنفُسِكُمُ أَزْوَجًا لِتَسَكُنُوَا إِلَيْهَا وَجَعَلَ بَيْنَكُمُ مَوَذَةَ وَرَحْمَةً إِنَّ فِي ذَلِكَ لَأَيَنتِ لِقَوْمِ يَنفَكُرُونَ ٢٣

(And of His signs is that He created from yourselves mates for you, that you may find tranquillity in them; and He placed affection and mercy between you. Indeed in that are signs for a people who give thought.) (Qur'an 30: 21)

The family is probably the most important institution within society as it is the building block of the overall structure. For this reason, many rules are present in Islamic law to guarantee preservation of this essential unit. Within the family, the marital relationship is the centre around which all other elements revolve. If this centre is operating smoothly and harmoniously, then it is likely that the rest of the system will also be in balance. When there is disruption or discord, the whole system will malfunction. A strong marriage leads to a properly functioning family and, in turn, a solid foundation for society.

Marriage is so important in Islam that the Prophet (\ge) said: «O young people! Whoever among you is able to marry, should marry...»¹ He also said: «Whoever marries has completed half of his faith. So let him have fear of Allah in the remaining half.»² Marriage is thus a form of worship and an opportunity to enhance one's subservience to Allah. Within this life, Allah has created men and women from a single soul and sanctified the bond of marriage so that they may live together to achieve the tranquillity of their hearts, support each other, and help each other in their worship of Allah. When we submit to Allah in and through our marriage, we will find the tranquillity and peace that is mentioned in the above verse.

As an act of worship, both husband and wife should make the intention to please Allah during this process and act in accordance with His laws. The couple should focus on growing together in obedience and love of Allah, and should seek Islamic knowledge for the goal of developing eemân and fear of Allah in their hearts. Their lives and life decisions should be based upon the teachings of the Noble Qur'an and the Sunnah of the Prophet (\leq), and their children should be nurtured in such a rich environment.

Considerations in marriage

Prior to marriage, one must carefully select a mate, giving priority to the eemân or faith of the person and not his or her social status, wealth, nationality, beauty, and so on. The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «A woman is married for four things: her wealth, her family status, her beauty and her religion. So you should marry the one who is

¹ Bukhari

² A reliable hadith narrated by At-Ţabarâni

superior in religion, otherwise you will be a loser.»³ None of these other elements will be useful in building a strong Islamic family, but knowledge and faith will be invaluable. One should also enter the marriage with a commitment to the relationship and to following the guidance of Allah in all matters and decisions.

Throughout the marriage, kind and considerate treatment of the other spouse and fulfilment of duties are the minimum requirements.

﴿ ... وَعَاشِرُوهُنَّ بِٱلْمَعْرُوفِ فَإِن كَرِهْ تُمُوهُنَّ فَعَسَىٰٓ أَن تَكْرَهُوا شَيْتًا وَيَجْعَلَ ٱللَّهُ فِيهِ

(... And live with them in kindness. For if you dislike them — perhaps you dislike a thing and Allah makes therein much good.)
(Qur'an 4: 19)

The Prophet (2) said: «The most perfect Muslim in the matter of faith is one who has excellent behaviour; and the best among you are those who behave best towards their wives.»⁴ Marriage is a relationship in which there should be mutual love, affection and compassion between the spouses, and in which the husband is protective, caring and generous toward his wife, and the wife is obedient and respectful toward her husband.

The relationship should be one of mutuality, interdependence, cooperation and compromise for the sake of Allah, while celebrating the differences that Allah has created. In essence, both halves of the pair need to be focused on caring for and meeting the needs of his or her partner. The happiness of the other partner should always be placed above one's own will or desires. Through these efforts, the couple will find repose and harmony in each other's company.

³ Bukhari and Muslim

⁴ A reliable hadith narrated by At-Tirmidhi

Marriage is a blessing, but it can also be a test from Allah, the Exalted, the Almighty. Marriage requires empathy, commitment, understanding, forgiveness, and humility. At times, there will need to be sacrifices made and a degree of flexibility and compromise. Spouses should be patient with each other and accept one another's faults and weaknesses. If one spouse does something contrary to Islam, it is the duty of the other to provide sound advice and guide him or her back to the truth. When problems arise, the couple should discuss possible solutions in an appropriate manner. Each must place his or her trust in Allah, seek to achieve the best in His way, and rely upon Allah's guidance and judgment in all affairs.

Marriage and parenting

In relation to parenting, the couple must work on strengthening their marriage for sake of their children. If marriage is the centre of the family, it only makes sense that effort is exerted to fortify and enrich this relationship. The couple should understand their marital responsibilities and rights from an Islamic perspective and seek to fulfil these to the best of their ability. They should acquire knowledge of parenting from an Islamic perspective as well as information related to practical matters (for example, discipline, development, and health). It would be particularly advisable to have discussions related to various discipline techniques and agreement on procedures that will be implemented. This will result in more effective, predictable and conflict-free parenting.

It is important to understand that the husband and wife present models of married life to their children, as well as models of parenting. This modelling has a major influence upon the beliefs, attitudes, and behaviours of a developing child. Children, in fact, learn more by observing others than by what they are told. For this reason, parents should be particularly careful about how they interact when in the presence of their children. Research shows, for example, that conflict between husband and wife has many negative effects upon children. Marital conflict should be avoided in front of the children, and models should instead be provided of dialogue, compromise, and patience. Consultation, fairness, reasonableness, and equanimity are essential ingredients for a harmonious family unit.

Gender roles

From an Islamic perspective, men and women have the same spiritual nature and are both given the responsibility as trustees of Islam on earth. As such, they have the same religious duties and responsibilities. They will both be held accountable on the Day of Judgment for their beliefs and actions in this world. There is no superiority of one gender over the other. Superiority as a construct is actually measured in terms of righteousness and piety. Allah (ﷺ) says in the Qur'an,

(O people, indeed We have created you from male and female and made you peoples and tribes that you may know one another. Indeed, the most noble of you in the sight of Allah is the most righteous of you...) (Qur'an 49: 13)

This verse makes it clear that variables such as gender, ethnic background, and languages do not provide any basis for superiority or inferiority.

Within this general framework, Allah has assigned specific roles for males and females in daily functioning. Both roles are honourable and operate in a complementary manner. Each gender has been given specific qualities and traits to fulfil their respective roles. Allah indicates, (Men are in charge of women by [right of] what Allah has given one over the other and what they spend [for maintenance] from their wealth. So righteous women are devoutly obedient, guarding in [the husband's] absence what Allah would have them guard...)

(Qur'an 4: 34)

Men are the maintainers and providers of the home and leaders of the family. Women are responsible for raising the children and instilling in them morals and righteous behaviour, and for taking care of the home. They must also be obedient to their husbands as long as they are not requested to act against the injunctions of Allah. This role differentiation is necessary for effective functioning of the family unit, since Allah has created systems with balance and order. The family is a system and it functions most efficiently when the laws of nature and the laws of Allah are implemented. When the balance is disrupted, humans suffer the consequences.

While this concept of traditional gender roles is also found in other world religious and cultural groups, the trend (or even norm) in many areas of the world is toward the elimination of such a distinct differentiation. In the West, in particular, there has been an attempt to replace these traditional roles with the concept of 'equality' or sameness. Women have been encouraged to participate 'equally' with men in all aspects of life, and the role of motherhood is viewed as less valuable than a career outside the home. This phenomenon is occurring even in Muslim countries. Muslims should be aware of this and cautious of the attempts being made to disrupt the traditional gender roles ordained by Allah.

The honourable role of motherhood

Motherhood is highly respected in Islam and is a means through which a woman may gain immense spiritual rewards. In a well-known hadith of the Prophet (2) it is reported: «Once a man went to the Prophet (2) and asked: O Messenger of Allah, who, of all people, is most entitled to my kindness and good company? The Prophet answered: Your mother. Then the man asked: Who comes next? and the Prophet replied: Your mother. The man again asked: Who comes next? and again the Prophet answered: Your mother. The man asked one more time: Who comes next? and the Prophet replied: Your father.»⁵ This hadith highlights the special significance given to the role of motherhood. Being a mother is the most valuable job in this worldly life, for she will raise the next generation and build a solid foundation for society. Her time will be spent in nurturing, instructing, and guiding — her primary duties as a mother. For this reason, she is given the honour and respect that she deserves.

Allah has created this role specifically for women as part of His mercy. Allah's Messenger (ﷺ) said: «Allah created, on the same day when He created the heavens and the earth, one hundred parts of mercy. Every part of mercy is analogous to the space between the heavens and the earth, and He, out of this mercy, endowed one part to the earth, and it is because of this that the mother shows affection to her child.»⁶ For this purpose, Allah has conferred upon women the unique qualities and characteristics necessary for effectual fulfilment of this role. Women tend to be more nurturing, compassionate, sensitive, and patient: all qualities needed to create a warm, loving, and peaceful atmosphere within the home.

⁵ Bukhari and Muslim

⁶ Muslim

Motherhood is a full-time career, entailing pregnancy, giving birth, breastfeeding, and many years of childrearing. These are sufficient responsibilities for one individual without adding the additional burden of having to provide for the family. It is part of Allah's mercy that women are not required to work outside of the home to bring sustenance for their children. The burden, in most cases, would be more than she could bear. The ideal situation allows her to fulfil her primary responsibility to the best of her potential.

Women and work

Having said that, being a mother does not necessarily preclude work outside of the home. For a woman with small children and no pressing need to work, it would be ideal for her to remain within the home in order to perform her role as mother to the best of her abilities. Women should understand that the greatest rewards come to her through her motherhood role. Building families must come first, as this is the main obligation for women. This notion should always be foremost in her mind.

There are some situations, however, where it may be necessary for a mother to work, such as to assist with the financial needs of the family or to satisfy the needs of society (for example, doctors, midwives, and teachers). The latter is considered to be a communal obligation that must be satisfied by some members of the community in order for the obligation to be removed. In these cases, the benefits must carefully be weighed against any harm that may arise. It is important to remember that personal responsibilities take precedence over communal responsibilities.

From the perspective of Islam, women are not completely prohibited from working, but the matter is one that should be given serious consideration and discussion before any decision is made. There are several key guidelines that should be followed when making this decision: 1. a woman must first obtain consent from her husband, primarily due to the fact that he may have a broader perspective on how her work may influence the family and its functioning;

2. a woman must ensure that her home and children are properly taken care of and that there is no neglect in this aspect; her absence should not in any way cause harm to her family;

3. care must be taken to choose employment that is appropriate and fits with the special nature of the woman in accordance with the norms of Islamic law;

4. care must to taken to avoid jobs which may lead to transgression of the limits of Islam (such as excessive mixing of genders);

5. she must adhere to the principles of Islam with regard to her clothing and demeanour.

The role of fatherhood

As mentioned, the husband is responsible for providing for the sustenance and needs of his wife and children. This includes provision for food, clothing, shelter, and other basic needs according to his financial income and social norms. In general, he is responsible for their physical welfare and wellbeing, which also entails a measure of safety and security. The importance of this cannot be neglected, as the Prophet (\cong) said: «It is sufficient sin for a man if he neglects those on whom he is obliged to spend.»⁷

Due to this responsibility, the father is the authority in the family and the leader of the family unit. No organization can function effectively without a manager, and in the family, the father takes care . of this important role. In essence, this means that he is deserving of obedience from all family members and he has the final word in all

⁷ Abu Dâwood

decisions. This does not preclude discussion and compromise on important matters, but the father is worthy of due respect and obedience.

In cooperation with the mother, the father also attends to the spiritual, psychological, and intellectual socialization of their children. He must ensure that they are receiving a proper Islamic education, and he must assist them in acquiring praiseworthy characteristics and proper manners. This, of necessity, means that he must be involved in the training and rearing of his children. Many fathers neglect this duty in their overzealous attempt to fulfil the obligation for physical maintenance. In order for the family to function effectively, there must be a balance between these various rights and responsibilities.

Children need interaction and time with their father just as they do with their mother. This is particularly true for boys, who require a suitable male role model. Active fatherhood is central to a man's role in life and to the development of his children. The children need to know that their father loves and cares for them, and that he has their best interests in mind. The Muslim father is an inspiring role model, teacher, friend, and a source of practical advice.

There is a great deal of research on the influence that involved fathering has on children. A review on the impact on fatherhood by the US National Institute of Child Health and Human Development shows that a child with an involved father has better social skills by the time s/he reaches nursery, performs better academically, and is less likely to have behavioural problems in the future. Once again, scientific research attests to the wisdom of Islamic teachings.

Nurturing one's own eemân

It is valuable to mention that for parents to be maximally successful in their mission, they must focus some time on increasing their own eemân. The lessons that are acquired over the course of reading this book are not only applicable to children, but to those holding the book as well. This is, in reality, one of the purposes of this endeavour. A long standing tenet in the education field is that we tend to learn the most by teaching others. Parenting provides just such an invaluable opportunity. In addition to this material, parents need to explore other means to enhance their eemân, whether it be through seeking knowledge (essential), increasing worship, or contributing to the Muslim community. Doing this will make the task of nurturing eemân in children all that much easier.

Basic rights of the child (Duties of parents)

The following are some of the basic rights of the child as reflected in the duties and responsibilities of parents:

* The right to provisions and protection until adulthood

This includes food, clothing and shelter as provisions. It also entails protection against physical, emotional, intellectual and moral harm. This aspect begins at the time of conception and continues throughout pregnancy, childhood, and into adulthood.

* The right to love and affection

Children have psychological needs that must be met. These include love, affection, mercy and companionship. It is a basic role of parenting to fulfil these needs through kisses, hugs, kind words and time spent together. This is critical for effective parenting and discipline.

·* The right to paternity and inheritance

Every child has right to know his or her lineage and parents. It is for this reason that the sanctity of the marital bond is so protected and the introduction of foreign reproductive material forbidden. It is for this reason as well that adoption is prohibited in Islam,⁸ and for the same reason a child carries the father's name. The right to inheritance is guaranteed by Islamic law.

✤ The right to proper education

The foundation of education is moral and religious training since this is the most important kind of education (as discussed in the next chapter). This entails proper Islamic education in order to build 'aqeedah, tawheed, and eemân. Worldly knowledge and information must also be provided in the appropriate proportion. The growth of a child's personality and potential is dependent upon proper education.

Basic rights of parents (Duties of the child)

The child also has duties that become the rights of the parents:

* The right to be respected and obeyed

Parents generally give orders and instructions that are in the best interest of children. It is thus the duty of children to respect and obey their parents in all matters. They should not question this authority or follow their own desires in defiance of their parents. This is, of course, overruled if the parents request the child to perform an act of disobedience to Allah.

* The right to reprimand and rebuke

⁸ 'Adoption' here refers to the practice of changing the child's family name to match the name of the family in which s/he is to be raised and erasing all evidence that the child has his or her own biological heritage, and should not be taken to mean that Islam forbids families to bring orphans up with the same love and treatment that they accord their own biological children. On the contrary, according to a sound hadith, raising an orphan in kindness and equity is considered to be a highly praiseworthy act, whose reward is paradise. To that end, the advice in this book should be taken to heart by foster parents as well. (Editor)

It is the obligation of parents to protect their children from harm. If a child is tempted to act in a harmful way, it is the duty of parents to prevent him or her from that behaviour. If necessary, they may resort to advising, rebuking, or reprimanding. The child should not reply rudely or argue with the parents. Parental advice should be listened to and acted upon, even if it is against the child's wishes.

* The right to kind words and good behaviour

And We have enjoined upon the human, to his parents, good treatment. His mother carried him in weakness and hardship and gave birth to him in weakness and hardship, and his gestation and weaning [period] is thirty months... (Qur'an 46: 15)

And your Lord has decreed that you not worship except Him, and to parents, good treatment. Whether one or both of them reach old age [while] with you, say not to them [so much as] '*uff*', and do not repel them but speak to them a noble word. (*Qur'an 17: 23*)

These Qur'anic verses urge children to be soft-spoken to parents and to show them respect and kindness. They must not forget the favours and sacrifices of their parents, but rather repay them with gentle words and kindness. This entails patience, compassion, gratitude, and humility.

✤ The right to be helped

Children are required to help their parents in household chores and other responsibilities as they are able. They may, for example, assist with the care of younger siblings. As parents age, help may be offered in other areas as well.

* The right to be looked after

Grown-up children must repay their parents by caring for them in their old age. This involves looking after their physical and financial needs, as well as psychological and companionship needs. As their parents looked after them during their stage of weakness, so must children reciprocate by taking care of their parents during the weakness of old age. This must be realized with equity, generosity, and iḥsân.

The importance of breastfeeding, bonding, and early attachment

Breastfeeding

وَأَلْوَلِدَتُ يُرْضِعْنَ أَوْلَدَهُنَ حَوْلَيْنِ كَامِلَيْنِ لِمَنْ أَرَادَ أَن يُتِمَ ٱلرَّضَاعَة ... (

[البَقرَة: ٢٣٣]

(Mothers may nurse [breastfeed] their children two complete years for whoever wishes to complete the nursing [period]...)

(Qur'an 2: 233)

Breastfeeding is a natural extension of pregnancy and research has repeatedly demonstrated that it is the superior way to feed a baby. In addition to the varied and undisputed physical benefits, breastfeeding also offers psychological and emotional benefits for the both mother and baby. This primarily occurs through a process known as bonding or attachment, an important factor in the groundwork of parenting. It is for these reasons that breastfeeding is so strongly encouraged in Islam. It is, in fact, an important right of the infant.

Bonding and attachment

The days and weeks after birth are a sensitive period in which mothers and babies are uniquely primed to want to be close to one another. The close attachment after birth and beyond allows the natural, attachment-promoting behaviours of the infant and the intuitive, care-giving qualities of the mother to come together. Both members of this biological pair get off to the right start at a time when the infant is most needy and the mother is most ready to nurture. Breastfeeding and the closeness that accompanies it play an important role in this process.

The key benefit of attachment is that the baby develops trust in the caregiver and other adults in his or her world. S/he trusts that his or her needs will be met and that the world is a safe place. S/he also trusts that his or her language (crying) is being listened to and thus trusts in his or her own ability to give cues. The relationship between mother and baby becomes synchronous and harmonious as baby gives cues and mother responds appropriately.

The job of parenting becomes easier due to this synchronicity and the trust of the infant. With a strong connection through bonding and attachment, the parent-child relationship becomes more natural and enjoyable. Attachment parenting also assists the child in developing independence, since it encourages the right balance between dependence and independence. Because the connected child trusts his or her parents to help him or her feel safe, s/he is more likely to feel secure exploring his or her surrounding environment. For example, studies have shown that toddlers who have a secure attachment to their mother tend to adapt more easily to new play situations and to play more independently than less attached toddlers. 'Early bonding and attachment have positive implications for the development of the parent-child relationship as the child grows and develops. These benefits are carried over into early and middle childhood, leading to easier discipline and parenting. Research has demonstrated the important role of the parent-child relationship in effective discipline.

Praying for a righteous child

Muslim parents must continually make supplication for their children. Allah (36) mentions,

(And those who say: Our Lord, grant us from among our wives and offspring comfort to our eyes, and make us a leader [i.e., an example] for the righteous.) (Qur'an 25: 74)

Parents should pray for their children to be pious and righteous and the comfort of their eyes. They will then be a source of happiness due to their righteousness. Rewards will be bestowed upon the parents for their supplication and the effort that was exerted to raise their children in Islam.

The prophets themselves made supplication for their children. Prophet Zakariyyâ () supplicated,

(My Lord, grant me from Yourself a good offspring. Indeed, You are the Hearer of supplication.) (Qur'an 3: 38)

Prophet Ibrâheem (Abraham) (ﷺ) supplicated to Allah (ﷺ),

هُرَبِّ هَبْ لِى مِنَ ٱلصَّلِحِينَ فَيْنَ فَبَشَّرْنَهُ بِغُلَمٍ حَلِيمٍ اللَّهُ الصَّافات: ١٠٠-١٠١] (My Lord, grant me [a child] from among the righteous. So We gave him good tidings of a forbearing boy.) (Qur'an 37: 100-101) At the time of sexual intimacy, the husband and wife are encouraged to supplicate to Allah to gain His protection for a child that may be conceived. The Messenger (\cong) said: «If anyone among you intends to go to his wife, he should say: In the name of Allah; O Allah, protect us from Satan and keep Satan away from that which you have bestowed upon us.»⁹ Thus parenting actually begins by intention at the time of conception with this supplication to protect the child from the workings of Satan, Supplication should be continued throughout the life of the child. At certain times, a parent may realize, in fact, that it is only supplication and the will of Allah that will change the situation. All praise be to Allah, as Muslims we always have this hope.

Chapter 4 Knowledge and Education in Islam

« $\overset{~}{\overset{~}}$ book at those who stand at a lower level than you but do not look at those who stand at a higher level than you, for this would make the favours (conferred upon you by Allah) insignificant (in your eyes).»¹

The importance of knowledge

The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «The seeking of knowledge is compulsory on every Muslim.»² This responsibility begins the moment that we are born and does not end until the day we die. The Prophet (ﷺ) also said: «If a person takes a path in search of knowledge, Allah will thereby make the path to paradise easy for him.»³ This ability to learn and understand is what sets us apart from the rest of Allah's creation and is directly related to the concept of free will. Making choices would certainly be a haphazard affair without the capacity to gain knowledge.

Knowledge and the seeking of knowledge guide us to that which is true in life-to the straight path. Without the necessary knowledge, our journey through life will not be very successful. The importance of this is emphasized frequently in the Qur'an and the Hadith. Allah (ﷺ) mentions,

... إِنَّمَا يَخْشَى ٱللَّهَ مِنْ عِبَادِهِ ٱلْعُلَمَتُؤُأْ إِنَّ ٱللَّهَ عَزِيزُ غَفُورُ (٢٥) [فاطر: ٢٨]

³ Muslim

¹ Recorded by Muslim on the authority of Abu Hurayrah

² A sound hadith narrated by Ibn Mâjah and Al-Bayhaqi

(... Only those fear Allah, from among His servants, who have knowledge.) (Qur'an 35: 28)

﴿وَتِلْكَ ٱلْأَمْنَكُ نَضْرِبُهَا لِلنَّاسِّ وَمَا يَعْقِلُهُمَا إِلَّا ٱلْعَـٰكِمُونَ ﴿ ﴾

[العَنكبوت: ٤٣]

And these examples We present to the people, but none will understand them except those of knowledge. (Qur'an 29: 43)

[الزُّمَر: ٩]

€... Say: Are those who know equal to those who do not know? Only they will remember [who are] people of understanding.

(Qur'an 39: 9)

The Prophet (1) said: «Upon a person whom Allah desires good, He bestows the knowledge of faith.»⁴ He also said: «When a person starts his journey to acquire knowledge, Allah eases his passage to paradise, and angels, to express their appreciation of his acts, spread their wings, and all the creatures that are in the heavens and on the earth, including the fish in the water, ask for forgiveness for a learned person. A learned person is superior to a worshipper as the full moon is superior to all the stars. The learned are heirs of the prophets, and the prophets do not leave any inheritance in the shape of dirhams and dinars⁵ (wealth), but they do leave knowledge as their legacy. As such, a person who acquires knowledge acquires his full share.»⁶ More importantly, he stated: «There is no envy but in two cases. The first is a person whom Allah has given wealth and he or she spends it righteously; the second is the one whom Allah has given

⁴ Bukhari and Muslim

⁵ dirhams and dinars: originally, silver and gold coins; both are also contemporary units of currency in some countries

⁶ A sound hadith narrated by Abu Dâwood and At-Tirmidhi

wisdom (the Holy Qur'an) and he or she acts according to it and teaches it to others.»⁷

These Qur'anic verses and hadiths clearly demonstrate the significance of gaining knowledge as well as teaching it to others. Islam is a religion of knowledge as it is associated with many virtues and merits. It is one of the most noble aspects a human can strive for, and the most honourable to attain. Knowledge comes before action and there is no action without knowledge.

The meaning of knowledge

Most Muslims, however, do not understand the true meaning of knowledge and the fact that there are several types. It is often assumed that the above-mentioned hadith of the Prophet (2013) refers to all knowledge, both worldly and religious, and that they are lumped together into one large category. One may hear others say, "My son or daughter needs to go to a secular high school or college because knowledge is an obligation for Muslims." While this may seem acceptable on the surface, a more detailed analysis will reveal some weaknesses.

An important distinction that has been made by Islamic scholars is between knowledge that is a personal obligation and knowledge that is a communal obligation. The first type of knowledge is that which is obligatory upon each and every individual. This would include basic knowledge of the religion, including beliefs ('aqeedah) and practices (prayer, fasting, poor due, social relations, and so forth). The second type of knowledge is that which is compulsory on some members of the Muslim society, but not all. It is a communal obligation that is lifted once some members of the community have fulfilled it. For example, if some members of the community become doctors to take care of the sick, then the rest of the

⁷ Bukhari

community is absolved from this responsibility; if no one becomes a doctor, then the whole community is held responsible. This category would include detailed knowledge of Islam and Sharia, medicine, education, engineering, and so on.

In the hadith regarding the obligation of seeking knowledge, the Prophet (\ge) particularly emphasized understanding of the religion. This wisdom comes from the Book of Allah and the *Sunnah*⁸ of the Prophet (\ge). This includes knowing Allah, His names and attributes, and His rights over His creation; knowing the path that leads to Him; knowing the purpose of our creation; and knowing the results in the hereafter. In essence, it means understanding the principles of eemân and the pillars of Islam. This is given priority over worldly knowledge since it has implications for eternity, not merely for a span of seventy years or so.

Knowledge and parents

These points related to knowledge need to be emphasized for parents, particularly those who feel that educating themselves about Islam is not important. As noted above, the acquisition of knowledge is an obligation for both men and women. One of the primary duties of parents is to take care of their children, physically, emotionally, spiritually, and intellectually. Education is a key factor in all of this with the goal of raising healthy, knowledgeable, and strong Muslims. It is probably even more important for women due to their position in the family. Teaching can be direct, such as study circle at home or in the mosque, but much of it will be indirect, through modelling and observation. The mother, through her continual contact with other family members, has the potential to be an excellent teacher. Most of this can be done simply by learning about Islam and implementing its

⁸ Sunnah: the practice and collected sayings of Prophet Muhammad (bpuh) that together with the Qur'an forms the basis of Islamic law

wisdom. Children learn a great deal by watching those around them, particularly their parents. For example, a child who sees her mother wearing the hijab⁹ (modest dress), reading the Qur'an, and praying on time is likely to follow this example and find it less of a struggle than one who has never seen her parent do any of these. Modelling and observation are powerful forces and the mother is a critical factor in this prescription.

This does not in any way negate the role of the father in educating his children. Fathers should understand the importance of education as well and cooperate with the mother in providing an Islamic learning environment. As husband and wife, they should encourage one another to learn on a continuous basis and share newly acquired knowledge with each other. Reading the Qur'an, hadiths and books; attending study circles; listening to lectures; participating in Islamic conferences, and finding trustworthy websites about Islam on the Internet are all ways that couples can nourish one another's intellectual growth. When this is shared together, it can help to strengthen and enhance the marital relationship.

Knowledge and parenting

In relation to parenting, education and learning must be built upon a foundation of Islamic knowledge. Priority must be given to learning aspects of the religion, since this is an individual obligation. The life of a Muslim child should be immersed in Islamic knowledge from the beginning. His or her knowing, thinking, and perception should be focused on it. The Qur'an, the Hadith, the *seerah*,¹⁰ and Arabic must be his or her daily bread. His or her head should rest upon the bed with stories of the prophets, the Companions, and tales of pious people.

⁹ veil ordained by Allah for Muslim women

¹⁰ biography of the Prophet Muhammad (bpuh)

Other types of knowledge can then be built upon this solid foundation. As a matter of fact, any worldly knowledge should always be connected to the original sources of Islam, the Qur'an and the Sunnah. For example, how could one study natural science without linking it to Allah's wisdom, perfection, and order in the universe, and to the scientific miracles of the Qur'an? A student could not study business without understanding the Islamic perspectives on economics, finance, and management. To study psychology would mean to first understand what the Creator has stated about His creation, for He knows us better than we know ourselves.

It is also important to recognize that knowledge that contradicts Islam or the principles of Islam is completely unacceptable. It is prohibited to learn philosophies and beliefs that are contrary to the principles of Islam. Sending our children to a secular school, for example, poses the serious danger of exposing our children to distorted belief systems and practices. In addition, it gives the message that religion is only a compartment of life and that we can understand other disciplines without reference to religion. Religion in these types of schools is given less of a priority, if any at all, than science and other subjects. Religion of any type may, in fact, be ridiculed and debased in such a system.

It is important to note that we should not ignore the material aspects of this life, for taking care of ourselves is part of religion as well. It is reported, for example, that the Prophet () frequently prayed: «O Allah, give us all the good of this world, and the good of the life hereafter, and save us from the punishment of the fire.»¹¹ It is acceptable to learn science, math or other subjects that do not contradict Islamic principles, but we should never concentrate on the worldly life at the expense of the life in the hereafter. Allah () says:

¹¹ Bukhari and Muslim

(So whatever thing you have been given — it is but [for] enjoyment of the worldly life. But what is with Allah is better and more lasting for those who have believed and rely upon their Lord.) (*Qur'an 42: 36*)

More than knowledge alone

The acquisition of knowledge is obviously not the only necessary element in our journey through life. All of the knowledge in the world would mean nothing if it was not connected to eemân, taqwâ, sincerity, and belief in the oneness of Allah. There are many people who have knowledge, but who are still on the wrong path. If we have all of these other components, the understanding that we gain in our search for knowledge will help us to know which road to take to Allah and how to avoid dangerous and harmful situations. The important thing to remember is that we are responsible for our children and will be held accountable for what we have (or have not) taught them. To preserve our religion, we must educate ourselves and our children. The strength of the Muslim community is directly tied to the level of knowledge of its members.

The Arabic language

The Arabic language is the language of the Noble Qur'an, the language of the Hadith, and the language of Islam. An individual cannot truly reach the depths of knowledge and comprehension of Islam without the Arabic language. Shaykh al-Islam¹² Ibn Taymiyah said,

The Arabic language is from the religion, and the knowledge of

¹² An honorary title meaning 'Scholar of Islam' (Editor)

﴿إِنَّا أَنْزَلْنَهُ قُرْءَنَا عَرَبَتًا لَعَلَّكُمْ تَعْقِلُونَ (٢)

﴿كِنَبْ فُصِّلَتْ ءَايَنْتُهُ، قُرْءَانًا عَرَبِيًّا لِقَوْمِ يَعْلَمُونَ (٢) *

it is an obligation. For surely the understanding of the Qur'an and the Sunnah is an obligation, and these two are not understood except through understanding the Arabic language, and whatever obligation is not fulfilled except by certain steps, then those steps themselves become obligatory (to fulfil of the initial obligation).¹³

Knowledge of the Arabic language is essential for every Muslim to understand the principles of faith and belief, to perform religious acts of worship, and to be proficient in the recitation of the Noble Qur'an.

Allah mentions the Arabic language in several places in the Qur'an:

[يُوسُف: ٢]

(Indeed, We have sent it down as an Arabic Qur'an that you might understand.) (Qur'an 12: 2)

[فُصَلَت: ٣]

A Book whose verses have been detailed, an Arabic Qur'an for a people who know. (Qur'an 41: 3)

And indeed, it [the Qur'an] is the revelation of the Lord of the worlds. The Trustworthy Spirit [Gabriel] has brought it down upon your heart, [O Muhammad] — that you may be of the warners — in a clear Arabic language. (Qur'an 26: 192-195)

It is sad to see that Muslims in our time seem to have forgotten the significance of this message and the important role of the Arabic

¹³ Ibn Taymiyah, *The Necessity of the Straight Path*, vol. 1, p. 470, quoted in Al-Baatilee, 2006

language. You will find Muslims spending thousands of dollars for their children to learn a foreign language, while at the same time ignoring the language of revelation. The younger generations have been brainwashed to think that the Arabic language is outdated and insignificant for modern times. Attempts are made to marginalize Arabic in the scientific and the pragmatic aspects of our lives by putting foreign languages before it and using these languages to teach in every subject. For this reason and others, young people have turned away from the Arabic language to focus their energies on more 'worldly' knowledge. Amazingly, you will actually find Muslims in Arab countries who cannot speak, read, or write Arabic.

Parents must put it in their minds that it is an obligation for them to learn the Arabic language (if they do not already know it) and to teach it to their children. Arabic should be the first language that a child hears (call to prayer at birth) and his or her 'first language' throughout his or her lifetime. Studying, learning, and speaking Arabic should be a daily routine, for it is essential for understanding the Qur'an, the narrations Prophet Muhammad (20), and the entire religion. As a former non-Muslim who has gone from not even knowing a letter of the Arabic alphabet to reading the Qur'an fluently with comprehension, I can attest that I now truly appreciate the significance and depth of the Arabic language.

It is interesting to note that research has confirmed that language acquisition is much easier during the childhood years. In fact, research has found that the time span from birth to age five is critical for language acquisition. At birth, children have the ability to produce any sound from any language in the world. With exposure and shaping, they lose the ability to make sounds that are not heard or are infrequent. For this reason, parents should expose their children to Arabic from birth. It is important for them to hear the sounds and to begin to communicate in the Arabic language. Arabic is a complicated language to learn, as anyone who has attempted it in adulthood will attest to. For children however, it comes very easily due to these natural processes. This, of course, applies as well to learning the Qur'an and the rules for precise articulation in the recitation of the Qur'an. Parents should take advantage of these precious years before they fade away.

Prophet Muhammad's methods of education and teaching

The Prophet (2013) is the ideal example to follow in all aspects of life, including education and teaching. He was the best educator and teacher for his Companions, and he spent many hours teaching them detailed aspects of the religion. In his teaching, he utilized various educational methods that may be applied to parenting. Some of these are discussed below in order to assist parents in developing and improving their own style.

It is important to understand that education and training are complex processes. They involve more than just teaching the principles of religion and the rules of Islamic law. A parent as teacher must first make a connection with his or her children, and then continually strive to establish concepts firmly in their minds and hearts through the utilization of various methods. For this purpose, the Prophet (1) varied his techniques, which included the following: illustrative parables, narrative stories, making oaths, examples, and exhortation. The choice of technique may depend upon the nature of the topic or problem, the personality of the person(s) involved, and situational or circumstantial aspects.

Illustrative parables

The Prophet (ﷺ) often used parables when illustrating abstract concepts to assist the people in comprehension. A parable is a short fictitious story that illustrates a moral attitude or a religious principle. Parables have been used throughout the course of history by prophets and learned men. Abu Bakr (()) said: «I heard the Messenger of Allah saying: Behold! Can any dirt remain on the body of any one of you if there were a river at his door in which he washed himself five · times daily? They said: No dirt would remain (on his body). He () said: That is like the five prayers by which Allah obliterates sins.»¹⁴

Narrative stories

Story telling is a brilliant, enjoyable, and effective method to teach children beliefs, values, and morals. This is particularly true for young children who have short attention spans and require attentionholding interactions. The Prophet (2013) often used this method with his Companions. On one occasion, it is reported that the Prophet (3) said: «Allah is more pleased with the repentance of His believing slave-servant than that of a person who set out on a journey with a provision of food and drink on the back of his camel. He went on until he came to a waterless desert and he felt like sleeping. So he got down under the shade of a tree and was overcome by sleep, and his camel ran away. As he got up he tried to see it (the camel) standing upon a mound, but did not find it. He then got upon the other mound, but could not see anything. He then climbed upon the third mound, but did not see anything until he came back to the place where he had sleeping previously. And as he was sitting (in utter been disappointment) there came to him his camel, till that (camel) placed its halter in his hand. Allah is more pleased with the repentance of His slave than the person who found (his lost camel) in this very state.»¹⁵

Making oaths

At times, the Prophet (ﷺ) would gain a person's attention by means of an oath. This is a valuable technique, particularly for the

¹⁴ Muslim

¹⁵ Muslim

purpose of emphasizing significant concepts. Abu Shurayh reported that the Prophet (ﷺ) said: «By Allah, he does not believe! By Allah, he does not believe! By Allah, he does not believe! It was said: Who is that person, O Allah's Messenger? He answered: That person is he whose neighbour does not feel safe from his evil.»¹⁶

Gradualness

Understanding the complexities and difficulties of life, Prophet Muhammad (ﷺ) took a gradual approach in teaching several of the principles of the religion. This was most often used in the prohibition of social evils such as alcohol, but it can also be applied to commandments as well. The rationale for this method is to take the time needed to change hearts and minds through persuasion and education, rather than simply imposing rules and laws. This will ensure that children accept the customs of Islam by their own choice, rather than being forced to accept them. Practical examples of application may include wearing the hijab, learning how to pray correctly, fasting during Ramadan, and so forth.

Offering a viable alternative

¹⁶ Bukhari

¹⁷ *qibla (qiblah)*: the bearing from the Kaaba (Ka'bah) to any point on Earth; the direction that all Muslims must face in prayer
the direction of the qibla; he should spit to his left or under his feet. Then he took the edge of his cloak, spat on it and rubbed part of it against another part and said: Or do like this.»¹⁸

Paying attention to inherent aspects in human nature

The Prophet (ﷺ) understood the nature of human beings and the natural feelings and emotions that they are likely to experience. For this reason, he was patient with other people's faults or improper conduct. This concept can certainly be applied in the case of children who often act through natural instincts. «The Prophet was with one of his wives when another of the Mothers of the Believers sent a big vessel full of food to him. The wife whose house the Prophet (ﷺ) was visiting struck the servant's hand, and the vessel fell and broke in two. The Prophet (ﷺ) picked up the pieces and put them together, then he gathered up the food that had been in the vessel and said: Your mother is jealous. Then he asked the servant to wait until he was given the vessel belonging to the wife in whose house he was, and he sent the whole vessel to the wife whose vessel had been broken, and kept the broken vessel in the house of the one who had broken it.»¹⁹

There are many more examples of the Prophet's method of education. It is beyond the scope of this book to cover the topic in depth. A few have been covered to provide suggestions for parents.²⁰

¹⁸ Bukhari

¹⁹ Bukhari

²⁰ A useful resource on this topic is *The Prophet's Methods of Correcting People's Mistakes* (3rd ed.) by Muhammad Sâlih al-Munajjid, Riyadh: International Islamic Publishing House 2004 (Editor)

Chapter 5 *Fițrah*: The Innate Nature of Children

Why is it that children have no difficulty believing in Allah and His Message, even though they cannot see Him? Why is it that a child finds it so effortless and natural to pray, to fast and to wear the hijab, oftentimes delighting in the process? Why is it that a child as young as two years old can be found praying by himself or herself, protective against any type of intrusion?

The answer to these questions is clear and simple — Allah has placed within each of us an intriguing and special gift that we would not even be aware of if not for Islam. This is the gift of the fitrah (the innate tendency to know Allah). It is one of the ways that we come to comprehend the existence of Allah (in addition to nature, revelation, and reason) and realize the purpose of our creation. It is also an important favour for parents as they strive to teach their children about Allah and the religion of Islam. It is the foundation upon which all else is built, already present at birth. It is the seed planted within each of our children that needs to be nourished in order to produce a beautiful flowering plant. As parents, we are only required to provide the water and sunlight. With this understanding, the approach to parenting becomes more positive and hopeful.

What is Fitrah?

Fitrah is usually described as the innate and pristine nature within humans that makes humans capable of knowing Allah and accepting His religion. It is an inborn tendency toward awareness of Allah and affirmation of His existence; the knowledge that there is a Transcendent Being who created us and the world around us. This is a faculty created by Allah within humans which is engraved upon our souls. It is described in the Qur'an by Allah (ﷺ),

وَفَأَقِدْ وَجَهَكَ لِللَّذِينِ حَنِيفًا فِطْرَتَ ٱللَهِ ٱلَّتِي فَطَرَ ٱلنَّاسَ عَلَيَّهاً لَا بَدِيلَ لِخُلْقِ ٱللَّهِ ذَلِكَ ٱلدِينُ ٱلْقَبِّرُ وَلَنَكُرَى أَصَحْثَرَ ٱلنَّاسِ لَا يَعْلَمُونَ (٢٠) [الرُّوم: ٣٠] So direct your face [meaning, yourself] toward the religion, inclining to truth. [Adhere to] the fitrah of Allah upon which He has created [all] people. No change should there be in the creation of Allah. That is the correct religion, but most of the people do not know.) (Qur'an 30: 30)

Basically, what this means is that each person is born in a pure state in which tawheed is central. This then inclines the person to submit fully to the will of Allah and to search for ways to become closer to Him. Islam itself is called *deen al-fitrah* (the religion of human nature) because it is the religion that will guide a person to true faith in Allah and complete fulfilment of this potential. The prophets were sent to remind humans of this nature and to teach them Islamic law as a comprehensive guidance for living in submission to Allah. The prophets themselves, as blessings from Allah, practiced these guidelines and were steadfast and exemplary models for humankind.

Covenant of monotheism inscribed on every soul

At the time when souls were created, each person made a covenant with Allah. Allah ($\frac{1}{26}$) mentions the covenant in the following verse:

[It will be said:] This is what you were promised — for every returner [to Allah] and keeper [of His covenant], who feared the Most Merciful unseen and came with a heart returning [in repentance]. In another verse, He (48) describes this covenant,

﴿وَإِذْ أَخَذَ رَبُّكَ مِنْ بَنِيَ ءَادَمَ مِن ظُهُورِهِمْ ذُرِّيَّنَّهُمْ وَأَشْهَدَهُمْ عَلَى أَنفُسِهِمْ أَلسْتُ بِرَبِّكُمْ قَالُوا بَنَّى شَهِدْنَأْ أَن تَقُولُوا يَوْمَ ٱلْتِيَهَةِ إِنَّا كُنَّا عَنْ هَٰذَا غَنِظِينَ (٢

[الأعرَاف: ١٧٢]

And [mention] when your Lord took from the children of Adam from their loins — their descendants and made them testify of themselves, [saying to them]: Am I not your Lord? They said: Yes, we have testified. [This] lest you should say on the Day of Resurrection, Indeed, we were of this unaware. (Qur'an 7: 172)

Thus, one of the ways that we know about Allah is that it is within our very own souls; it is within our nature. The belief in tawheed (oneness of Allah) is inscribed in our beings. It is our covenant with Allah. Every child is born with a natural inclination to believe in and worship Allah, to be righteous and virtuous, and to have a true understanding of his or her own position in the universe. S/he who submits will naturally be a Muslim, since all humans are born as Muslims. If no changes are made in the direction that the child faces, s/he will naturally incline toward Allah and will follow His will. When s/he reaches the age of discretion, s/he will readily choose the religion of Islam over any other belief system. This is the connection with the Creator that will guide the child to an understanding of good and evil, and truth and falsehood throughout his or her lifetime.

The influence of parents

You may ask yourself, "Why then have so many people gone away from their true nature? Why have so many people chosen a religion other than Islam? Why is there so much corruption and oppression on earth?" This can be explained by the following hadith of the Prophet (ﷺ), who said: «Every newborn child is born in a state of fitrah. Then his parents make him a Jew, a Christian, or a Magian; just as an animal is born intact. Do you observe any among them that are mutilated?»¹ This hadith elucidates the fact that environmental influences after birth lead a person to diverge from their fitrah and the path of Allah. The divergence has nothing to do with anything innately wrong within the person, for the fitrah is pure and good. Those who reject the religion of Islam are, in effect, going against their fitrah. Left alone, without interference, a person will naturally believe in Allah, tawheed, and Islam.

As mentioned in the hadith, parents are the main environmental factor in leading a person away from his or her fitrah. It is the parents that raise the child as a Jew, a Christian, a Magian, or an adherent of any other faith, oftentimes passing on to their child the same religion that was taught to them by their own parents. Parents share their beliefs, values, morals, and ideals with their children. This is accomplished through modelling, interactions, teaching, and so forth. Research, in fact, has shown that as young people enter adulthood, they carry the same or similar values and morals that were taught to them by their parents. The effect is generally compelling and persistent. It is important to note that while parents are the key factor in divergence from the fitrah, other environmental influences may also play a role. Schools, teachers, friends, extended family members, and the media all exert an effect on the thoughts and behaviours of a child.

The influence of Satan

Satan also plays a role in attempting to disturb the fitrah. The pressure and force of Satan and his patrons in the lives of humans are obvious. Satan will attempt to deceive us in any way that he can, and he begins to work on children the minute that they are born. We are

¹ Muslim

warned in the Qur'an,

وَقَالَ فَبِمَا أَغُوَيْتَنِي لَأَقْعُدُنَ لَهُمْ صِرَطَكَ ٱلْمُسْتَقِيمَ () ثُمَّ لَآيَدِيهِمْ وَمِنْ خَلْفِهِمْ وَعَنْ أَيْمَنِهِمْ وَعَن شَمَايِلِهِمْ وَلَا يَجِدُ أَكْثَرُهُمْ شَكِرِينَ () * [الأعرَاف: ١٦-١٧] [Satan] said: Because You have put me in error, I will surely sit in wait for them [human beings] on Your straight path. Then I will come to them from before them and from behind them and on their right and on their left, and You will not find most of them grateful [to You]) (Qur'an 7: 16-17)

The tools that Allah has given to the believers are designed to protect the fitrah from the schemes and traps of Satan.

The responsibility of parents in relation to Fitrah

This knowledge explicitly highlights the critical role of parents in the upbringing of their children. It is the responsibility of the parents to nurture the inborn tendency of the fitrah and to protect it from corruption. This is accomplished by teaching the child about Allah and Islam from the moment of birth. The first words that a baby hears should be "Allâhu akbar, Allâhu akbar" ('Allah is the greatest'), part of the call to prayer, which is said in the child's ear at birth. The life of the child should be imbued with the remembrance of Allah from that moment onward. S/he should see his or her parents pray and read the Qur'an on a daily basis and hear them say bismillâh (in the name of Allah), alhamdulillâh (all praise to Allah), and other forms of praise of Allah. All forms of corruption should be avoided to the extent possible. If these things are achieved, the child will develop eemân and taqwâ and will strive to please Allah. The development of . Islamic thought and behaviour in the child will then become an easy, almost effortless task.

The seed of fitrah is in need of the sunshine and water that parents can provide. This will allow the eemân to grow into a strong and beautiful plant. It is the responsibility of parents to be the gardeners and maintainers of this fitrah. Parents are obligated to keep their child's face in the direction of the religion of Islam. They cannot · allow environmental influences to harm this growing plant. Allah has created us in a certain fashion and He has given us the tools to complete the task. As a nurtured plant grows almost effortlessly, so too will your child's faith. With the foundation of fitrah, nurturing of eemân is a purely natural human experience.

PART TWO

CONNECTING CHILDREN TO THE PILLARS OF EEMÂN

Connecting children to the pillars of eemân is a process that begins at birth and continues throughout life. It is something that does not require an established program or course. Connecting is done on a daily basis during routine parent-child interactions. This, in fact, is where the core of parenting takes place. The following section provides some suggestions on how to connect your children to the pillars of eemân: belief in Allah, the angels, the prophets and messengers, the books and revelation, the Day of Resurrection and the hereafter, and divine will and predestination.

Chapter 6 Allah, the Exalted, the Almighty

 هُوَ اللَّهُ الَّذِى لَا إِلَهُ إِلَا هُوَ عَلِمُ الْغَيْبِ وَالشَّهَدَةُ هُوَ الرَّحْنُ الرَّحِهُ الْ
هُوَ اللَّهُ الَذِى لَا إِلَهُ إِلَا هُوَ الْمَلِكُ الْفَدُوسُ السَّلَمُ الْمُؤْمِنُ الْمُهَيْحِنُ الْعَزِيزُ
هُوَ اللَّهُ الَذِي لَا إِلَهُ إِلَا هُوَ الْمَلِكُ الْفَدُوسُ السَّلَمُ الْمُؤْمِنُ الْمُهَيْحِنُ الْعَزِيزُ
أَمُحَبَّرُ الْمُتَكَبِّرُ الْمُتَحَبِرُ اللَّهُ عَمَّا يُشْرِحُونَ () هُوَ الْمَالِكُ الْفَدُوسُ السَّلَمُ الْمُؤْمِنُ الْمُهَيْحِنُ الْعَزِيزُ
أَمُحَبَّرُ الْمُتَكَبِرُ الْمُتَحَبِرُ اللَّهُ الْمُعَانِ اللَّهُ الْمُوالِحُينُ الْمُوسَوْنِ اللَّهُ الْمُولِي الْمُعَانِ الْمُولُولُ الْمُعَانُ الْمُعَانُ الْمُعَانُ الْمُعَانُ الْمُعَانُ الْمُولُولُ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانُ الْمُعَانُ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانُ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانُ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْعَانِ الْعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْعَالَيْ اللَهُ الْمُعَانِ الْعَالَيْنَ الْمُعَانِ الْعَالَيْ الْمُعَانِ الْمُولَعُنَ الْمُعَانِ الْعَالِقُولُ اللَّهُ الْمُعَانِ الْعَالَةُ الْمُعَانَةُ الْمُعَانَةُ الْمُعَانَةُ الْمُعَانِ فَي الْمُعَانِ الْعَالُ الْعَالَةُ الْمُعَانِ لَا لَعَامِ اللَّهُ الْعَامِ الْعَامِ الْعَالَةُ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعُونِ الْعَالَيْنِ الْمُعَانِ الْحَامِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْمُعَانِ الْحُولُنَ الْمُعُمَونِ الْعُنَالُ الْعَالَيْنُ الْعَالَيْنِ الْعُنَانِ الْعَامِي مُنَالُ الْعُمَانِ الْعُمَانِ الْعُلُي الْعَامِ لَكُنُ الْعَامِ الْعُنْهُ مُعُمَانِ الْعُنَانِ الْعَانِ الْعَالَةُ عَلَى الْعُنَانِ الْعَامِ الْعَامِ مُولَا الْعَامِ لَا الْعَامِ لَا لَعَامِ لَهُ الْعَامِ لَالْحُولُ الْعَامِ لَالْعُنَامِ لَالْحُعْمَانِ الْعَامِ لَهُ الْعُنْعُ الْعُنْعُ مُ الْعُنْعُ مُعُولُ الْعَامِ الْحَامَةُ مُ لُكُو الْعُنْعُنُولُ الْعُنَا الْعَامِ الْعُنَامِ الْعُنُولُ الْعُنَا الْعُنْعُ مُ الْعُنَانُ الْعُنْعُ مُ مُ لُعُنُ الْعُنْعُنَا الْعُنَانِ الْعُنْ الْعُنَا الْعُنَا الْعُعَالَقُولُولُ الْعُنَا الْعُعْمِ مُ لَعُنُولُ الْعُعُنَا الْعُع

(He is Allah, other than whom there is no deity, Knower of the unseen and the witnessed. He is the Entirely Merciful, the Especially Merciful. He is Allah, other than whom there is no deity, the Sovereign, the Pure, the Perfection, the Bestower of Faith, the Overseer, the Exalted in Might, the Compeller, the Superior. Exalted is Allah above whatever they associate with Him. He is Allah, the Creator, the Inventor, the Fashioner; to Him belong the best names. Whatever is in the heavens and earth is exalting Him. And He is the Exalted in Might, the Wise.) (Qur'an 59: 22-24)

Belief in Allah

Belief in Allah is the most fundamental principle of faith and action; the most essential principle of eemân. It is the focal point of Islam and the essence of the Qur'an. All other Islamic beliefs revolve around and connect to belief in Allah. For a person's eemân to be firm, there must be correct and complete belief in Allah and the associated tenets of faith. If this is not present, then all of faith and practice may be impaired and valueless. The importance of belief in Allah is evident in the Qur'an. In fact, the whole of the Qur'an speaks about belief in Allah. Allah is mentioned by His names and attributes in the Qur'an 10,062 times. On every page of the Qur'an, He is mentioned approximately 20 times. The Qur'an speaks directly about Allah and His essence, names, attributes, and actions. It calls on people to worship Him alone, with no partner. It commands us to obey Him and forbids us to disobey Him. It relates stories and characteristics of the people of faith, the honour given to them in this world, and their rewards in the hereafter. There is similar information about the disbelievers and how Allah humiliates them in this world and of the punishment that awaits them in the next.

At the centre of belief in Allah is tawheed, or belief that Allah is One, and the realization and maintenance of Allah's unity. Tawheed is the basis of Islam and the essence of the testimony of faith, $L\hat{a}$ ilâha illallâh, there is no god but Allah. To every nation or people, a messenger was sent with the message of tawheed. It is the first thing that the messengers of Allah invited the people to believe in.

Tawheed can be summarized in the following manner: Allah is One without partner in His dominion and His actions (*tawheed arruboobiyah*); One without rival in His divinity and worship (*tawheed alal-uloohiyah*); and One without similitude in His essence and attributes (*tawheed al-asmâ' waṣ-ṣifât*). Allah is the Lord, Master, and Owner of all things. He controls the affairs of all of His creation. It is He who provides, restricts, permits, and prohibits. He gives life and causes death. Thus, He alone is worthy of all worship.

Belief in Allah is innate in humans as evidenced by the fitrah (discussed in an earlier chapter). Even those who choose not to submit to and worship Allah recognize His existence. Allah (ﷺ) indicates, (And if you asked them who created them, they would surely say:

Allah. So how are they deluded? (Qur'an 43: 87)

﴿ وَلَبِن سَأَلْتَهُم مَّنْ خَلَقَ السَّمَوَتِ وَٱلأَرْضَ لَيَقُولُ اللَّهُ قُلْ أَفَرَءَ يَشُم مَّا تَدْعُونَ مِن دُونِ ٱللَهِ إِنْ أَرَادَنِي ٱللَهُ بِضَرٍ هَلْ هُنَ كَشِفَتُ ضُرِقِ أَوْ أَرَادَنِي بِرَحْمَةٍ هُلْ هُ مُ مُسِكَتُ رَمْتِهِ أَقُلْ حَسِي ٱللَهُ عَلَيْهِ يَتَوَكَتُ أَلْمُتَوَكِّلُونَ (٢٥) [الزُمر: ٢٨] هُ مُ مُسِكَتُ رَمْتِهِ أَقُلْ حَسِي ٱللَهُ عَلَيْهِ يَتَوَكَتُ أَلْمُتَوَكِلُونَ (٢٥) [الزُمر: ٢٨] هُ مُ مُسِكَتُ رَمْتِهِ أَقُلْ حَسِي ٱللَهُ عَلَيْهِ يتَوَكَتُ أَلْمُتَوَكِلُونَ (٢٩) هُ مَ مُسِكَتُ مُعْسَلَتُ مُعْمَسِكَتُ وَمُعَالَهُ بِعُمْ هُونَ عَلَيْهِ مُنْتُ عَلَيْهِ يَتَوَكَتُ أَلَمْتُو هُ مُنْ مُعْسَكَتُ مُعْمَسِكَتُ مُعْمَعَهُ مُعْمَنَ مُعْنَ عَلَيْهِ مُعَالًا مُعَنّا مُعَمَعَهُ اللهُ مُعْنَ مُعْنَ مُعْنَ مُعْمَنِ مُعْنَا مُعْمَعُ مُعْنَ مُعْنَ عَلَيْهُ مُعْنَ مُونَ مُعْتَى مُوالَعُنْ مُعْنَ مُعْتَنَهُ مُعْتَا مُعْنَ مُعْتَهُ عَلَيْهِ مُنْ مُعْتَ مُومَعَ أَن أَنْ هُ مُعْنَ مُعْنَ مُعْنَ مُعْنَ مُعْنَ مُعْتَهُ عَلَيْهِ مُعْنَ مُعَامِعُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ مُوالاً مُعَنَ مُعْتَعُونَ مُعْنَ مُعْنَ مُعْنَ مُوالاً مُنْ مُعْتَعُونَ مُعْتَعُهُ أَنْ مُعْتَعُونَ مُعْتَعُونَ (And if you asked them: Who created the heavens and the earth? they would surely say: Allah. Say: Then have you considered what you invoke besides Allah?)

وْقُلْ لِمَنِ ٱلْأَرْضُ وَمَن فِيهِمَا إِن كُنتُمْ تَعْلَمُونَ ﴾ سَيَقُولُونَ لِنَّهِ قُلْ أَفَلَا تَذَكُرُونَ ﴾ قُلْ مَن رَّبَّ السَمَنَوَتِ السَّبْعِ وَرَبَّ الْعَرْشِ الْعَظِيمِ ﴾ سَيَقُولُونَ لِلَهِ قُلْ أَفَلَا نَنَقُونَ ﴾ قُلْ مَنْ بِيَدِهِ مَلَكُوتُ كُتِ شَيْءٍ وَهُوَ يُجِيرُ وَلَا يُجُارُ عَلَيْهِ إِن كُنتُمْ تَعْلَمُونَ ﴾ سَيَقُولُونَ لِنَهِ قُلْ فَأَنَى تُسْحَرُونَ ﴾

[المؤمنون: ٨٤-٨٩]

In times of adversity and need, humans naturally call out to their Lord and Creator. Allah (3) says,

﴿فَإِذَا مَسَ ٱلْإِنسَنَ ضُرُّ دَعَانَا ثُمَّ إِذَا خَوَّلْنَـٰهُ نِعْمَةً مِّنَا قَالَ إِنَّمَا أُوتِيتُهُ, عَلَى عِلْمٍ بَلَ هِيَ فِتْـنَةٌ وَلَكِنَ ٱكْثَرَهُمْ لَا يَعْلَمُونَ (٢) ﴾

(And when adversity touches a person, he calls upon Us; then when We bestow on him a favour from Us, he says: I have only been given it because of [my] knowledge. Rather, it is a trial, but most of them do not know.)

(Qur'an 39: 49)

وَإِذَا مَسَ ٱلْإِنسَنَ صُرُّ دَعَا رَبَّهُ, مُنِيبًا إِلَيْهِ ثُمَّ إِذَا خَوَّلَهُ, نِعْمَةً مِنْهُ نَسِى مَا كَانَ يَدْعُوَّا إِلَيْهِ مِن فَبْلُ وَجَعَلَ لِلَهِ أَندَادًا لِيُضِلَ عَن سَبِيلِهِ (٢) (الزُّمَر: ٨] (And when adversity touches a person, he calls upon his Lord, turning to Him [alone]; then when He bestows on him a favour from Himself, he forgets Him whom he called upon before, and he attributes to Allah equals to mislead [people] from His way... (Our an 39: 8)

﴿وَإِذَا أَنْعَمْنَا عَلَى ٱلْإِنسَنِ أَعْرَضَ وَنَنَا بِجَانِبِهِ، وَإِذَا مَسَّهُ ٱلنَّثَرُ فَذُو دُعَآَهِ عَرِيضٍ (٥) ﴾

And when We bestow favour upon the human, he turns away and distances himself; but when evil touches him, then he is full of extensive supplication. (Qur'an 41: 51)

These verses, in addition to revelation, the perfection of nature, and our own logic, point to the existence of Allah and the innate capacity for humans to believe in Him and His Oneness. In fact, we need Allah in our lives to fulfil the innate and persistent spiritual yearnings of our souls. They will not be quieted until these urges are fulfilled.

Connecting children to Allah

Connecting a child to Allah is an important and continuous process that begins at the time of birth (or even before). When a baby enters the world, the first words that s/he should hear are "Allâhu Akbar" with the enunciation of the call to prayer in the right ear. As 'the child grows, s/he should continue to hear the name of Allah through the recitation of the Qur'an, prayer, supplication, and remembrance of Allah. The child should be taught to love Allah and to fear His anger and punishment. The element of love should be

stronger than that of fear. There should be a desire to be obedient to Him.

In connecting children to Allah, especially small children, it is pertinent to teach them about Allah's miracles in nature, the beauty and grace given to us by Allah, and the marvellous signs of His perfection and wisdom. He has created all things on the earth and in the heavens: people, animals, rivers, trees, flowers, and so forth. Children naturally bond with nature and will curiously attempt to explore it, thus providing prime opportunities to discuss Allah and His attributes. Nature walks or trips should be regular events for the family. During these times, children may be asked, "Who made the rivers and the lakes and the flowers and all that you see around you?" in order to bring their attention to the greatness of the Creator. From this, children will understand that Allah is the Giver of Life, the Sustainer, the Most Bounteous, and so forth. As an expected corollary, they should be reminded to thank Allah for His blessings in their many forms.

Children may also be asked about the other bounties that Allah has given to His servants. They may not initially realize that parents, siblings, food on the table, clothes, the physical body and five senses, for example, are all bounties only available through the grace and mercy of Allah. Good health itself is a blessing that we often take for granted and easily forget. Children may be asked, "Who gave you your hearing, sight, and mind? Who gave you the ability and strength to move and to act?" All of this would be impossible without Allah's generosity.

The ability to learn and gain knowledge and to question, the knowledge itself, the books that are read and the schools that are entered each day, all come from Allah. Friendships, relationships, sharing, and caring are part of human existence due to the grace of Allah. These elements enrich our lives and allow us to grow and develop spiritually, intellectually, and emotionally. Again, children should be encouraged to love and thank Allah for the remarkable and diverse blessings that He has bestowed upon His creation. When something particularly special happens to them or they receive joyful news, they should follow the practice of the Prophet (ﷺ) and prostrate in thanks.

These initial building blocks result in the cultivation of love of Allah, for it is natural to love the One who has given so generously. Children may simply be requested to imagine what life would be like without all of these in order to appreciate what they have. It may be advantageous to have them spend a few hours or a day pretending to be a blind or deaf person, or without books or computers, or without communication with siblings. Exposure to persons with handicaps or poor economic conditions may serve a similar purpose, as well as visiting the sick and elderly in hospitals or nursing homes. The gratefulness of the human should expand tenfold with these types of experiences.

As children grow older, integration of various verses of the Qur'an can provide further reminders. The following are some examples:

﴿اللَّهُ ٱلَّذِى خَلَقَ ٱلسَّمَوَتِ وَٱلْأَرْضَ وَأَنزَلَ مِنَ ٱلسَّمَاءِ مَاءً فَأَخْرَجَ بِهِ، مِنَ ٱلثَّمَرَتِ رِزْقًا لَكُمُ وَسَخَرَ لَكُمُ ٱلْفُلْكَ لِتَجْرِى فِ ٱلْبَحْرِ بِأَمْرِةٍ. وَسَخَرَ لَكُمُ الأَنْهَدَر ٢ وَسَخَرَ لَكُمُ ٱلشَّمْسَ وَٱلْقَمَرَ دَابِبَيْنِ وَسَخَرَ لَكُمُ ٱلَيْلُ وَٱلنَّهَارَ ٢ وَءَاتَنكُم مِن كُلِّ مَا سَأَلْتُمُوهُ وَإِن تَعُدُّوا نِعْمَتَ ٱللَّهِ لَا تُحْصُوهَاً إِنَ الإِنسَنَ لَطَلُوُمٌ كَفَارٌ ٢

(It is Allah who created the heavens and the earth and sent down rain from the sky and produced thereby some fruits as provision for you and subjected for you the ships to sail through the sea by His command and subjected for you the rivers. And He subjected for you the sun and the moon, continuous [in orbit], and subjected for you the night and the day. And He gave you from all you asked of Him. And if you should count the favour [blessings] of Allah, you could not enumerate them. Indeed, humankind is [generally] most unjust and ' ungrateful.) (Qur'an 14: 32-34)

(It is Allah who made for you the earth a place of settlement and the sky a structure [ceiling] and formed you and perfected your forms and provided you with good things. That is Allah, your Lord; then blessed is Allah, Lord of the worlds.) (Qur'an 40: 64)

[المُلك : ٢٣]

(Say: It is He who has produced you and made for you hearing and vision and hearts [intellect]; little are you grateful.) (Qur'an 67: 23)

Older children can be taught that all that is on the earth was created for humans and for their benefit. Allah (3) says,

هُوَ ٱلَّذِى خَلَقَ لَكُم مَّا فِى ٱلْأَرْضِ جَمِيعًا ... (؟) (البَقَتَرَة: ٢٩] ((...) It is He Who created for you all that which is on earth ((Qur'an 2: 29)

﴿ أَلَزَ تَرُوا أَنَّ اللَّهُ سَخَرَ لَكُمْ مَّا فِي ٱلسَّمَوَتِ وَمَا فِي ٱلأَرْضِ ... (لَكَامَ القَمَان: ٢٠] (Do you not see that Allah has made subject to you whatever is in the heavens and whatever is in the earth...) (Qur'an 31: 20)

﴿وَسَخَرَ لَكُم مَّا فِي ٱلسَّمَوَتِ وَمَا فِي ٱلْأَرْضِ جَمِيعًا مِّنْهُ إِنَّ فِي ذَلِكَ لَأَيْنَتِ لِقَوْمِ يَنْفَكَرُونَ ٢ (And He has subjected to you whatever is in the heavens and whatever is on the earth — all from Him. Indeed, in that are signs for a people who give thought.) (Qur'an 45: 13)

Specific examples may be provided or integrated into discussions of science, such as the function of the sun and moon, the resources of the earth (for example, oil, metals, and coal), the water cycle, and so forth.

Memorization and understanding the names and attributes of Allah will further enhance the process.

﴿ٱللَّهُ لَا إِلَهُ إِلَّا هُوٍّ لَهُ ٱلْأَسْمَآءُ ٱلْحُسْنَى ٢

(Allah — there is no deity except Him. To Him belong the best names.) (Qur'an 20: 8)

(And to Allah belong the best names, so invoke Him by them...) (Qur'an 7: 180)

Allah's names and attributes reflect His mercy and love for His creation and provide the human with a method through which to comprehend Allah and His greatness. This is something that children find pleasure in doing and it can be started from a young age. Relating the attributes to concrete examples, stories and verses of the Qur'an can be effective.

Love of Allah and respect and gratefulness for His favours, and knowing that Allah loves His servants, will intensify the child's desire to obey Allah and follow His commandments. They will realize that Allah (3) orders only that which is good and beneficial, as that would only correspond with the goodness in the whole of His creation. It will strengthen their eemân and fear of Allah immensely. This leads to the concept of teaching the importance of obedience to Allah.

Teach the importance of obedience to Allah

It is obligatory to teach children the importance of obedience to Allah. The word 'obey' appears many times in the Qur'an to emphasize this aspect. For example, Allah (\Im) says,

< ٢ يَتَأَيَّهَا ٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُوَا أَطِيعُوا اللَّهَ وَأَطِيعُوا ٱلرَّسُولَ وَلَا نُبْطِلُوا أَعْمَلَكُمُ () * [محمّد: ٣٣]

(O you who have believed, obey Allah and obey the Messenger and do not invalidate your deeds.) (Qur'an 47: 33) He (ﷺ) also says,

﴿يَتَأَيَّهَا ٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُوَا أَطِيعُوا ٱللَّهَ وَأَطِيعُوا ٱلرَّسُولَ وَأُولِ ٱلْأَمْرِ مِنكُمٌّ فَإِن لَنَزَعْلُمٌ فِي شَىْءٍ فَرُدُّوهُ إِلَى ٱللَّهِ وَٱلرَّسُولِ إِن كُنُهُمْ تُؤْمِنُونَ بِٱللَّهِ وَٱلْيُوْمِ ٱلْآخِرُ ذَلِكَ خَيْرٌ وَآحْسَنُ تَأْوِيلًا (٢) ﴾

O you who have believed, obey Allah and obey the Messenger and those in authority among you. And if you disagree over anything, refer it to Allah and the Messenger, if you should believe in Allah and the Last Day. That is the best [way] and best in result. (Qur'an 4: 59)

A Muslim who believes and submits to Allah understands that submission entails obedience and complete surrendering of authority and control to Allah. This is the path of Islam and the only path to true happiness.

Children must understand that they should obey Allah out of love, fear, and hope in Him. As noted in these verses, obedience to Allah is also connected to obedience to His Messenger through following the Sunnah. At times, this may go against the wishes and desires of the self, but they surrender nonetheless. Humans become prisoners of their desires unless they give allegiance to Allah. It is through obedience to Allah that they break these chains and elevate the soul. This is a valuable lesson for children to learn from a young age and one that will protect them from desires, temptations, and the whisperings of Satan. It will be particularly advantageous as they enter and proceed through the teenage years. While this is a difficult struggle for humans, it is something possible to achieve.

In essence, they give up some of the pleasures of this world in order to attain pleasures in the hereafter. In psychological terms, it is known as 'delayed gratification'. A person puts off short-term, immediate pleasure for a larger, long-term reward or gratification in the future. This is exactly what Allah promises the believers who submit to and obey Him. He (\Re) indicates,



[النُّسَاء: ١٣]

(These are the limits [set by] Allah, and whoever obeys Allah and His Messenger will be admitted by Him to gardens [in Paradise] under which rivers flow, abiding eternally therein; and that is the great attainment.) (Qur'an 4: 13)

﴿وَمَن يُطِعِ ٱللَّهَ وَٱلرَّسُولَ فَأُوْلَتِكَ مَعَ ٱلَّذِينَ أَنْعَمَ ٱللَّهُ عَلَيْهِم مِّنَ ٱلنَّبِتِئَ وَٱلصِّدِيقِينَ وَالشُّهَدَاءِ وَٱلصَّلِحِينَۚ وَحَسُنَ أُوْلَتِهِكَ رَفِيقَا (٢)

And whoever obeys Allah and the Messenger — those will be with the ones upon whom Allah has bestowed favour of the prophets, the steadfast affirmers of truth, the martyrs and the righteous. And excellent are those as companions. (Qur'an 4: 69)

As such, reminders of the hereafter can be beneficial in this regard (as discussed in a forthcoming chapter).

Obedience to Allah will not be present without a desire to be obedient to Him. As mentioned, this begins by instilling a love of Allah in young children and nurturing that as they grow older. It is obvious that parents who are obedient and devoted to Allah will find it easier to instil the same concepts in their children. Parents who pray on time, fulfil their obligations, and avoid the prohibited with a desire from their hearts and out of love of Allah, will set the best example for their children. This is one of the most powerful influences of parenting and it should not be minimized. Direct instruction should also be given regarding the rewards that await the obedient servant and the punishment that is prepared for the disobedient. The greatest reward for the believer is nearness to Allah.

Teach reliance upon Allah

Reliance means complete dependence and trust in Allah in all matters, particularly in times of difficulty. On the authority of 'Abdullâh bin 'Abbâs, who said: «One day I was riding behind the Prophet (2016) on his mount, and he said to me: Young man, I shall teach you some words [of advice]: Be mindful of Allah, and Allah will protect you. Be mindful of Allah, and you will find Him in front of you. If you ask, ask of Allah; if you seek help, seek help of Allah. Know that if the nation were to gather together to benefit you with anything, it would benefit you only with something that Allah had already prescribed for you, and that if they gather together to harm you with anything, they would harm you only with something Allah had already prescribed for you. The pens have been lifted and the pages have dried.»¹ In another version it reads, «... Be mindful of Allah, you will find Him before you. Get to know Allah in prosperity and He will know you in adversity. Know that what has passed you by was not going to befall you; and that what has befallen you was not going to pass you by. And know that victory comes with patience, relief with affliction, and ease with hardship.»

¹ A sound hadith narrated by At-Tirmidhi

This amazingly powerful hadith teaches children (and adults) that they should turn to Allah alone for all of their needs. It directs Muslims to obey Allah and avoid disobeying Him. It teaches Muslims to be optimistic in the face of life's challenges and realities. They should confront these challenges with courage and confidence, and endure all conditions with patience. Distress and difficulty are always followed by relief, particularly when accompanied by supplication. This is the foundation of the meanings of 'ageedah, tawheed, and eemân.

Reliance upon Allah is also mentioned in several verses of the Qur'an. Allah (ﷺ) mentions,

(... And whoever relies upon Allah — then He is sufficient for him. Indeed, Allah will accomplish His purpose. Allah has already set for everything a [decreed] extent.) (Our'an 65: 3)

﴿... فَإِذَا عَنَهُتَ فَتَوَكَّلْ عَلَى ٱللَّهِ إِنَّ ٱللَّهَ يُحِبُّ ٱلْمُتَوَكِّلِينَ (٢) ﴾ [آل عمرَان: ۱۵۹] ... And when you have decided, then rely upon Allah. Indeed, Allah loves those who rely [upon Him]. (Qur'an 3: 159)

... وَعَلَى ٱللهِ فَلْيَتَوَكَّلِ ٱلْمُؤْمِنُونَ () (... And upon Allah let the believers rely.) (Our'an 5: 11)

[آل عمرُ ان: ١٢٢]

Children should be taught these important lessons from an early age. Again, this can be done indirectly by making use of special or opportune moments. When they need help with something, they should be reminded to make supplication to Allah. In preparing for an exam, completing a difficult assignment, or facing daily challenges, their initial reaction should be to remember Allah. When they misplace something and have difficulty finding it, they can be prompted to ask assistance from Allah.

If a child is not feeling well, s/he can be reminded to supplicate to Allah to remove the sickness. Children can even be introduced to the concept of reciting specific verses of Qur'an, hadiths, and supplications for the purposes of physical, emotional, or spiritual cure. When events do not go as planned, a child can again be reminded to supplicate to Allah for the best outcome. They must come to understand that their supplication is not always answered as they expected, but in whatever way Allah responds it is the best for them. Believing that Allah is All-Merciful and wants only good for His servants is part of reliance upon and trust in Allah.

This reliance upon Allah relieves the difficulties of the believers and guarantees happiness in this world and the world to come. Allah will respond to any attempt of a person to draw near to Him by coming closer Himself and providing His assistance and . guidance. The Prophet (2012) said: «Allah says: My servant does not draw near to Me with anything more loved by Me than the religious duties I have imposed upon him. And My servant continues to draw near to Me with supererogatory works so that I shall love him. When I love him, I am his hearing with which he hears, his seeing with which he sees, his hand with which he strikes, and his foot with which he walks. Were he to ask (something) of Me, I would surely give it to him; and were he to ask Me for refuge, I would surely grant him it.»² The Prophet (1) said: «Allah says: I am just as My slave thinks I am, (I am able to do for him whatever he thinks I can do for him) and I am with him if He remembers Me. If he remembers Me in himself, I too, remember him in Myself; and if he remembers Me in a group of people, I remember him in a group that is better than they; and if he comes one span nearer to Me, I go one cubit nearer to him; and if he comes one cubit nearer to Me, I go a distance of two outstretched arms nearer to him; and if he comes to Me walking, I go to him running.»³

² Bukhari

³ Bukhari

This love, closeness and reliance upon Allah will be the lifeline that the child holds on to as s/he moves through life. S/he will find comfort in knowing that Allah loves him or her for his or her obedience — a love that intensifies with every step taken towards Him. S/he will constantly be aware of Allah's support, presence and knowledge, as mentioned in the Qur'an:

﴿وَمَا تَكُونُ فِي شَأْنِ وَمَا نَتْلُوْا مِنْهُ مِن قُرْءَانِ وَلَا تَعْمَلُونَ مِنْ عَمَلٍ إِلَّا كُنَّا عَلَيْكُرُ شُهُودًا إِذْ تُفِيضُونَ فِيدٍ وَمَا يَعْرُبُ عَن زَيِكَ مِن مِنْقَالِ ذَرَّةٍ فِي ٱلْأَرْضِ وَلَا فِي ٱلسَّمَآء وَلَا أَسْغَرَ مِن ذَلِكَ وَلَا أَكْبَرَ إِلَّا فِي كِنَبٍ مُبِينٍ (٢)

(And, [O Muhammad], you are not [engaged] in any matter or recite any of the Qur'an and you [people] do not do any deed except that We are witness over you when you are involved in it. And not absent from your Lord is any [part] of an atom's weight within the earth or within the heaven or [anything] smaller than that or greater but that it is in a clear register.) (Qur'an 10: 61)

This is the essence of taqwâ of Allah and of eemân in Allah.

Chapter 7 The Angels

﴿إِنَّ ٱلَّذِينَ قَالُواْ رَبُّنَا ٱللَّهُ ثُمَّ ٱسْتَقَدَمُوا تَتَنَزَّلُ عَلَيْهِمُ ٱلْمَلَيَّكَةُ أَلَّا تَخَافُواْ وَلَا تَحْزَنُوا وَأَبْشِرُواْ بِٱلجُنَّةِ ٱلَّتِي كُنتُمْ تُوَعَكُونَ ﴿ يَخْتُ أَوْلِيَآؤُكُمْ فِي ٱلْحَيَوْةِ ٱلدُنْيَا وَفِي ٱلْآخِرَةِ وَلَكُمْ فِيهَا مَا تَشْتَهِىٓ أَنفُسُكُمْ وَلَكُمْ فِيهَا مَا تَدَّعُونَ ﴾ إفْصَلَت: ٢١-١٦١

(Indeed, those who have said: Our Lord is Allah and then remained on a right course — the angels will descend upon them, [saying]: Do not fear and do not grieve but receive good tidings of Paradise, which you were promised. We were your allies in worldly life and [are so] in the hereafter. And you will have therein whatever your souls desire, and you will have therein whatever you request [or wish]. (Qur'an 41: 30-31)

Belief in the Angels

Belief in angels is the second pillar of eemân. The angels are part of the unseen world and thus we are unable to comprehend completely their essence and their attributes. We only know and accept what Allah has revealed to us about them without questioning further. An aspect of faith is to believe in the unseen without subtracting from or adding to that which Allah or His Messenger have disclosed regarding it.

Unlike humans, angels do not possess free will. As a result, they do not have desires nor do they commit sins or misdeeds. Their relationship with Allah is one of servitude, worship, obedience, and complete submission to His commands. They stand, bow, and prostrate in continuous worship of their Creator. In addition to praise and worship of Allah, angels carry out His will completely and without question. The angels are responsible for managing the affairs of the creation and watching over it. In relation to humankind, angels are involved throughout human life from conception until death. They are directly and indirectly involved in the complete process, particularly in the lives of believers.

Each of the angels is given unique tasks and all work together in synchrony. There are some angels that are assigned the task of taking care of the foetus while in the uterus of the mother. They, in fact, breathe life into the foetus at the appropriate time and record important aspects of the person's life. Some angels are given the responsibility of guarding each person during their life on this earth. They protect the person in the front and from behind from anything that Allah has not decreed. The records of each human being are preserved by the recording angels, who are assigned to a person throughout their lifetime. They write the record of deeds that will be presented on the Day of Judgment. The Angel of Death and his helpers are entrusted with the task of taking the soul of each human at the time of death. There are also angels in charge of the soul during the 'trial in the grave'. They are known by the names Munkar and Nakeer. They will question the soul in the grave and the final outcome in the hereafter will be made known. There are many other duties that angels are given by Allah.

Belief in angels is an essential element in the belief system of a Muslim. To believe in them means to accept everything that has been related about them in the Qur'an and the Hadith. From these sources, we know some of their attributes, characteristics, names, and responsibilities. We understand their relationship to humankind and their completion of the commands of their Lord. The real significance comes when one comprehends the effect that belief in angels has on the believer. This belief helps one to be patient, dedicated, and

.

obedient to Allah. To know that angels are watching and recording at all times leads the believer to be attentive to every action, wanting to please Allah with his or her deeds. The true believer knows that s/he is not alone on the path to Allah, thus the angels provide security and comfort. There is especially comfort in realizing that no harm can befall the believer except by the will and decree of Allah. Allah has made everything in the universe flow in beautiful synchrony. The angels are part of this and they are intricately entwined in the lives of humankind. They have great benefit for the believer, in bringing comfort to the heart and soul, in guiding to good deeds, and in providing strength to be pious and steadfast.

Connecting children to the Angels

Children can be connected to angels beginning at a young age as well. In relation to the prophets and revelation, it is necessary for children to believe in angels as they are the link between Allah and His messengers. It would be difficult to believe in the coming of the revelation, particularly the Qur'an, without knowing about and believing in angels. Angel Gabriel, of course, is the angel of revelation and he came to all of the prophets. He came to Prophet Muhammad (20) over a period of twenty-three years. Belief in the angels then (and in Angel Gabriel specifically) is a prerequisite for belief in and confirmation of the Qur'an.

Children can be read stories in which angels spoke to the prophets or other human beings. The most popular story, of course, is when Angel Gabriel (2010) came to Prophet Muhammad (2010) in the cave of $Hir\hat{a}$ '. The story of the *isrâ*' and the *mi*'r*âj*¹ would be another example in which Angel Gabriel accompanied the Prophet (2010) to the highest heavens. As related in the Qur'an, angels came to various

¹ isr \hat{a} ' and mi'r \hat{a} : the night journey of the Prophet (bpuh) from Makkah to Jerusalem and then up to visit heaven

prophets to bring news, such as Prophets Abraham, Zachariah and Lot. There are many other examples.

It is particularly appealing to children to hear the descriptions of angels that reflect Allah's power and ability. In one hadith, for example, it is stated that Angel Gabriel was seen by the Prophet (ﷺ) covering the horizon with six hundred wings. Angels can also appear in different forms, such as that of a human being. Children can then begin to relate to the greatness and awe-inspiring nature of Allah's creation. They must believe in these attributes of angels without distorting or trying to depict them in any way.

There are other stories of angels that include valuable lessons. These stories can be used to teach about angels, while at the same time providing children with important morals and values. The following are some examples:

The Prophet ($\underset{k=1}{\overset{(k=1)}{\underset{k=1}{\atopk=1}{\underset{k=1}{\atopk=1}{\atop{k=1}{\atop{k=1}{\atop{k=1}{\atop{k=1}{\atop{k=1}{\atop$

The Prophet (變) said: «Amongst the Children of Israel there was a man who had murdered ninety-nine persons. He set out asking (whether his repentance could be accepted or not). He came upon a monk and asked him if his repentance could be accepted. The monk replied in the negative and so the man killed him. He kept on asking ' till a man advised him to go to such and such village. (So he left for it) but death overtook him on the way. As he lay dying, he turned his

² Muslim

chest towards that village (where he had hoped his repentance would be accepted), and so the angels of mercy and the angels of punishment quarrelled amongst themselves regarding him. Allah ordered the . village (towards which he was going) to come closer to him, and ordered the village (whence he had come), to go far away, and then He ordered the angels to measure the distances between his body and the two villages. So he was found to be one hand-span closer to the village (he was going to). So he was forgiven.»³

Abu Hurayrah (2000) narrated that he heard the Messenger (2000) say: «Allah willed to test three Israelites who were a leper, a blind man and a bald-headed man. So, he sent them an angel who came to the leper and said: What would you like most? The leper replied: Good colour and good skin, for people have a strong aversion to me. The angel touched him and his illness was cured, and he was given a good colour and beautiful skin. The angel asked him: What kind of property would you like best? He replied: Camels (or cows). (The narrator is in doubt, for either the leper or the bald-headed man demanded camels and the other demanded cows.) So he (the leper) was given a pregnant she-camel, and the angel said (to him): May Allah bless you by it. The angel then went to the bald-headed man and asked: What would you like most? He replied: I would like good hair, and wish to be cured of this disease, for people feel repulsion for me. The angel touched him and his illness was cured, and he was given good hair. The angel asked (him): What kind of property would you like best? He replied: Cows. The angel gave him a pregnant cow and said: May Allah bless you by it. The angel then went to the blind man and asked: What would you like best? He replied: (I would like) that Allah may restore my eyesight to me so that I may see people. The angel touched his eyes and Allah gave him back his eyesight. The angel then asked him: What kind of property would you like best? He replied: Sheep. The angel gave him a pregnant sheep. Afterwards, all

³ Bukhari

three pregnant animals gave birth to young ones, and multiplied and brought forth so much that one of the (three) men had a herd of camels filling a valley, and one had a herd of cows filling a valley, and one had a flock of sheep filling a valley. Then the angel, disguised in the shape and appearance of a leper, went to the leper and said: I am a poor man, who has lost all means of livelihood while on a journey, so none will satisfy my need except Allah and then you. In the name of Him Who has given you such nice colour and beautiful skin, and so much property, I ask you to give me a camel so that I may reach my destination. The man replied: I have many obligations (so I cannot give you one). The angel said: I think I know you; were you not a leper to whom people had a strong aversion? Weren't you a poor man, and then Allah gave you (all this property)? The man replied: (This is not so,) I got this property through inheritance from my fore-fathers. The angel said: If you are telling a lie, then let Allah make you as you were before. Then the angel, disguised in the shape and appearance of a bald man, went to the bald man and said to him the same as he told the first one, and he too answered the same as the first one did. The angel said: If you are telling a lie, then let Allah make you as you were before. The angel, disguised as a blind man, went to the blind man and said: I am a poor man and a traveller, whose means of livelihood have been exhausted while on a journey. I have nobody to help me except Allah, and after Him, you yourself. I ask you in the name of Him Who has given you back your eyesight to give me a sheep, so that with its help, I may complete my journey. The man said: No doubt, I was blind and Allah gave me back my eye-sight; I was poor and Allah made me rich; so take anything you wish from my property. By Allah, I will not stop you from taking anything (you need) of my property, which you may take for Allah's sake. The angel replied: Keep your property. You all (three men) have been tested, and Allah is pleased with you and is angry with your two companions.»⁴

⁴ Bukhari

These stories from the Hadith help children to strengthen the belief that angels are real and that Allah has a purpose for sending them. They are Allah's emissaries in this life and His sending them means that He cares for His creation and intervenes in their lives as He wishes and during appropriate times. They are a direct connection between Allah and His servants in this world.

The angels, in fact, are responsible for managing the affairs of creation and watching over it. This aspect governs both animate and inanimate objects, laws and principles, as well as $jinn^5$ and humankind. Certain angels are entrusted with the sun and the moon, and yet others with the planets, the clouds, the rain, and the mountains. All of this involves the execution of Allah's preordained decree for all of creation. Allah ($\frac{3}{46}$) refers to the angels:

[النَّازعَات: ٥]



(Then arrange to do [the Commands of their Lord].)⁶(Qur'an 79: 5)

Each of the angels is entrusted with different tasks in fulfilment of these commands.

Children readily connect to these concepts, which can be introduced into conversations. When it rains, they may be asked where the rain comes from. They are likely to respond, "Allah." Then they may be asked, "Who follows Allah's command to bring the rain?" They will then respond, "The angels." They can also be told the name of the particular angel, *Meekâ'eel*, who is in charge of this task. These sorts of small reminders work together to confirm and reaffirm belief in Allah and His angels. Even though children are unable to see the angels, they must understand that they are present.

⁵ *jinn*: unseen creatures created from smokeless fire; see Glossary for additional explanation.

⁶ The translation of the meaning of this verse is from Abdullah Yusuf Ali. (Editor)

Children should be taught that angels are involved in many aspects of their own lives. This began at the time when they were placed in their mother's womb. Angels were assigned the task of taking care of them while in the uterus of their mother. They, in fact, breathed life into the foetus at the appropriate time and recorded important aspects of the person's life. The Messenger of Allah (\cong) said: «The way that each of you is created is that you are gathered in your mother's womb for forty days as a sperm drop, for another forty days as a clot clinging to the inner wall of the womb, and then for a similar length of time as a lump of flesh. Then an angel is sent and he breathes the spirit into you and is charged with four commands: to write down your provision, your lifespan, your actions, and whether you will be wretched or happy.»⁷

When children reach the age of responsibility, angels will begin to record their good and bad deeds and will watch them at all times. The records of each human being are preserved by the recording angels, who are assigned to a person throughout their lifetime. They write the record of deeds that will be presented on the Day of Judgment. Allah (ﷺ) mentions,

(Or do they think that We hear not their secrets and their private conversations? Yes, [We do], and Our messengers [angels] are with them recording.) (Qur'an 43: 80)

وَإِنَّ عَلَيْكُمْ لَحَنونِظِينَ (كَبَرِيهَا كَنِبِينَ (يَعْلَمُونَ مَا تَفْعَلُونَ ()

[الانفيطار: ١٠-١٢]

(And indeed, [appointed] over you are keepers, noble and recording; they know whatever you do.) (Qur'an 82: 10-12)

Parents should teach young people that each person has two recording angels, one on the left and one on the right. The angel on the

⁷ Bukhari and Muslim

left records evil actions and intentions, and the angel on the right records good deeds and intentions. This is evident in the Qur'an:

(When the two receivers [recording angels] receive, seated on the right and on the left. He [a person] does not utter any word except that with him is an observer prepared [to record].) (Qur'an 50: 17-18)

It is important that young people recognize that angels are also aware of the intentions and the state of the heart of the human. The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said: «Allah, the Mighty and Majestic, has said: When My slave wants to do an evil action, you should not write it down until he does it. If he does it, then write down the equivalent of it. If he does not do it for My sake, then write it down as a good action for him. If he wants to do a good action and does not do it, then write it down as a good action. If he does do it, then write down ten to seven hundred of its like.»⁸ This hadith makes it clear that Allah has given the angels the ability to see and understand the intentions behind the actions of human beings. For young people, this should make them aware that it is not only their deeds that are taken into account, but also their thoughts and intentions.

There are guardian angels that protect humans from whatever has not been decreed for them. They are stationed in front and behind each person.

(الرّعد: ١١] (الرّعد: ١١] (الرّعد: ١٢] (الرّعد: ١٢] (الرّعد: ١١] (الرّعد: ١١] (الرّعد: ١١] (الرّعد: ٢٥] (For him [each one] are successive [angels] before and behind him who protect him by the decree of Allah...) (Qur'an 13: 11) Allah () also indicates,

⁸ Bukhari

هُوَهُوَ ٱلْقَاهِرُ فَوَقَ عِبَادِهِ ۖ وَيُرْسِلُ عَلَيْكُمْ حَفَظَةً ... () () (الأنعام: ٢١] (And He is the subjugator over His servants, and He sends over you guardian-angels...)

These guardian angels have been given the task of protecting the individual until the decree of Allah arrives; then they withdraw from him in order to allow the decree to reach him. They are present until the time of death.⁹

Allah has also appointed an angel as a companion from for each person. The Prophet (\cong) said: «There is no one among you but there has been appointed for him one companion from among the jinn and another from among the angels...»¹⁰ This companion encourages the human to worship Allah, to follow the path of truth and righteousness, and to avoid evil and corruption. The Prophet (\cong) said: «The devil has a hold over the son of Adam, and the angel has a hold over him. The hold of the devil tempts a person to do evil and deny the truth. The hold of the angel encourages a person to do good and believe in the truth...»¹¹

Angels supplicate to Allah to send blessings and forgiveness upon the believers. Allah ($\frac{3}{36}$) says,

﴿ هُوَ ٱلَّذِى يُصَلِّى عَلَيْكُمْ وَمَلَتَبٍكَتُهُ لِيُخْرِعَكُمُ مِّنَ ٱلظُّلُمَتِ إِلَى ٱلنُّوْزِ وَكَانَ بِٱلْمُؤْمِنِينَ رَحِيمًا ٢ [الأحزَاب: ٤٣]

(It is He who confers blessings upon you, and His angels [ask Him to do so] that He may bring you out from darkness into the light; and ever is He, to the believers, merciful.) (Qur'an 33: 43)

⁹ Al-Ashgar, U. S. (2002), *The World of the Noble Angels*, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: International Islamic Publishing House, pp. 58-59

¹⁰ Muslim

¹¹ Al-Ashgar, (2002), *The World of the Noble Angels*, pp. 66-67; hadith narrated by At-Tirmidhi, An-Nasâ'i, and Ibn Hibbân

When the angels pray for the believers, this assists them in avoiding disbelief and sin and guides them to the light which is the path of Islam.¹² Children should feel comforted knowing that Allah in His mercy has provided such assistance.

Children should be taught that angels will accompany them at the time of their death. The Angel of Death and his helpers are entrusted with the task of taking the soul of each human at the time of death. Allah (3) mentions,

أَنْ يَنُوَفَنَكُم مَلَكُ ٱلْمَوْتِ ٱلَّذِى أَكْلَ بِكُمْ ثُعَرَ إِلَى رَبِيكُمْ تُرْجَعُونَ ٢٠٠٠

[السَّجدَة: ١١]

(Say: The angel of death, who has been entrusted with you, will take you. Then to your Lord you will be returned.) (Qur'an 32: 11)

For the hypocrites and disbelievers, the process will be difficult and repulsive.

[۲۷ : اَمَحَمَّد: ۲۷] (Then how [will it be] when the angels take them in death, striking their faces and their backs? For the believers, it will be pleasant.

الَّذِينَ نَنُوَفَنَهُمُ ٱلْمَلَيَّكُةُ طَيِّبِينٌ يَقُولُونَ سَلَنُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ ٱدْخُلُوا ٱلْجَنَّةَ بِمَا كُنتُمُ تَعْمَلُونَ (٢)

(The ones whom the angels take in death, [being] good and pure; [the angels] will say: Peace be upon you. Enter Paradise for what you used to do.) (Qur'an 16: 32)

The appearance of the angels at death is also determined by the condition of the soul at that time. If the person is evil, the angels take

¹² Al-Ashgar, (2002), The World of the Noble Angels, pp. 80-83

on an ugly appearance, a disgusting odour, and a harsh demeanour. For the doer of good, they have the best appearance, the most beautiful form and smell, and will bring the good news in a pleasant manner.

The angels Munkar and Nakeer are in charge of the soul during the trial in the grave. They will question the soul in the grave and the final outcome in the hereafter will be made known. The Prophet (38) said: «When someone is placed in his grave, and his companions turn and go, and he can still hear the tread of their sandals, two angels come to him and make him sit up and say to him: What do you say about this man, Muhammad, may Allah bless him and grant him peace? He will say: I testify that he is the slave of Allah and His Messenger. It will be said: Look at your place in the Fire. Allah has given you, in exchange for it, a place in the Garden. The unbeliever or hypocrite will say: I do not know. I used to say what everyone else said. He will be told: You neither understood nor followed the guidance. Then he will be hit between the ears with an iron hammer and will cry out with a cry which is heard by everything near him except people and jinn.»¹³ On the Day of Resurrection, the Angel Isrâfeel will blow the trumpet to resurrect all the dead from their graves.

Children should be reminded to say "As-salâmu alaykum" (peace be with you) when they enter the home, since angels are present and should be greeted. They should understand that reading the Qur'an and studying Islam within the home are very important since they bring the blessings of the angels to the occupants of the home. Attending the mosque for the same purpose is especially beneficial. The Prophet (\cong) said: «Whenever people gather in one of the houses of Allah, reciting the Book of Allah and studying it together, tranquillity descends upon them, mercy encompasses them,

¹³ Bukhari

the angels surround them, and Allah mentions them to those who are with Him.»¹⁴ Angels of mercy also send blessings on those who visit a sick person.

Ramadan is a particularly opportune time to have discussions about angels. On the Night of Decree,¹⁵ the angels come down from the heavens with the decrees of Allah, as Allah (3) describes,

(The Night of Decree is better than a thousand months. The angels and the Spirit [Gabriel] descend therein by permission of their Lord for every matter.) (Qur'an 97: 3-4)

This means that they bring down the decree for everything destined to occur in the following year; another important task of the angels of which we should make our children aware.

It is important for children to learn that angels do not enter a house in which there is a statue, a picture (image of an animate being) or a dog. The Prophet (\ge) said: «The angels do not enter a house in which there is a dog or an image.»¹⁶ This will help them to understand the reason that pictures and figurines of people and animals are not supposed to be displayed in Muslim homes and why dogs are to be kept out, and assist them in explaining this issue to others who may lack the understanding.

Relating stories and reminding children of their various roles will make angels 'real' or true for them and solidify their faith in this

¹⁴ Muslim and Abu Dâwood

¹⁵ The Night of Decree (or Night of Power), or *Laylat al-Qadr* in Arabic, is one of the last ten nights of the month of Ramadan. Worship and other forms of good deeds performed on this night are rewarded as if one had been performing them for a thousand months.

unseen aspect. Young children, in particular, may not completely comprehend something that is invisible, but they begin to imagine in their minds. At this age they also trust what their parents tell them, so there is usually little uncertainty. There may be questions and curiosity, but acceptance comes naturally. We must be certain to convey to them that we may not be able to see angels, but we believe in them because of the many verses of Qur'an and the hadiths of the Prophet (2). Part of faith is to believe in things even though we cannot see them with our own eyes, and revelation has been preserved to prove their existence beyond a shadow of a doubt.

For true connection to the angels and fulfilment of this aspect of eemân, children must develop a deep love for them, knowing that angels are obedient and submissive servants of Allah. As we have a special affection for the believers in this world due to their closeness to Allah, we must also love the angels for the same reason. The angels themselves have a fondness and loyalty to the genuine believers: they pray to Allah for them, ask for their forgiveness, and support them in this life and the hereafter.

Children must come to appreciate that the angels are part of Allah's plan and organization in the universe and they are intricately interwoven into their lives. There is great benefit from this belief in that it brings comfort to the heart and soul, guides to superior actions, and provides the strength to be devout and faithful. It helps one to recognize the majesty of Allah as reflected in the creation of the angels. It increases one's gratefulness to Allah, to know that He fashioned these creatures to support, protect, and benefit the believers. They bring light, peace, and tranquillity and remove worry, grief, and despair. Angels are truly another of the wonderful and amazing blessings of Allah.
Chapter 8 The Prophets and Messengers

وَمَا نُرْسِلُ ٱلْمُرْسَلِينَ إِلَا مُبَشِّرِينَ وَمُنذِرِينَ ... (أَنَّ) (الكهف: ٥٦] (الكهف: ٥٦] (الكهف: ٥٦] (And We send not the messengers except as bringers of good tidings and warners...)

Belief in the Prophets and Messengers

Belief in prophets and messengers is another of the fundamental principles of Muslims and a component of eemân. Regarding the prophets, Allah (ﷺ) mentions,

وَقُلْ ءَامَنَكَا بِٱللَّهِ وَمَآ أُنْزِلَ عَلَيْنَا وَمَآ أُنزِلَ عَلَىّ إِبْرَهِيمَ وَإِسْمَاعِيلَ وَإِسْحَقَ وَيَعْقُوبَ وَٱلْأَسْبَاطِ وَمَآ أُوتِيَ مُوسَىٰ وَعِيسَىٰ وَٱلنَّبِيُّونَ مِن تَبِّهِمْ لَا نُفَرِّقُ بَيْنَ أَحَكِ مِنْهُمْ وَنَحْنُ لَهُ, مُسْلِمُونَ (٥)

(Say: We have believed in Allah and in what was revealed to us and what was revealed to Abraham, Ishmael, Isaac, Jacob, and the Descendants,¹ and in what was given to Moses and Jesus, and to the prophets from their Lord. We make no distinction between any of them, and we are Muslims [submitting] to Him.) (Qur'an 3: 84)

Allah sent a warner to each nation throughout human history, which means that the number of prophets that have come to carry out Allah's mission must be in the hundreds, if not more.

¹ The twelve tribes of Israel descended from Jacob

(... And there was no nation but that there had passed within it a warner.) (Qur'an 35: 24)

Twenty-five prophets and messengers are mentioned by name in the Qur'an: Adam, Idrees (Enoch), Nooḥ (Noah), Hood, Ṣâliḥ, Looṭ (Lot), Ibrâheem (Abraham), Ismâ'eel (Ishmael), Is-ḥâq (Isaac), Ya'qoob (Jacob), Yoosuf (Joseph), Shu'ayb, Hâroon (Aaron), Moosâ (Moses), Dâwood (David), Sulaymân (Solomon), Ayyoob (Job), Dhul-Kifl (Ezekiel), Yoonus (Jonah), Ilyâs (Elias), Al-Yas'a (Elisha), Zakariyah (Zachariah), Yaḥyâ (John), 'Eesâ (Jesus), and Muhammad, peace be upon them all.

If a person does not believe in Allah's prophets and messengers, he or she becomes a disbeliever. Allah (ﷺ) says,

﴿إِنَّ ٱلَّذِينَ يَكْفُرُونَ بِاللَّهِ وَرُسُلِهِ، وَيُرِيدُونَ أَن يُفَرِّقُوا بَيْنَ ٱللَّهِ وَرُسُلِهِ، وَيَقُولُونَ نُؤْمِنُ بِبَعْضٍ وَنَصْفُرُ بِبَعْضٍ وَيُرِيدُونَ أَن يَتَّخِذُوا بَيْنَ ذَلِكَ سَبِيلًا ﴿ أُوْلَتِهِكَ هُمُ ٱلْكَفِرُونَ حَقًاً ... ٢

(Indeed, those who disbelieve in Allah and His messengers and wish to discriminate between Allah and His messengers and say: We believe in some and disbelieve in others and wish to adopt a way in between— Those are the disbelievers, truly...) (Qur'an 4: 150-151)

To disbelieve in even one prophet is equated with disbelieving in all of them. This is due to the fact that to deny the prophets and messengers is to reject their teachings, which is equated with denial of the source of the teachings, the Creator. This leads to failure to achieve the true servitude to Allah that has been enjoined upon humans.

As human beings, we need the messengers and their teachings in order to reform our hearts, enlighten our souls, and guide our minds. We need the messengers in order to give direction to our lives, to connect us to life and to the Creator of life. The scholar Ibn al-Qayyim, explaining the need that people have for the messengers and their teachings, wrote:

Hence we know that above all else, people need to know about the Messenger and the message he brought, to believe what he told us and to obey what he enjoined upon us, because there is no way to attain happiness and success, either in this world or in the hereafter, except at the hands of the messengers. There is no way to know about good and evil in detail except through them. No one can attain the pleasure of Allah at all except through following their teachings. Good words, deeds and attitudes can only be attained through their guidance and the teachings they brought. They are the standard example: attitudes, manners and actions are to be measured against their words and attitudes. Following them makes the people of misguidance stand out. So our need for them is greater than the body's need for the soul, or the need of the eye for light, or the soul's need for its life. Whatever need or necessity you may think of, a person's need for the messengers is many times greater... Because a person's happiness in this world and in the hereafter is connected to the guidance of the Prophet (3), then each person who is sincere with himself and who wants to attain salvation and happiness has to know enough about his (the Prophet's) teachings, biography and way to ensure that he is not one of those who are ignorant of him so that he be included among his followers and his party.²

One aspect of belief in the prophets is to accept that they all called to one religion — the religion of Islam. Allah ($\frac{1}{26}$) says,

﴿إِنَّ ٱلَّذِينَ عِندَ ٱللَّهِ ٱلْإِسْلَنَمُ ... ٢

² From Zâd al-Ma'âd by Ibn al-Qayyim al-Jawziyyah, summarized in Al-Ashgar, U. S. (2002), *The Messengers and the Messages in the Light of the Qur'an and Sunnah*, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: International Islamic Publishing House, pp. 55-56

(Indeed, the religion according to Allah is Islam...) (Qur'an 3: 19)

There are several verses that illustrate the fact that all prophets were Muslim. Noah ('Alayhi as-salâm — Peace be upon him) said,

(س: ان أَجْرِىَ إِلَّا عَلَى اللَّهُ وَأُمِرْتُ أَنَّ أَكُوْنَ مِنَ ٱلْمُسْلِمِينَ () (اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ وَأُمِرْتُ أَنَّ أَكُوْنَ مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ () (اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ وَأُمِرْتُ أَنَّ أَكُوْنَ مِنَ المُسْلِمِينَ () (س: ۲۷] (... My reward is only from Allah, and I have been commanded to be of the Muslims [those who submit to Allah]. (Qur'an 10: 72) (Qur'an 10: 72) With reference to Abraham () (), Allah () () tells us,

وَإِذْ قَالَ لَهُ رَبُّهُ آَسَلِمٌ قَالَ أَسْلَمْتُ لِرَبِّ ٱلْعَلَمِينَ () () (البَقَرَة: ١٣١] (When his Lord said to him: Submit, he said: I have submitted [in Islam] to the Lord of the worlds. (Qur'an 2: 131)

وَقَالَ مُوسَىٰ يَقَوْمِ إِن كُنْهُمْ ءَامَنْهُم بِأَلَلَهِ فَعَلَيْهِ تَوَكَّلُوا إِن كُنْهُم مُسْلِمِينَ (٥)

(And Moses said: O my people, if you have believed in Allah, then rely upon Him, if you should be Muslims [submitting to Him].) (Qur'an 10: 84)

مَنْ فَلَمَّآ أَحَسَّ عِيسَى مِنْهُمُ ٱلْكُفْرَ قَالَ مَنْ أَنصَارِتَ إِلَى ٱللَّهِ قَالَتَ ٱلْحَوَارِيُّونَ نَحْنُ أَنصَارُ ٱللَّهِ ءَامَنَا بِٱللَّهِ وَٱشْهَتْدْ بِأَنَّا مُسْلِمُونَ ٢٠٥] [آل عِمرَان: ٢٠] (The disciples [of Jesus] said: We are supporters for Allah. We have

believed in Allah and testify that we are Muslims [submitting to (Qur'an 3: 52)

In essence, 'Islam' or 'submission' was a common word spoken by Allah's prophets from ancient times until now.

The final prophet and messenger is Muhammad (ﷺ). He is the Seal of the Prophets, as there will be no other prophet after him.

[الأحزَاب: ٤٠]

﴿... وَلَكِن زَسُولَ ٱللَّهِ وَخَاتَمَ ٱلنَّبِيِّتَنُّ ... ﴿ ﴾

(... but [he is] the Messenger of Allah and the seal [last] of the prophets...) (Qur'an 33: 40)

While other prophets were sent to specific nations or groups and for particular eras in human history, Prophet Muhammad (ﷺ) was the only prophet sent to all of humankind until the end of time. The sacred Book, the Qur'an, given to Prophet Muhammad (ﷺ) will be preserved until the Day of Judgment.

For this reason Prophet Muhammad (\cong) has a special status. He said: «I will be the leader of the children of Adam on the Day of Resurrection, and I am not boasting. In my hand there will be a banner of praise, and I am not boasting. There will be no prophet that day, Adam or anyone else, but he will be beneath my banner. I will be the first one to intercede and the first one to be called upon to intercede, and I am not boasting.»³ He (\cong) was given special favours and blessings from Allah. The Prophet (\cong) said: «I have been favoured over the prophets with six things: I have been given concise speech; I have been supported with fear (of me, cast in the hearts of my enemies); the spoils of war have been made permissible to me; the earth has been made a means of purification and a place of worship for me; I have been sent to all humanity; and I am the last of the prophets.»⁴

Connecting children to the Prophets and Messengers

As children are connected to angels through storytelling, the same can be utilized in respect to the prophets. There are many authenticated stories from Qur'an and the Hadith regarding the prophets, as well as an abundance of children's books on these stories. Learning can also be made fun by the use of games, computer programs, and so forth. Children should regularly be exposed to this

³ A sound hadith narrated by Ahmad, At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Mâjah

⁴ Muslim and At-Tirmidhi

information and be taught to love the prophets, and in particular, Prophet Muhammad (ﷺ). Children should understand that prophets are a mercy to humankind, for they bring the message of Allah and Islam to the people. They are special individuals who were chosen by Allah for this noble mission. They provide the most excellent example of how to live in this life and are the ideal role models for our children.

Children will listen with excitement and curiosity to the story of Noah (\circledast) and the great flood, the story of Abraham (\circledast) and how he was thrown into the fire for breaking the idols, the story of Moses (\circledast) and how he was saved from Pharaoh and his soldiers, the story of Jonah (\circledast) in the stomach of the whale, the story of Joseph (\circledast) and his eventual reunion with his family, the story of Jesus (\circledast) and his miraculous birth, and so many other narratives that are all the more fascinating because the Qur'an has documented them and attested to their truth.

Special love and affection should be given to Prophet Muhammad ($\underline{\circledast}$) by the believers. Loving the Prophet ($\underline{\circledast}$) is one of the obligatory duties in Islam. Children should be taught to love the Prophet ($\underline{\circledast}$) more than their own selves and everything else in this world. Their love for him should be second only to love for Allah. Allah ($\underline{\ast}$) informs us,

النَّبِيُّ أَوْلَى بِالْمُؤْمِنِينَ مِنْ أَنْفُسِمٍمٌ ... (٢)(The Prophet is more worthy of the believers than themselves...)(Qur'an 33: 6)

The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «None of you believes until he loves me . more than he loves his own father, his own child, and all other people.»⁵ 'Abdullâh ibn Hishâm said: «We were with the Prophet and

⁵ Bukhari and Muslim

he was holding the hand of 'Umar ibn al-Khattâb (366). 'Umar said: Messenger of Allah, you are dearer to me than everything except my own self. The Messenger (366) said: No, by Him in Whose hands is my soul, (you will not have complete faith) till I am dearer to you than your own self. 'Umar said: Then, by Allah you are dearer to me than my own self. The Prophet said: Now, 'Umar (now you are a believer).»⁶

A child must understand that the strength of love for the Messenger is connected to his or her level of eemân. When his or her faith increases, his or her love for the Prophet ($\underline{\circledast}$) increases, and vice versa. Love for the Prophet Muhammad ($\underline{\ast}$) is thus a measure of one's faith and inner conviction. This love for the Prophet ($\underline{\ast}$) is an act of obedience to Allah and a means of drawing closer to Him.

As part of this love and respect, children should become familiar with the etiquette of sending blessings upon the Prophet ($\underline{\mathbb{R}}$) whenever his name is mentioned. This is an order from Allah. He ($\underline{\mathbb{R}}$) declares,

(Indeed, Allah confers blessing upon the Prophet, and His angels [ask Him to do so]. O you who have believed, ask [Allah to confer] blessing upon him and ask [Allah to grant him] peace.) (Qur'an 33: 56)

In this verse, Allah and His angels are honouring the Prophet (ﷺ), and Allah requests the believers to do the same. For this reason, we continually send prayers and blessings upon him.

Another aspect of loving the Prophet $(\underline{*})$ is to follow his example. Allah $(\underline{*})$ indicates,

⁶ Bukhari

وَقُلْ إِن كُنتُمْ تُجِبُونَ آللَهَ فَأَنَّبِعُونِي يُحْبِبْكُمُ ٱللَّهُ وَيَغْفِرْ لَكُمْ ذُنُوبَكُرُ وَٱللَّهُ عَفُورٌ رَحِيكُ ٢

(Say [O Muhammad]: If you should love Allah, then follow me, [so] Allah will love you and forgive you your sins. And Allah is Forgiving and Merciful.) (Qur'an 3: 31)

To follow means to love, to honour, to obey, and to emulate. The best model for people in all matters is Prophet Muhammad ($\underline{\mathscr{B}}$). It is our duty as parents to instruct our children in his teachings and the importance of obeying him. Allah ($\underline{\mathscr{B}}$) declares,

﴿يَتَأَيُّهَا ٱلَذِينَ ءَامَنُوَا أَطِيعُوا ٱللَّهَ وَأَطِيعُوا ٱلرَّسُولَ وَأُوْلِ ٱلأَمَّرِ مِنكُمَّ فَإِن نَنزَعْنُمُ فِي شَىْءِ فَرُدُّوهُ إِلَى ٱللَّهِ وَٱلرَّسُولِ إِن كُنُهُمْ تُؤْمِنُونَ بِٱللَّهِ وَٱلْيَوْمِ ٱلْآخِرِ ذَلِكَ خَيْرٌ وَأَحْسَنُ تَأْوِيلًا (٢)

O you who have believed, obey Allah and obey the Messenger and those in authority among you. And if you disagree over anything, refer it to Allah and the Messenger, if you should believe in Allah and the Last Day. That is the best [way] and best in result. (Qur'an 4: 59)

﴿ قُلْ إِن كُنتُمْ تُحِبُونَ آللَهَ فَأَنَّبِعُونِي يُحْبِبَكُمُ ٱللَّهُ وَيَغْفِرْ لَكُمْ ذُنُوبَكُرُ وَٱللَّهُ عَقُولُ زَجِيدٌ 🗊 ک [آل عِمرَان: ۳۱]

(Say [O Muhammad]: If you should love Allah, then follow me, [so] Allah will love you and forgive you your sins. And Allah is Forgiving and Merciful.

Several verses in the Qur'an may be used to highlight this important aspect of Islam. Obedience to the Prophet (ﷺ) is, in ' actuality, obedience to Allah (ﷺ).

النِّسَاء: ٨٠] (النِّسَاء: ٨٠] (آلَكُ سُولَ فَقَدْ أَطَاعَ ٱللَّهُ ... (٢) (النِّسَاء: ٨٠] (النِّسَاء: ٨٠) (He who obeys the Messenger has obeyed Allah...) (Qur'an 4: 80)

In addition, the Prophet (\cong) said: «Whoever obeys me, obeys Allah. Whoever disobeys me, disobeys Allah.»⁷

In practical terms, children should be taught the Sunnah of the Prophet (22) in all areas of life. This can be accomplished through learning the hadiths of the Prophet (22). Children should be encouraged to memorize hadiths along with the Qur'an. This can begin at an early age with short hadiths. The meaning of the hadiths must also be emphasized. The Prophet's Sunnah should be followed in word and deed so that it is the path they follow throughout their entire lives. His example should be implemented in all aspects of lifeeating, sleeping, praying, working, and even playing. Appropriate supplications should be memorized for the various occasions. Children should be proudly reminded that they are following the Prophet's example when they engage in these particular behaviours and supplications. The Prophet (22) should be their ideal role model.

When decisions need to be made or problems are encountered, children should be encouraged to research the Qur'an and the Hadith for possible answers or solutions. They are our best guidance for how to deal with various problems and issues in our lives. There must be trust that following these sources is the best thing for this life. If the answers are not there, there may at least be some indication as to the direction that should be taken. As with the Sunnah, the prayer for guidance should be made when important decisions are made.

In order to instil love of the Prophet (ﷺ) in children, it will be indispensable for them to learn about his seerah, or life story. Regular sessions or family times should be established for this purpose, or it can be integrated into a weekly home study circle. There are many books available for children in the Arabic and English languages, as well as in other languages. Appropriate material should be selected based upon the ages and developmental levels of the children.

⁷ Bukhari and Muslim

Through the seerah, they will discover the character and traits of this great man, the message that he conveyed, and the ways in which he sacrificed for the sake of the community. They will learn of his bravery and courage as he strived to defend and propagate Islam. They will hear about the numerous miracles bestowed by Allah upon him as an indication of his role as prophet of Islam. They will discover how the Companions of the Prophet (2), even young Companions, responded to his call, obeyed his commands, and fought those who attempted to harm him and the message. This knowledge will increase their fondness, attachment, and belief in him. It will bring them closer to him and increase their desire to follow his example in life. It will enhance their connection to the Qur'an and the meanings of the Qur'an, as the Hadith and the Sunnah provide more detailed explanation of our holy Book. In essence, it will stir up their emotions and have a wondrous effect upon their souls and their eemân.

Chapter 9 The Books and Revelation

 \bigcirc he Prophet (\bigotimes) said: «The best discourse is the Book of Allah and the best example is the example of Muhammad.»¹

Belief in the books and revelation

The fourth basic principle of faith is to believe with conviction in the messages that Allah revealed through His prophets and messengers. Allah ($\frac{3}{36}$) tells us,

﴿قُولُواْ ءَامَنَنَا بِاللَّهِ وَمَآ أُنزِلَ إِلَيْنَا وَمَآ أُنزِلَ إِلَىٰ إِبْرَهِـّمَ وَاِسْمَعِيلَ وَاِسْحَقَ وَيَعْقُوبَ وَٱلْأَسْبَاطِ وَمَآ أُوتِى مُوسَىٰ وَعِيسَىٰ وَمَآ أُوتِى ٱلنَّبِيُّونَ مِن زَبِّهِمْ لَا نُفَرِقُ بَيْنَ أَحَدِ مِنْهُمْ وَنَحْنُ لَهُ مُسْلِمُونَ ٢

(Say [O believers]: We have believed in Allah and what has been revealed to us and what has been revealed to Abraham and Ishmael and Isaac and Jacob and the Descendants, and what was given to Moses and Jesus and what was given to the prophets from their Lord. We make no distinction between any of them, and we are Muslims [in submission] to Him.) (Qur'an 2: 136)

... وَقُلْ ءَامَنتُ بِمَا أَنزَلَ ٱللَهُ مِن كِتَنبٍ وَأُمِرْتُ لِأَعْدِلَ بَيْنَكُمْ ... ٢

(... Say: I have believed in what Allah has revealed of scripture [the Qur'an], and I have been commanded to do justice among you...) (Qur'an 42: 15) The messages brought to people by the prophets and messengers were all revealed from Allah. The essence of the calls of all messengers and messages was to tawheed — to the worship of Allah alone with no partner or associate. This is clearly detailed in the Qur'an. Allah (ﷺ) indicates,

(And We did not send before you any messenger] except that We revealed to him: There is none worthy of worship except Me, so worship Me.) (Qur'an 21: 25)

The stories of the prophets illustrate this point further:

﴿ ... فَقَالَ يَنَقَوْمِ ٱعْبُدُوا ٱللَّهَ مَا لَكُم مِّنْ إِلَهٍ غَيْرُهُ ... ٢

(... [Prophet Noah] said: 'O my people, worship Allah; you have no deity other than Him...') (Qur'an 7: 59)

(And [Prophet] Abraham said to his people: 'Worship Allah, and fear Him. That is best for you if you should know.' (Qur'an 29: 16)

الأعرَاف: ٢٥] ... هُودًا قَالَ يَنَقَوْمِ أَعْبُدُوا أَلَنَهَ مَا لَكُمْ مِنْ إِلَىمٍ غَيْرُهُ مَنْ ... (٢٥) [الأعرَاف: ٢٥] ... (٢٥) [Prophet] Hood said: 'O my people, worship Allah; you have no deity other than Him... (*Qur'an 7: 65*)

[الأعرَاف: ٧٣]

(... [Prophet] Sâliḥ said: 'O my people, worship Allah; you have no deity other than Him...') (Qur'an 7: 73)

Revelation also demonstrates to humans the true path and way of life that is pleasing to Allah. When one knows Allah, there is a desire to know how to please Him and avoid His displeasure. This is . mentioned each day in the prayer,

Guide us to the straight path — the path of those upon whom You have bestowed favour, not of those who have evoked [Your] anger or of those who are astray.

This leads to proper behaviour, manners, and character, and develops a complete and balanced Islamic personality.

As a component of belief, a believer accepts as true what was said in previously revealed messages, and that ruling according to them was obligatory upon the nations to whom the books were sent. However, s/he does not believe in the existing books held sacred by the Jews and Christians, due to numerous changes and distortions that have been introduced by people over the centuries. In addition, previous messages were connected to particular times and groups, and thus their rulings were only temporary. Allah did not guarantee to preserve them; rather He entrusted this task to the rabbis and priests of each nation. They were unable to preserve their books and betrayed their trust by altering and distorting their content.

The sacred book of Muslims, the Qur'an, is the final message that encompasses or abrogates that which was written in the Torah and the Gospels. The Qur'an is a general message for all of humankind since Muhammad (ﷺ) is the Seal of the Prophets. It is distinct from other messages in that it is suitable for all times and places, as it transcends circumstances and eras. It is addressed to human nature, which does not alter or change, by providing holistic and general rulings as well as detailed laws. Every aspect of life is dealt with in one way or another.



And We have sent down to you the Book as clarification for all things and as guidance and mercy and good tidings for the Muslims. (Qur'an 16: 89)

A mu'min not only believes in the Qur'an as a comprehensive guide, but also follows its commandments and heeds its prohibitions.

Unlike previous scriptures, Allah has guaranteed to preserve the Qur'an. He did not entrust this task to human beings, but rather promised that He Himself would protect it. Allah ($\frac{1}{36}$) says,

﴿ إِنَّا نَحْنُ نُزَّلْنَا ٱلذِّكْرَ وَإِنَّا لَهُ, لَحَفِظُونَ ٢

(Indeed, it is We Who sent down the message [the Qur'an], and indeed, We will be its guardian.) (Qur'an 15: 9)

A testimony to the truth of this is that the Qur'an has been preserved in both written and oral form. The written book has never been altered, and millions of people around the world have memorized the Qur'an by heart.

The purpose and goals of revelation include teaching the creation about Allah, His oneness and His attributes. It answers the basic questions of humans such as "Who is my Creator and God?", "What is my relationship to Him?" and "Why did He create me?" This knowledge can never be learned from any other source. The more one knows about Allah, the more one will love and fear Allah, while hoping for His all-encompassing mercy and forgiveness.

·Connecting children to revelation

Children should learn to love the Qur'an, Allah's speech and revelation to humankind. This love is connected to one's love for Allah and His Messenger. 'Abdullâh ibn Mas'ood said, «Whoever wishes to love Allah and His Messenger should read the Qur'an.»² Connection with the Qur'an on a continual basis is one of the main . paths to development of love, fear, and hope in Allah; it is one of the keys to nurturing eemân.

Children should have the correct belief that the Qur'an is revealed from Allah and that it is the speech and word of Allah. They should have no doubt that everything stated in the Qur'an is true and perfect. They should be pleased with it and submit to it completely. They must understand that to ridicule, doubt or reject even one verse of the Qur'an is a very serious matter. In fact, rejection of one verse of the Qur'an entails negation of belief in Allah's revelation.

Respect and reverence for the Qur'an should be taught from a young age, through modelling and direct instruction. Children should learn the appropriate manners for reciting the Qur'an. This includes choosing the proper time for recitation, particularly when one will be free from distractions and interruptions. A proper place and atmosphere for recitation should also be chosen, such as a special place in the home where one is less likely to be disturbed. They should sit in a way that gives respect to the Qur'an, including facing the direction for prayer. It would be appropriate to make ablution and the proper intention before reading. And one should always seek refuge from Satan, as mentioned in the Book:

﴿ وَإِذَا قَرْأَتَ ٱلْقُرُوانَ فَاسْتَعِذْ بِٱللَّهِ مِنَ ٱلشَّيْطَنِ ٱلرَّحِمِ (٢٩)(So when you recite the Qur'an, [first] seek refuge in Allah fromSatan, the expelled [from His mercy].(Qur'an 16: 98)

Love of the Qur'an must not be only with the heart and tongue, but also shown in actions toward the Qur'an. Children should recite, study, and memorize the Qur'an on a regular basis. Memorization of

² A reliable hadith narrated by Al-Bayhaqi and Abu Nu'aym

the Qur'an may begin as young as two or three years of age with small chapters. This should not be carried out as a chore, but rather as an opportunity to get closer to Allah and to elevate one's status in this life and the hereafter. Appropriate hadiths regarding the eminence bestowed upon those who exert effort toward the Qur'an should be shared with children. This will provide encouragement and enhance their self-esteem. The Messenger of Allah (\cong) said: «The best amongst you is the one who learns the Qur'an and teaches it.»³ He also said: «A person who recites the Qur'an and masters it by heart will be with the noble righteous scribes (in heaven). And if such a person exerts himself to learn the Qur'an by heart, and recites it with great difficulty, will have a double reward.»⁴

The Prophet ($\underset{k=1}{\overset{(k=1)}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1)}{\overset{(k=1}\\{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}\\(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}\\(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}{\overset{(k=1}$

Along with recitation and memorization, children should begin to study explanations of the Qur'an to comprehend the meaning of the verses. Recitation has limited benefit without the understanding that must accompany it. It is for this reason that it should be read under the most appropriate circumstances for learning. The purpose of reading the Qur'an is to ponder over it and to absorb the wisdom and guidance that it contains, as Allah (ﷺ) mentions,

³ Bukhari

⁴ Bukhari

⁵ Bukhari and Abu Dâwood

[محَمَّد: ٢٤]

أَفَلَا يَتَدَبِّرُونَ ٱلْقُرْءَانَ أَمْ عَلَى قُلُوبٍ أَفْفَالُهَمَ ()

(Then do they not reflect upon the Qur'an, or are there locks upon . [their] hearts?) (Qur'an 47: 24)

Some scholars even say that reading less of the Qur'an with concentration and understanding is better than reading more while not comprehending. The goal should be to understand, believe completely, and then apply it in one's life.

It must be made clear that the Qur'an should be given full attention while reading, as this was the method of the Prophet (2). When the reader comes across a verse regarding a matter or an order that they have not fulfilled properly, they should ask Allah for forgiveness and assistance to improve in this aspect. When s/he reads a verse concerning Allah's mercy, s/he should respond by asking Allah for such mercy. When Allah's punishment is mentioned, s/he should seek refuge in Allah from that. Reading in this manner will increase faith in one's heart.

﴿ إِنَّمَا ٱلْمُؤْمِنُونَ ٱلَّذِينَ إِذَا ذَكِرَ ٱللَّهُ وَجِلَتْ قُلُوبُهُمْ وَإِذَا تُلِيَتْ عَلَيْهِمْ ءَايَنُهُ, زَادَتْهُمْ إِيمَانًا وَعَلَىٰ رَبِّهِمْ يَتَوَكَّلُونَ ٢ [الأنفال: ٢]

(The believers are only those who, when Allah is mentioned, their hearts become fearful, and when His verses are recited to them, it increases them in faith; and they rely upon their Lord.) (Qur'an 8: 2)

Learning the Arabic language, of course, is an absolute necessity and an obligation upon parents to teach their children. A person can never truly connect with the Qur'an without knowing and understanding its language of transmission. Translations of the meanings of the Qur'an are useful, but fall short in conveying the beauty, intensity, and magnificence of the Arabic text. Arabic is a unique language that is superior to any other language in the world. It is an honour for Muslims to be blessed with such an incredible gift. A child who learns this language from birth will carry the gift throughout his or her lifetime.

An appropriate place to start with young children in terms of understanding the Qur'an is the stories and parables that are contained within it. The stories of the prophets are simple and easy for young children to follow and appreciate. They are spread throughout the Qur'an in various forms and styles, and thus are easily accessible. The complete chapter of Joseph (Soorat⁶ Yoosuf), for example, is a story in itself, relating events that occurred in the life of Prophet Joseph (). It is a beautiful, poignant account that contains many valuable messages. There are also other stories contained in the Qur'an, such as that of the two men and their gardens in the chapter of the cave (Soorat al-Kahf). It is important that children realize that these stories are not fables, but rather true events that occurred in the history of civilization. As Muslims, we accept and believe these facts since they are preserved in Allah's noble Book. The stories and parables in the Our'an contain lessons for humankind with which children can also begin to become familiar. As they get older, the more profound meanings will become apparent to them, but at least the groundwork will have been laid at a young age.

Children and youth must also be taught to act in accordance with the rulings and guidance of the Qur'an. There is really no benefit if a person does not seek to obey and implement the guidance of the Qur'an in life. It was narrated that Abu 'Abdur-Raḥmân () — said: «The Companions of the Prophet () who used to teach us the Qur'an told us that they would learn ten verses, then they would not move on to the next ten verses until they had learned the knowledge contained therein and how to act upon it. They said: So we learned that knowledge and how to put it into practice.»⁷ This is corroborated

⁶ soorah or soorat: chapter of the Qur'an

⁷ Aḥmad

by an authentic hadith in which 'Abdullâh ibn Mas'ood said, "When one among us learned ten verses, he would not go beyond them until he knew their meanings and he acted upon them." Parents, of course, . provide the best model in this regard.

It must be understood that one's honour and distinction are only found in adhering to and applying the Qur'an. Islam is the path to true happiness in life and the Qur'an is the light that guides the person along the way. The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «O people, certainly I am but a human and soon a messenger from my Lord may come to me and I will respond to his call [and die]. I am leaving among you two heavy things. The first of them is the Book of Allah. It contains guidance and light. The one who misses adhering to it shall go astray. Therefore, take the Book of Allah and cling to it...»⁸

Teaching your child the Qur'an means that you are giving them the greatest blessing of a lifetime. It will set them apart from other people and make them special in the eyes of Allah.

﴿لَقَدْ أَنزَلْنَآ إِلَيْكُمْ حِتَبًا فِيهِ ذِكْرُكُمْ أَفَلَا تَعْقِلُونَ (٢) (الأنبيّاء: ١٠] Indeed, We have sent down for you a Book in which there is your!

honour and distinction [for the one who follows it]. Will you not then understand? (Qur'an 21: 10)

The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «Certainly, Allah has special people among humankind. They asked: O Messenger of Allah, who are they? He replied: They are the people of the Qur'an — they are the people of Allah and specially His.»⁹

The Qur'an will bring peace, tranquillity and Allah's mercy to their lives. The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «Whoever follows a path in order to seek knowledge thereby, Allah will make easy for him, due to it, a

⁸ Ahmad and Muslim

⁹ A sound hadith narrated by Ahmad, Ibn Mâjah, and An-Nasâ'ee

path to paradise. No people gather in a house of Allah, reciting the Book of Allah and studying it among themselves, except that tranquillity descends upon them, mercy covers them, the angels surround them, and Allah makes mention of them to those in His presence...»¹⁰

As Allah mentions in *Soorat ar-Raḥmân*, He bestowed the Qur'an upon humans as a mercy from Himself:

الرَّحْمَنُ ٢ عَلَمَ ٱلْقُرْءَانَ ٢ خَلَتَ ٱلْإِسْكَنَ ٢ ٢ الرَّحْمَن: ١-٣]

(The Most Merciful, taught the Qur'an, created the human.) (Qur'an 55: 1-3)

So too, it is a mercy for parents (from Allah's mercy) to impart this wisdom to their children. In fact, it is the greatest mercy that can be bestowed upon them. The Qur'an will be their guide and protection throughout life, and its constant reminders will have a profound effect upon their eemân and commitment to Islam.

Chapter 10 The Day of Resurrection and the Hereafter

فَوَنُفَخَ فِي ٱلصَّورِ فَإِذَا هُم مِّنَ ٱلْأَجْدَانِ إِلَى رَبِّهِمْ يَنسِلُونَ ﴾ قَالُوا يَوَيَّلْنَا مَنْ بَعَثَنَا مِن مَرْقَدِنَا هُذَا مَا وَعَدَ ٱلرَّحْمَنُ وَصَدَفَ ٱلْمُرْسَلُونَ ﴾ [تِس: ٥١-٥٢] (And the Horn will be blown; and at once from the graves to their Lord they will hasten. They will say: O woe to us! Who has raised us up from our sleeping place? [The reply will be:] This is what the Most Merciful had promised, and the messengers told the truth. (Qur'an 36: 51-52)

Belief in the Day of Resurrection and the hereafter

Belief in the Day of Resurrection and the hereafter is the fifth pillar of eemân. This entails belief in all related concepts, including the trial and questioning in the grave, the torment and bliss of the grave, the resurrection, the gathering, the records, the reckoning, the scale, the fount, the bridge, intercession, paradise and hellfire, and everything that Allah has prepared for those who dwell within them. A Muslim believes in all that is mentioned in the Qur'an and the Hadith regarding these topics, without addition or change.

The Last Day is mentioned in the Qur'an on numerous occasions and in various literary styles. Allah (35) mentions,

المَعْزِبِ وَلَكِنَ ٱلْبِرَ أَن تُوَلُّوا وُجُوهَكُمْ قِبَلَ ٱلْمَشْرِقِ وَٱلْمَغْرِبِ وَلَكِنَ ٱلْبِرَ مَنْ ءَامَنَ بِٱللَّهِ وَٱلْبَوْمِ الْمَعْزِبِ وَلَكِنَ ٱلْبِرَ مَنْ ءَامَنَ بِٱللَّهِ وَٱلْبَوْمِ الْخَرِ وَٱلْمَائِحِةِ وَٱلْمَعْزِبِ وَٱلْبَيْنَانِ اللَّهِ وَالْبَوْمِ الْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَائِهِ وَالْبَوْمِ الْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَائِهِ وَالْبَوْمِ الْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَائِهِ وَالْبَوْمِ الْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَائِهِ وَالْبَوْمِ الْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَائِهِ وَالْبَوْمَ الْمَائِهِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَ أَمَنَ الْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِمِ مَنْ عَامَةَ مَا لَهِ وَالْبَوْمِ الْعَامِ أَنْ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِمِ وَالْمَعْزِمِ وَالْمَعْزِمِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِمِ مَنْ مَا لَمَ وَالْمَعْزِمِ وَالْمَعْزِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَعْزِمِ مَا لَحَامَ مِنْ اللَهِ وَالْبَوْ وَالْمَعْزِي وَالْمَعْذِي وَالْمَعْذِي وَا الْنَامِ اللَّعْذِي وَالْمَائِهِ وَالْمَعْذِي وَالْبَيْتِي وَالْبَعْدَةُ مَائِعَة مَامَ أَبْعَامَ مَعْزِقِ وَالْمَعْزِبِ وَالْمَائِهِ وَالْمَ أَعَامَةِ وَالْعَائِهِ وَالْعَائِهِ وَالْمَعْذِي وَالْمَائِهِ وَالْمَعْذِي وَالْمَعْذِي وَالْمَائِهِ وَالْمَائِينَةِ وَالْمَعْذِي وَالْمَعْذِي وَالْعَائِي وَالْعَائِي وَالْحَامِ مَالَالْحَامِ وَالْعَائِي وَالْمَعْ

(Righteousness is not that you turn your faces toward the east or the west, but [true] righteousness is [in] one who believes in Allah, the Last Day, the angels, the Book, and the prophets...) (Qur'an 2: 177)

... وَمَن يَكْفُرُ بِاللَّهِ وَمَلَتِكَتِهِ، وَكُنْبِهِ، وَرُسُلِهِ، وَالْمُؤْمِ الْأَخِرِ فَقَدْ ضَلَ ضَلَلًا بَعِيدًا (٢)

4... And whoever disbelieves in Allah, His angels, His books, His messengers, and the Last Day has certainly gone far astray.
(Our'an 4: 136)

(Indeed, the Hour is coming — I almost conceal it — so that every soul may be recompensed according to that for which it strives. So do not let one avert you from it who does not believe in it and follows his desire, for you [then] would perish.) (Qur'an 20: 15-16)

A great deal of detail is provided on this subject, which is unique in comparison to other issues of the unseen. The Last Day is referred to by many names, often describing the events that will occur on that day. Some of the names mentioned in the Qur'an, for example, include: Day of Resurrection, Day of Reckoning, Day of Rising, the Striking Hour, the Overwhelming, and so on.

Belief in the Last Day is without doubt. Allah (ﷺ) says,

(Allah — there is no deity except Him. He will surely assemble you for [account on] the Day of Resurrection, about which there is no doubt. And who is more truthful than Allah in statement?)

(Qur'an 4: 87)

﴿زَعَمَ ٱلَّذِينَ كَفَرُوا أَن لَن يُبْعَثُوا قُلْ بَلَى وَرَبِّي لَنُبَعَثُنَّ ثُمَّ لَنُبَوَّنَ بِمَا عَمِلْتُمْ وَذَلِكَ عَلَى ٱللَّهِ [التغابُر: ٧] يَسَرُ 🖾 🕷

(Those who disbelieve have claimed that they will never be resurrected. Say: Yes, by my Lord, you will surely be resurrected; then you will surely be informed of what you did. And that, for Allah, is easy.) (Qur'an 64: 7)

To establish its importance even further, belief in the Last Day is often connected to belief in Allah. Allah (ﷺ) says,

إِنَّا وَلَكِنَ ٱلْبِرَ مَنْ ءَامَنَ بِٱللَّهِ وَٱلْيَوْمِ ٱلْآخِرِ وَٱلْمَلَتِهِكَةِ وَٱلْكِنَكِ وَٱلْبَيْتِنَ ...
 (
)
 البقرة: ١٧٧]

(... but [true] righteousness is [in] one who believes in Allah, the Last Day, the angels, the Book, and the prophets...) (Qur'an 2: 177)

... ذَالِكَ يُوعَظُ بِدِء مَن كَانَ مِنكُمْ يُؤْمِنُ بِٱللَّهِ وَٱلْمَوْمِ ٱلْآخِرُ ... (آت) [البَقَرَة: ٢٣٢]
That is instructed to whoever of you believes in Allah and the Last Day...}

Prophet Shu'ayb () said to his people,

(... O my people, worship Allah and expect the Last Day and do not commit abuse on the earth, spreading corruption.) (Qur'an 29: 36)

There are many such examples in the Qur'an of this connection between belief in Allah and belief in the Last Day.

These reminders of the events of the Day of Resurrection and the life in the hereafter should have an influence on the thoughts and behaviour of the believer. A person who believes that s/he will be judged and brought to account will conduct himself or herself within the constraints of goodness, piety, truth, and justice. This is the reason that, in the Qur'an, righteous deeds are often associated with belief in the Last Day. Allah (ﷺ) mentions, ... وَٱلَّذِينَ يُؤْمِنُونَ بِٱلْآخِرَةِ يُؤْمِنُونَ بِهِ وَهُمْ عَلَى صَلاَتِهِمْ يُحَافِظُونَ ()

(... Those who believe in the Hereafter believe in it, and they are maintaining their prayers.) (Qur'an 6: 92)

﴿لَقَدْ كَانَ لَكُمْ فِيهِمْ أَسَوَةً حَسَنَةً لِمَن كَانَ يَرْجُوا ٱللَهَ وَٱلْيَوْمَ ٱلْآخِرَ وَمَن يَنُوَلَ فَإِنَّ ٱللَّهَ هُوَ ٱلْفَنِيُّ الْحَبِيدُ (٢)>

(There has certainly been for you in them an excellent pattern for anyone whose hope is in Allah and the Last Day. And whoever turns away — then indeed, Allah is the Free of need, the Praiseworthy.) (Qur'an 60: 6)

لَا يَسْتَغَذِنُكَ ٱلَّذِينَ يُؤْمِنُونَ بِاللَّهِ وَٱلْيَوْمِ ٱلْآخِرِ أَن يُجَهِدُوا بِأَمَوْلِهِمْ وَأَنْفُسِمِةً وَٱللَّهُ عَلِمُ بِالْمُنَقِينَ فَي إِنَّمَا يَسْتَعْذِنُكَ ٱلَذِينَ لَا يُؤْمِنُونَ بِاللَّهِ وَٱلْيَوْمِ وَأَنْفُسِمِةً وَٱللَّهُ عَلِمُ بِاللَّهُ عَلِمُ فَاللَّهُ وَٱلْيَوْمِ اللَّهِ وَٱلْيَوْمِ الْآخِرِ وَآرَتَابَتْ قُلُوبُهُمْ فَهُمْ فِي رَيْبِهِمْ يَتَرَدُونَ فَي اللَّهِ وَالْيَوْمِ (Those who believe in Allah and the Last Day would not ask permission of you to be excused from striving [fighting] with their wealth and their lives. And Allah is Knowing of those who fear Him. Only those would ask permission of you who do not believe in Allah and the Last Day and whose hearts have doubted, and they, in their doubt, are hesitating.) (Qur'an 9: 44-45)

This sets the believer apart from the person who denies that s/he will be resurrected and judged for his or her actions in this life; one who is preoccupied by worldly desires and ambitions and his or her own personal interests. Allah (ﷺ) mentions,

﴿بَلْ عِجُبُوا أَن جَآءَهُم مُّنذِرٌ مِنْهُمْ فَقَالَ ٱلْكَفِرُونَ هَٰذَا شَيْءٌ عِجِيبٌ ٢٠ أَءِذَا مِتنا وَكُنَّا نُرَابًا ذَلِكَ رَجْعٌ بَعِيدٌ ٢ [ق: ۲-۳]

(But they wonder that there has come to them a warner from among themselves, and the disbelievers say: This is an amazing thing. When we have died and have become dust, [will we return to life]? That is a distant [unlikely] return.) (Qur'an 50: 2-3)

﴿وَقَالُواْ مَا هِيَ إِلَا حَيَانُنَا الدُّنِيَا نَمُوتُ وَنَحْيَا وَمَا يُهْلِكُمَآ إِلَا الدَّهْرُ وَمَا لَهُم بِذَلِكَ مِنْ عِلْمٍ إِنْ هُمْ إِلَا يَظُنُونَ (﴾﴾

(And they say: There is not but our worldly life; we die and live, and nothing destroys us except time. And they have of that no knowledge; they are only assuming.) (Qur'an 45: 24)

Disbelief in the Day of Resurrection brings misery to the human and leads him or her to deviate from his or her intended path in this life. One who rejects the possibility of resurrection, in effect, disbelieves in all of Allah's Messengers, since all of them had brought an account of these matters. Allah (32) responds to their disbelief in the resurrection and hereafter in the Qur'an:

﴿وَقَالُوا أَءِذَا كُنَّا عِظَمًا وَرُفَنَنَا أَءِنَا لَمَبْعُوثُونَ خَلْقًا جَدِيدًا ٢ \$ قُلْ كُونُوا حِجَارَةً أَوْ حَدِيدًا (٥) أَوْ خَلْقًا مِمَّا يَكْبُرُ فِ صُدُورِكُمْ فَسَيَقُولُونَ مَن يُعِيدُنَا قُلِ ٱلَّذِى فَطَرَكُمْ أَوَّلَ مَرَّقٍ فَسَيُنْغِضُونَ إِلَيْكَ رُءُوسَهُمْ وَيَقُولُونَ مَتَى هُوَّ قُلْ عَسَى آن يَكُونَ قَرِيبًا ٢٠٥)

And they say: When we are bones and crumbled particles, will we [truly] be resurrected as a new creation? Say: Be you stones or iron, or [any] creation of that which is great within your breasts. And they will say: Who will restore us? Say: He who brought you forth the first time. Then they will nod their heads toward you and say: When is that? Say: Perhaps it will be soon. (Qur'an 17: 49-51)

Connecting children to the Day of Resurrection and the hereafter

Children can be connected to belief in the hereafter in a variety of ways. As this topic is mentioned throughout the Qur'an, this would obviously be the proper tool for approaching the subject matter. Children are able to accept and understand the concepts of death, resurrection, and an afterlife, depending on their particular level of development. These are issues that should be discussed freely and comfortably within the home.

In the Qur'an, for example, Allah provides similes of death and resurrection so that the reader may more easily comprehend. This can be particularly effective for children since it ties abstract concepts to something more tangible. By nature children are concrete thinkers, so they are in need of such techniques to assist in their understanding. As they enter adolescence, the ability to appreciate abstract notions becomes apparent.

One of the greatest proofs that Allah uses in the Qur'an for the resurrection after death is that of our own creation. If Allah was able to create us in the first place, it will be even easier to re-create us on the Day of Resurrection. Children should be reminded that their existence and their creation are from Allah and that He will return them to Him. Allah (3) says,

﴿وَيَقُولُ ٱلْإِنسَنُ أَءِذَا مَا مِتُ لَسَوْفَ أُخْرَجُ حَيَّانِ أَوَلَا يَذَكُرُ ٱلْإِنسَنُ أَنَا خَلَقَنَهُ مِن قَبْلُ وَلَمْ يَكُ شَيْغًا (٢) ﴾

(And the [disbelieving] human says: When I have died, am I going to
 be brought forth alive? Does man not remember that We created him before, while he was nothing?)
 (Qur'an 19: 66-67)
 The initial creation of human beings is a reminder of this. Allah (36) says,

﴿ يَتَأَيُّهَا ٱلنَّاسُ إِن كُنتُمْ فِي رَبِّبٍ مِّنَ ٱلْبَعْثِ فَإِنَّا خَلَقَنَكُمُ مِّن تُرَابٍ ثُمَّ مِن تُطْفَةٍ · ثُمَّ مِنْ عَلَقَةٍ ثُمَّ مِن مُضْعَةٍ ثُعَلَّقَةٍ وَغَيْرٍ مُحَلَّقَةٍ لِنُبَيِّنَ لَكُمْ وَنُقِرُّ فِي ٱلأَثِعَامِ مَا نَشَآءُ إِلَىٰ أَجَلِ مُسَمَّى ثُمَّ نُخْرِجُكُمْ طِفْلًا ثُمَّ لِتَبْلُغُوٓا أَشُدَّكُمْ وَمِنكُم مَّن يُنُوَفِّي وَمِنكُم مَّن يُرَدُّ إِلَىٰ أَرْدَلِ ٱلْعُمُرِ لِكَيْلًا يَعْلَمُ مِنْ بَعْدِ عِلْمٍ شَيْئًا وَتَرَى ٱلْأَرْضِ هَامِدَةً فَإِذَا أَنْزَلْنَا عَلَيْهِمَا ٱلْمَاءَ ٱهْتَزَيْتْ وَرَبَتْ وَأَنْبَتَتْ مِن كُبّ زَوْجِ بَهِيجٍ ٢﴾ ذَلِكَ بِأَنَّ ٱللَّهَ هُوَ ٱلْحَقُّ وَأَنَّهُ. يُحْيِ ٱلْمَوْنَى وَأَنَّهُ عَلَى كُلِّ شَيْءٍ قَدِيرٌ ٢ وَأَنَّ السَّاعَةَ ءَاتِيَةٌ لَا رَبْبَ فِيهَا وَأَرْبَ اللَّهَ يَبْعَثُ مَن فِي ٱلْقُبُورِ (٢) ٢- [الحج: ٥-٧] O people, if you should be in doubt about the Resurrection, then [consider that] indeed, We created you from dust, then from a spermdrop, then from a clinging clot, and then from a lump of flesh, formed and unformed — that We may show you. And We settle in the wombs whom We will for a specified term, then We bring you out as a child, and then [We develop you] that you may reach your [time of] maturity. And among you is he who is taken in [early] death, and among you is he who is returned to the most decrepit [old] age so that he knows, after [once having] knowledge, nothing. And you see the earth barren, but when We send down upon it rain, it quivers and swells and grows [something] of every beautiful kind. That is because Allah is the Truth and because He gives life to the dead and because He is over all things competent. And [that they may know] that the Hour is coming - no doubt about it - and that Allah will resurrect those in the graves.) (Our'an 22: 5-7)

In this verse, Allah coins a parable of resurrection of the dead by likening it to how He revives the earth with vegetation after it has been barren. This same parable can be found in several places in the Qur'an. Allah (3) mentions, وَمِنْ ءَايَنِدِهِ أَنَّكَ تَرَى ٱلأَرْضَ خَشِعَةً فَإِذَا أَنَزَلْنَا عَلَيْهَا ٱلْمَاءَ ٱهْتَزَتْ وَرَبَتْ إِنَّ ٱلَّذِي أَحْيَاهَا لَمُحِي ٱلْمَوْتَى ۖ إِنَّهُ عَلَى كُلِّ شَيْءٍ قَدِيرُ (٢) (٢٩ And of His signs is that you see the earth stilled, but when We send down upon it rain, it quivers and grows. Indeed, He who has given it life is the Giver of Life to the dead. Indeed, He is competent over all things.) (Qur'an 41: 39)

And:

• (And who sends down rain from the sky in measured amounts, and We revive thereby a dead land — thus will you be brought forth.) (Qur'an 43: 11)

Children relate easily to features of nature, so these types of parables can be very effective. Parents should encourage them to ponder the wonders of nature and how the land is brought back to life after its death. This is truly an amazing phenomenon that we often take for granted. The seasons of the year are a sign of Allah's power and majesty, and a reminder of our own death and resurrection. We should not allow them to pass without taking notice and being grateful for Allah's bounties.

The whole creation itself is reminder of the ability of Allah to create and re-create.

﴿أَوَلَمْ يَرَوْإِ كَيْفَ يُبْدِئُ ٱللَّهُ ٱلْخَلْقَ ثُمَرَ يُعِيدُهُ إِنَّ ذَلِكَ عَلَى ٱللَّهِ يَسِيرُ ﴿) قُل سِيرُوا فِي ٱلأَرْضِ فَانظُرُوا كَيْفَ بَدَأَ ٱلْخَلْقُ ثُمَرَ ٱللَّهُ يُنشِئُ ٱلنَّشَاَةَ ٱلْآخِرَةُ إِنَّ ٱللَّه عَلَى كُلِ شَيْءٍ قَـدِيرُ ﴿)

(Have they not considered how Allah begins creation and then repeats it? Indeed that, for Allah, is easy. Say [O Muhammad]: Travel through the land and observe how He began creation. Then Allah will produce the final creation [development]. Indeed, Allah, over all things, is competent.) (Qur'an 29: 19-20)

وَهُوَ ٱلَّذِى يَبْدَؤُا ٱلْخَلْقَ ثُمَر يُعِيدُهُ وَهُوَ أَهْوَتُ عَلَيْهُ وَلَهُ ٱلْمَثَلُ ٱلْأَعْلَى فِي ٱلسَّمَوَتِ وَٱلْأَرْضِ وَهُوَ ٱلْعَزِيزُ ٱلْحَكِيمُ ٢٠٠

And it is He who begins creation; then He repeats it, and that is [even] easier for Him. To Him belongs the highest description [attribute] in the heavens and earth. And He is the Exalted in Might, the Wise. (Qur'an 30: 27)

Allah has created this vast universe; would it not then be within His ability to create something less significant, which is the human being?

﴿ أَوَلَيْسَ ٱلَّذِى خَلَقَ ٱلسَّمَنَوَتِ وَٱلأَرْضَ بِقَندِرٍ عَلَىٰ آَن يَخْلُقَ مِثْلَهُم بَلَى وَهُوَ ٱلْخَلَقُ ٱلْعَلِيمُ (٢) إِنَمَا أَمُرُهُ إِذَا أَرَادَ شَيْعًا أَن يَقُولَ لَهُ, كُن فَيَكُونُ ٢٥ فَسُبْحَنَ ٱلَّذِى بِيَدِهِ مَلَكُونُ كُلِّ شَيْءٍ وَإِلَيْهِ تُرْجَعُونَ ٢٥) [يَس: ٨١-٨٣] Is not He who created the heavens and the earth Able to create the likes of them? Yes, [it is so]; and He is the Knowing Creator. His

command is only when He intends a thing that He says to it: Be! and it is. So Exalted is He in whose hand is the realm of all things, and to Him you will be returned. (Qur'an 36: 81-83)

A family's vacation trip can easily be turned into a lesson integrating these verses and signs. A garden in the backyard can be a daily opportunity to remind children of Allah's might and bounties. Studies in science should consistently be tied to verses from the Qur'an and hadiths of the Prophet (\cong) so that children realize that the miracles of science exist only by the will of Allah. Humans have no power or ability compared to that which Allah possesses. Many scientists in current times disregard this fact due to their failure to connect knowledge and discoveries to the power and might of Allah.

Death

The death of a loved one or family friend would be an appropriate occasion to discuss the issues of death and the afterlife with a child. The discussion should be candid, but should also fit the developmental stage of the child. Regardless of the age, children can be told that everyone, including themselves, will die at some time. Children should understand, however, that their loved one is not gone, but has only passed on to the next phase of existence. Death is only a stage that s/he has passed through, as we all will one day. S/he will be raised again on the Day of Resurrection with his or her family and all other humans. Rather than grieving and being sad for this person, there should be an element of joy that they have gone on to meet their Lord. Older children may be provided information regarding the barrier or interval before the Day of Resurrection, and life in the grave. They may also be taken to graves as a further reminder of the reality.

Death is not a negative thing from the perspective of Islam and it should not be portrayed as such. Children should not develop worry or fear of death. Rather, they should be encouraged to discuss the issue and think about it often. The Prophet (\cong) actually encouraged the believers to do this. He said: «Remember often the destroyer of pleasure, death, for no one remembers death in times of hardship but that it makes him feel better, and no one remembers death in times of ease but that it restrains him.»¹ Sleep itself is a form of 'lesser death'. Waking from sleep is a type of resurrection. Children can be reminded of this fact. Allah (\cong) says:

﴿وَهُوَ ٱلَّذِى يَنَوَفَّنِكُم بِالَيْلِ وَيَعْلَمُ مَا جَرَحْتُم بِالنَّهَارِ ثُمَّ يَبْعَثُكُمْ فِيهِ لِيُفْضَى أَجَلُّ مُسَمَّى ثُمَ إِلَيْهِ مَرْجِعُكُمْ ثُمَّ يُنَبِّئُكُم بِمَا كُنْتُمْ تَعْمَلُونَ ﴿ ﴾ (الأنعام: ٦٠]

¹ Al-Albâni, Şaheeh al-Jâmi'

And it is He who takes your souls by night and knows what you have committed by day. Then He revives you therein [by day] that a specified term may be fulfilled. Then to Him will be your return; then He will inform you about what you used to do. (Qur'an 6: 60)

﴿ اللَّهُ يَنَوَفَى ٱلْأَنفُسَ حِينَ مَوْتِهِمَا وَالَتِي لَمْ تَعْتَ فِي مَنَامِهِمَ ۖ فَيُمْسِكُ ٱلَتِي قَضَى عَلَيْهَا ٱلْمُوْتَ وَيُرْسِلُ ٱلْأُخْرَى إِلَىٰ أَجَلٍ مُسَمَّى إِنَّ فِي ذَلِكَ لَاَيَنتِ لِقَوْمِ يَنَفَكَرُونَ (٢)

(Allah takes the souls at the time of their death, and those that do not die [He takes] during their sleep. Then He keeps those for which He has decreed death and releases the others for a specified term. Indeed in that are signs for a people who give thought.) (Qur'an 39: 42)

During sleep, Allah takes the souls. If He wishes, He may keep the soul; and if He wills that the person should remain alive, He returns the soul. The supplications made upon rising from sleep and before going to sleep mention this fact. Upon awakening, children should recite the following supplication: «All praise is for Allah Who gave us life after having taken it from us, and unto Him is the resurrection. [Alhamdulillâh alladhee ahvânâ ba'da mâ amâtanâ wa ilayhin-nushoor.]»² The following supplication should be said before going to sleep: «In Your name my Lord, I lie down and in Your name I rise, so if You should take my soul then have mercy upon it, and if You should return my soul then protect as You protect Your righteous servants. [Bismika Rabbee wada'tu janbee, wa bika arfa'uhu, fa in amsakta nafsee farhamhâ, wa in arsaltahâ fahfadh-hâ bi mâ tahfudhu bihi 'ibâdak as-sâliheen.]»³ Children should understand the meaning of these supplications and their relationship to death and resurrection.

² Bukhari

³ Bukhari and Muslim

It is the habit of righteous people to remind themselves and others about death. This assists the believer in remaining constantly prepared for his or her own death, since the exact moment is unknown. To be prepared means to have correct belief, to be consistent and persistent in performance of religious obligations, and to hasten in the performance of righteous deeds. In essence, remembrance of death leads a person to strive to reform and purify himself or herself. This is one of the main purposes of the message of Islam.

Responsibility and accountability

One of the key aspects of parenting is to teach children that they are responsible for their actions and that one day they will be brought to account before Allah. Allah, the Exalted, the Almighty, mentions this fact in the Qur'an:

[المدَّثْر : ٣٨]

(Every soul, for what it has earned, will be held retained [subject or held responsible.) (Qur'an 74: 38)

The individual will stand alone on that day.

[مَريَم: ٩٥]

﴿وَكُمْهُمُ ءَاتِيهِ يَوْمَ ٱلْقِيَحَةِ فَرْدًا (٢

(And all of them are coming to Him on the Day of Resurrection alone.) (Qur'an 19: 95)

There will be no one to speak on his or her behalf or to defend him or her, not even close family members or friends.

﴿يَوْمَ يَغِرُّ ٱلْمَرْهُ مِنْ أَخِهِ ٢﴾ وَأُتِمِهِ وَأَبِيهِ ٢﴾ وَصَحِبَلِهِ. وَبَلِيهِ ٢﴾ لِكُلِّ آمرِي مِنْهُمْ يَوْمَبِلِ سَأَنَّ يُغْنِيهِ (٢ [عَسَرَ: ٢٤-٣٢]

(On the Day a man will flee from his brother, and his mother and his father, and his wife and his children; for every person, that Day, will

﴿ كُلُّ نَفْسٍ بِمَا كَسَبَتْ رَهِينَةً (٢) ﴾

be a matter adequate [to occupy] him for him. He will be concerned only with himself, thus forgetting all others. (Qur'an 80: 34-37)

The only evidence to allow entrance into paradise will be belief in Allah and His Messenger and good deeds.

This understanding will prove invaluable for discipline and behaviour management of a child. Self-control is something that must come from within and this is exactly the outcome of belief in the Day of Resurrection and the hereafter. It must be imprinted on the minds of children that Allah will weigh the deeds of a person and reward those whose deeds are heavy; those whose deeds are light will not be successful. Allah (3) says,

And the weighing [of deeds] that Day will be the truth. So those whose scales are heavy — it is they who will be successful. And those whose scales are light — they are the ones who will lose themselves for what injustice they were doing toward Our signs and verses. (Qur'an 7: 8-9)

The nature of this world

In this way, children will realize that the purpose of this life is only as a preparation for the next. They will use it to prepare themselves for the hereafter and the foremost test that awaits them. They will strive to increase the weighing of their scales in order to have the best outcome. This will become their primary goal and that which they continually endeavour to achieve. Other goals in their worldly life become secondary to this central aspiration. Children should also understand that Allah sometimes tests us in various ways to determine if we are deserving of His rewards in the hereafter.

﴿ ٱلَّذِى خَلَقَ ٱلْمَوْتَ وَٱلْحَيَوْةَ لِيَبْلُوَكُمْ أَيَّكُمْ أَحَسَنُ عَمَلًا وَهُوَ ٱلْعَزِيزُ ٱلْغَفُورُ

([He] who created death and life to test you [as to] which of you is best in deed — and He is the Exalted in Might, the Forgiving.
(Qur'an 67: 2)

وَأَحَسِبَ ٱلنَّاسُ أَن يُتْرَكُونا أَن يَقُولُوا ءَامَتَ وَهُمْ لَا يُفْتَنُونَ ﴾ وَلَقَدْ فَتَنَا ٱلَّذِينَ مِن قَبْلِهِمْ فَلَيَعْلَمَنَ ٱللَهُ ٱلَّذِينَ صَدَقُوا وَلَيَعْلَمَنَ ٱلْكَذِبِينَ ﴾ [العنكبوت: ٢-٣] Do the people think that they will be left to say: We believe. — And they will not be tried? But We have certainly tried those before them, and Allah will surely make evident those who are truthful, and He will surely make evident the liars. *Qur'an 29: 2-3)*

The stories of the Prophet (25) and his Companions may be useful in this regard. They suffered severe physical and mental hardship in order to prove their sincerity to Allah and their commitment to Islam.

When children understand the temporal nature of this world and the fact that it will eventually come to an end, this diminishes their interest in the material things and decreases love of this life. When they realize that this world is temporary and not our permanent abode, it will become less significant to them. This is one of the characteristics of a true believer. In this way, they will not covet, work for, or compete over matters of this worldly life, as do those who create their own 'paradise' in the life of this world and focus on that as an end in itself. They will not waste their time in idle and trivial pursuits, but rather will use their time wisely, for the sake of Allah. They will set their goal for what is awaiting them in the hereafter. They will be able to delay gratification in this world for that which will come in the next, realizing that the recompense in the hereafter is eternal.

'Abdullâh ibn 'Umar said: «The Messenger of Allah ($\underset{k=1}{\overset{(k=1)}{\underset{k=1}{\atop{k=1}{\atopk=1}{\atop{k=1}{\atop{k=1}{\atop{k}$

Another simile that can be presented to children is mentioned in the following hadith: The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «The world is a prison for a believer and paradise for a disbeliever.»⁵A prison conjures up images of discomfort, gloominess, and restriction of freedom. It is a place from which a person would wish to escape. As such is the residence on this earth. A believer will desire to leave this place as s/ he knows about the treasures that are waiting in the hereafter as promised by Allah. The earth is a paradise for disbelievers, since they attempt to take what they can of pleasure without regard to the limits imposed by Allah. They also sense the punishment that will be their eternal condition.

Children should appreciate that having the hereafter as a concern brings contentment and peace of mind. The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said: «Whoever has the hereafter as his main concern,

⁴ Bukhari

⁵ Muslim

Allah will fill his heart with a feeling of richness and independence; he will be focused and content, and this world will come to him in spite of itself. Whoever has this world as his main concern, Allah will cause him to feel constant fear of poverty; he will be distracted and unfocused, and he will have nothing of this world except what was already predestined for him.»⁶

Death, in fact, may come at any moment and we need to be prepared at all times. We need to ready our children, for they may depart before us. Preparation is carried out by gaining knowledge, correcting beliefs, performing good deeds, and recalling the rewards that Allah has promised. The greatest reward will be Allah's pleasure and the opportunity to see Him and to be close to Him in the hereafter. What better reward for nurturing eemân?

⁶ A sound hadith narrated by At-Tirmidhi and Ahmad
Chapter 11 Divine Will and Predestination



(No disaster strikes upon the earth or among yourselves except that it is in a register [the Preserved Slate]¹ before We bring it into being indeed, that, for Allah, is easy. In order that you may not despair over what has eluded you and not exult [in pride] over what He has been given you...) (Qur'an 57: 22-23)

The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «Know that if the nation were to gather together to benefit you with anything, it would benefit you only with something that Allah had already prescribed for you; and that if they gather together to harm you with anything, they would harm you only with something Allah had already prescribed for you. The pens have been lifted and the pages have dried.»²

Belief in Divine will and predestination

Belief in predestination is the final pillar of eemân. There are many texts of the Qur'an that mention the will and decree of Allah. Allah (ﷺ) says,

[القَمَر: ٤٩]

﴿ إِنَّا كُلُّ شَيْءٍ خَلَقْنَهُ بِقَدَرٍ (٢

¹ The Preserved Slate, called *al-Lawh al-Mahfoodh* in Arabic, is the writing tablet in Heaven on which Allah's words and decrees are engraved for all eternity. (Editor)

² A sound hadith narrated by At-Tirmidhi

﴿ ... وَخَلَقَ كُلَّ شَيْءٍ فَقَدَّرُهُ نَقْدِيرُ (٢)

(Indeed, all things We created with predestination.) (Qur'an 54: 49)

(... And ever is the command of Allah a destiny decreed.) (Qur'an 33: 38)

[الفُرقان: ٢]

(... [He] has created each thing and determined it with [precise] determination.) (Qur'an 25: 2)

Many of the texts that mention the knowledge, power, will, and creation of Allah, the Exalted, the Almighty, also refer to predestination. Belief in Allah's decree entails belief in all of these aspects.³ Predestination is defined as decree, judgment, and ultimate destiny. Technically, it means:

... something of which there was prior knowledge, one of the things which was written by the Pen^4 when it wrote down everything that was going to happen for the rest of eternity, when Allah decreed the affairs of all His creation and what would happen before it happened. He knew that these things

³ Al-Ashqar, Divine Will and Predestination, pp. 21-23

⁴ It is reported on the authority of 'Ubâdah ibn aṣ-Ṣâmit (ra) that he said to his son: Oh, son! You will never taste true faith until you know that whatever afflicts you would not have missed you, and whatever has missed you would never have come to you. I heard the Messenger of Allah (bpuh) say: The first thing Allah created was the pen; He commanded it to write. It said: My Lord, what shall I write? He (exalted is He) said: Write down what has been ordained for all things until the establishment of the Hour. Oh, my son! I heard Allah's Messenger say: Whoever dies believing something other than this does not belong to me. In another narration by Imam Aḥmad, it was reported: Verily, the first thing which Allah Most High created was the pen, and He said to it: Write; and in that very hour all what was to occur (was written) — up to the Day of Resurrection. In another version from Ibn Wahb, it was said: Allah's Messenger said: Whoever disbelieved in destiny, the good and the bad of it, will be burnt in the fire of hell. (A sound hadith narrated by Aț-Țabarâni)

would happen at certain times that were known to Him, and in specific ways, and so things happen in the way that He has decreed.⁵

Ibn Hajar wrote,

What is meant is that Allah knows how things will be and when they will happen, before He initiates them. Then He creates that which He already knows will happen. Hence everything that happens stems from His knowledge, power, and will.⁶

Belief in predestination is based upon four essential components:

1. Belief that the knowledge of Allah is all-encompassing:

... عَلِمِ ٱلْغَيْثِ لَا يَعْزُبُ عَنْهُ مِثْقَالُ ذَرَّةٍ فِي ٱلسَّمَانِتِ وَلَا فِي ٱلْأَرْضِ وَلَا أَصْغَـرُ مِن ذَلِكَ وَلَا أَحْبَرُ إِلَا فِي كِتَبٍ مُبِينٍ ٢٢

(... the Knower of the unseen. Not absent from Him is an atom's weight within the heavens or within the earth or [what is] smaller than that or greater, except that it is in a clear register.)
(Qur'an 34: 3)
Belief that Allah has written everything that will happen until the

Day of Resurrection (in the Preserved Slate):

(Do you not know that Allah knows what is in the heaven and earth? Indeed, that is in a Record [the Preserved Slate]. Indeed that, for Allah, is easy.) (Qur'an 22: 70)

3. Belief in the will and perfect power of Allah — what He wills happens and what He does not will does not happen:

⁵ Aqeedat al-Isfarâ'eeni as quoted in Al-Ashqar, Divine Will and Predestination, p. 33

⁶ Al-Ashqar, Divine Will and Predestination, p. 33

﴿إِنَّمَا أَمْرُهُ إِذَا أَرَادَ شَيْعًا أَن يَقُولَ لَهُ, كُن فَيَكُونُ ٢

(Verily, His Command, when He intends a thing, is only that He says to it: Be! — and it is!) (Qur'an 36: 82)

4. Belief that Allah has created everything that exists, and that He has no partner in His creation:

[الزُّمر : ٦٢]

(Allah is the Creator of all things...)

[القَمَر: ٤٩]

(Indeed, all things We created with predestination.) (Qur'an 54: 49)

Affirming each of these pillars leads to perfection of belief in predestination.⁷ Ibn 'Abbâs said:

Predestination is the essence of tawheed. Whoever worships Allah, the Almighty, alone and believes in predestination has perfected his tawheed, but whoever worships Allah alone but does not believe in predestination, destroys his tawheed by this disbelief.⁸

Connecting children to Divine will and predestination

Belief in predestination revolves around the understanding that nothing happens in the world without Allah's knowledge, permission, and will. What Allah wills for a person will occur and what He does not will does not occur. No one can stop His decree or overpower His affairs. These are significant concepts for children to understand.

﴿ ٱللَّهُ خَلِقُ كُلِّ شَىٰءٍ ... () * (001 an 39: 62)

﴿ إِنَّا كُلُّ شَيْءٍ خَلَقْنَهُ بِقَدَرِ (٢

⁷ Al-Ashqar, Divine Will and Predestination, p. 37

⁸ Majmoo' al-Fatâwâ li Shaykh al-Islâm as quoted in Al-Ashqar, Divine Will and Predestination, p. 25

Children should be trained to believe in predestination from a very young age and to accept the good and bad of it, for it is from Allah.

The Prophet () taught 'Abdullâh ibn 'Abbâs about predestination while he was still a young boy. According to a hadith narrated by 'Abdullâh ibn 'Abbâs himself: «One day I was behind the Prophet (a) and he said to me: Young man, I shall teach you some words [of advice]: Be mindful of Allah, and Allah will protect you. Be mindful of Allah, and you will find Him in front of you. If you ask, ask of Allah; if you seek help, seek help of Allah. Know that if the nation were to gather together to benefit you with anything, it would benefit you only with something that Allah had already prescribed for you, and that if they gather together to harm you with anything, they would harm you only with something Allah had already prescribed for you. The pens have been lifted and the pages have dried.» In another version it reads: «...Be mindful of Allah, you will find Him before you. Get to know Allah in prosperity and He will know you in adversity. Know that what has passed you by was not going to befall you; and that what has befallen you was not going to pass you by. And know that victory comes with patience, relief with affliction, and ease with hardship.»9

A child who grows up with this understanding will have the strength and courage to face any and all challenges to his or her eemân. S/he will know that whatever s/he receives, s/he would never have missed; and that whatever s/he missed, s/he would never have received. S/he will comprehend that if all humans were to gather together to try and prevent something from happening, they would not be able to do so if Allah had already written it. Likewise, if all humans were to gather to make something happen, they would not be able to do so if Allah had not willed it to occur.

⁹ A sound hadith narrated by At-Tirmidhi, translated as above in Ibrahim & Johnson-Davies, *An-Nawawi's Forty Hadith*, hadith no. 19

This belief removes any fear or cowardice from the heart and replaces it with bravery and determination. The young person will live a life based upon the principles of Islam because s/he fears Allah and not other humans. S/he will defend Islam because s/he knows that what is destined for him or her is inevitable; s/he will stand up for his or her principles and practices even in the face of severe adversity. A young man who is ostracized for praying at school will not be bothered because he knows that he is on the path of truth and that they cannot harm him unless Allah wills. A young girl who is teased for wearing a hijab refuses to remove it for the same reasons. A person with belief in predestination will not bow down to any power on this earth because s/he knows that everything is in the hands of the Creator of the heavens and the earth and all that is between them.

When an event occurs about which they are displeased, they should be reminded that it only happened with Allah's will. Allah has a plan that humans may not understand and wisdom that they will never possess. Something that may seem very bad and negative to a person may, in essence, be very beneficial for them. Allah (ﷺ) says,

In the second second

Often, there are lessons in the events that transpire, and these should be discussed openly within the family. For example, sickness is an affliction for humans in this world, but it is beneficial for them in the hereafter since it is a way for forgiveness of sins and purification of the soul. When a child or someone close to him or her becomes ill, they can be reminded of this fact. This will assist them in accepting the illness and bearing it with patience in order to obtain the maximal benefits and blessings from Allah. The focus should be on the reward of being close to Allah as a result of the affliction. In a real example of such certainty in Allah's promise, one child in a Muslim family, in regard to her two siblings with Down syndrome, often used to say, "These are my doors to paradise."

Allah (ﷺ) says,

﴿مَا أَصَابَ مِن مُّصِيبَةٍ إِلَّا بِإِذِنِ ٱللَّهِ وَمَن يُؤْمِنُ بِٱللَّهِ يَهْدِ قَلْبَهُ وَٱللَّهُ بِكُلِّ شَيْءٍ عَلِيرٌ ٢ [التّغَابُن: ١١]

No disaster strikes except by permission of Allah. And whoever believes in Allah — He will guide his heart. And Allah is Knowing of all things.) (Qur'an 64: 11)

The person who is suffering the calamity will know that it is from Allah and accept it and submit to it. Allah will guide his or her heart to certainty and serenity due to his or her belief in the decree of Allah. This will be true no matter how great the calamity. With this understanding, children will also be able to come to terms with the natural disasters that seem to be occurring at an increasing rate in our times.

The concepts of patience and gratitude should to be taught to children. They should learn to be patient during times of difficulty and tribulation, and grateful for Allah's blessings during times of ease. The Prophet (\cong) said: «The affair of the believer is amazing in that it is always good for him, and this is true only for a believer. If something joyful comes to him, he gives thanks and that is good for him. If something harmful comes to him, he is patient and that is good for him.»¹⁰ Parents need to model these concepts themselves and remind their children to do the same.

Verses from the Qur'an may also be used to emphasize the importance of patience. Allah reminds the believers repeatedly that

¹⁰ Muslim

they should seek help with patient perseverance:

﴿ يَتَأَيُّهَا ٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُواْ أَسْتَعِينُواْ بِٱلصَّبْرِ وَٱلصَّلَوَةَ إِنَّ ٱللَّهَ مَعَ ٱلصَّدِينَ ٢

[البَقَرَة: ١٥٣]

O you who have believed, seek help through patience and prayer. Indeed, Allah is with the patient. (Qur'an 2: 153)

﴿وَلَنَبْلُوَنَكُمُ بِنَىٰءٍ مِّنَ الْمُؤْفِ وَٱلْجُوعِ وَنَقْصٍ مِّنَ ٱلْأَمْوَالِ وَٱلْأَنفُسِ وَٱلضَّرَتِّ وَبَشِّرِ ٱلصَّدِبِنَ ٢٠٠٠ الَذِينَ إِذَا أَصَبَتْهُم مُصِيبَةٌ قَالُوْا إِنَا لِلَهِ وَإِنَّا إِلَيْهِ رَجِعُونَ ٢٠٠٠ هُ

[البَقَرَة: ١٥٥-١٥٦]

(And We will surely test you with something of fear and hunger and a loss of wealth and lives and fruits, but give good tidings to the patient, who, when disaster strikes them, say: Indeed we belong to Allah, and indeed to Him we will return.) (Qur'an 2: 155-156)

Indeed, the patient will be given their reward without limit.
(Qur'an 39: 10)

Allah is with the one who patiently perseveres and He promises a great reward.

It would even be more beneficial for them to learn not only to be patient and forbearing, but to accept and be satisfied with Allah's decree and judgment. This is one of the highest levels of eemân that a human can attain. True patience is when we do not discriminate between a blessing and a severe trial, but welcome them both as a chance to earn great rewards from Allah, and to have an accepting , attitude in all situations. Satisfaction comes from belief in predestination and that Allah has planned only the best for His believing slaves. Children should thus be reminded to be pleased with Allah's decree at all times. It is important to make it clear to children that while Allah's will is present in the universe, humans still have the ability to choose either good or evil, submission or defiance. Allah would not judge us on the Day of Resurrection without this element of free will. Likewise, Allah will not hold a person accountable unless s/he has the ability to choose. For example, we are not accountable for things over which we have no control (height, place of birth, parents, and so forth). We are also not accountable unless we have the ability to reason and to make decisions. That is the reason that children and people with mental illness or mental retardation are not held responsible for their behaviours. Meeting or seeing someone with mental illness or retardation can offer opportunities for dialogue regarding these issues, particularly with older children and adolescents.

While Allah gave us a certain measure of free will, our will is dependent upon Allah's will. We cannot will anything, or accomplish it, unless and until Allah wills it! It should be clear to children that Allah's will is not arbitrary; rather there are wisdom, universal order and laws, and perfection in His plan.

Benefits of believing in predestination

Children should understand the benefits of believing in predestination. Belief in predestination brings peace of heart and mind and relief from grief, sadness and anger. There will only be tranquillity, happiness, certainty, and reassurance. This is due to the realization that everything that happens is according to Allah's divine decree and that there is a purpose and wisdom for everything that Allah does. There will be no need to despair, fret or give up hope. Other positive effects will transpire in the life of a person as well, such as motivation, confidence, success, and accomplishment. These are obvious goals that we have for our children. Belief in predestination will also free the person from any form of $shirk^{11}$ as s/he appreciates that Allah is the only one worthy of praying to, seeking assistance from, and relying upon. S/he will put his or her complete trust in and reliance upon Allah. All acts of worship will be directed toward the One who has decreed and determined all things. In this manner, tawheed is accurately and entirely fulfilled. The greatest result of belief in Allah's divine will and decree will be success in the hereafter.

¹¹ shirk: associating partners with Allah

PART THREE

DEVELOPING AN ISLAMIC PERSONALITY IN CHILDREN

One of the obvious purposes and goals of nurturing eemân in children is to develop an Islamic personality within them. An Islamic personality is one that submits completely to the will of Allah, as a servant of Allah. Through the process of submission, the soul becomes purified, which in turn affects the outward and inward characteristics of the individual. The actions, thoughts, and feelings reflect this Islamic personality, which is based upon the teachings in the Qur'an and in the Sunnah of the Prophet Muhammad (20). The individual will act, think, and feel in the manner that Allah intended humans to act, think, and feel. Parents play an important role in this process and can either enhance or hinder the development of this Islamic personality. The following section sheds further light on this process and the tools that parents may utilize for the most beneficial outcome.

Chapter 12 Additional Keys to Nurturing Eemân and Developing an Islamic Personality in Children

In addition to connecting children to the pillars of eemân, there are other strategies that parents may consider to nurture eemân and develop an Islamic personality and identity in their children. It will be helpful first to define a few terms for our purposes.

Definitions

Personality

Personality is the complex of characteristics that distinguishes an individual from others. It is the totality of an individual's emotional, behavioural and cognitive characteristics.

Identity

Identity is a comprehensive set of beliefs and practices that guide one's life. It provides a stable sense of self. A critical element in identity and identity formation is the belief system. The 'aqeedah of Islam imparts the necessary beliefs for a healthy and stable identity. Islamic law guides one's practices and behaviours.

Begin from an early age

The stories of a few Companions should be helpful in comprehending this point.

'Abdullâh ibn 'Abbâs

'Abdullâh ibn 'Abbâs (ﷺ) was born three years before the migration to Madinah and he was only 13 years old when the Prophet (ﷺ) died. As a young boy, he served the Prophet (ﷺ), went with him on journeys and expeditions, and stood behind the Prophet (ﷺ) in prayer. He was like a shadow of the Prophet (ﷺ), always in his company. The Prophet (ﷺ) would often bring young 'Abdullâh close to him, pat him on the shoulder and pray: «O Lord, make him acquire a deep understanding of the religion of Islam and instruct him in the meaning and interpretation of things.»¹ His supplication was answered, as 'Abdullâh had wisdom beyond his years.²

Young 'Abdullâh was attentive to what the Prophet (ﷺ) said and did in all situations. He listened and watched with an enthusiastic heart and committed the Prophet's words to memory. He became one of the most learned Companions of the Prophet (ﷺ), memorizing 1,660 hadiths, many of which are recorded in *Ṣaḥeeḥ al-Bukhâri* and *Ṣaḥeeḥ Muslim.*³ 'Abdullâh's life was to be devoted to the pursuit of learning and knowledge. He was also an ardent worshipper and a warrior, taking part in many battles.⁴

'Abdullâh ibn az-Zubayr

'Abdullâh ibn az-Zubayr (ﷺ) was the son of Az-Zubayr ibn al-'Awwâm, one of the ten Companions who were given the glad tidings of paradise. His mother was Asmâ' bint Abu Bakr, one of the first Muslims. 'Abdullâh was the firstborn of those who migrated from Makkah to Madinah. From the time that he was a small child, he

¹ Quoted in "Biographies of the Companions", USC-MSA Compendium of Muslim • Texts, taken from Alim Software

² Darussalam, Child Companions Around the Prophet, pp. 115-123

³ The two most well-documented collections of authentic hadiths, compiled by Imam Bukhari and Imam Muslim; *sheeh*: a grade of hadith: sound or authentic ⁴ Darussalam, *Child Companions Around the Prophet*, pp. 119-123

was close to the Messenger of Allah. When he was born, the Prophet ($\underline{\mathfrak{B}}$) rubbed a bit of mashed date in his mouth for him, invoked blessings on him, and named him 'Abdullâh. 'Abdullâh lived for long periods in the house of the Prophet ($\underline{\mathfrak{B}}$). This allowed him to live close to the Prophet ($\underline{\mathfrak{B}}$) and to absorb knowledge directly from the Messenger himself.⁵

'Abdullâh ibn az-Zubayr was bold and courageous from childhood. At one point, some small children were brought to the Messenger to take the pledge of allegiance. The others were afraid, but 'Abdullâh rushed forward in order to be the first of them: the Messenger of Allah smiled and said: "He is his father's son." Another story demonstrates his boldness. One day, 'Abdullâh was playing with his friends and while they were playing, the Caliph 'Umar ibn al-Khattâb passed by them. The boys ran away quickly for there was something awe-inspiring about 'Umar. 'Abdullâh, however, remained in his place and did not flee. 'Umar said, "Why do you not flee with the (other) boys?" 'Abdullâh replied, "Oh, Commander of the Faithful! I have not committed any sin, and the road is not narrow that I should make room for you." This boldness and courageousness was displayed on the battlefield as well. 'Abdullâh even took part in battles as a child. It is said that he attended the Battle of the Trench when he was only five years old, the battle against the Romans at the age of ten, and the Battle of Yarmook at the age of thirteen.⁶ When the disbelievers ran away, he attacked them and started to kill their wounded. As a result of these experiences, he was strong and brave from childhood.

Lessons

The lesson from these stories of the two young 'Abdullâhs is that we should begin to nurture knowledge, eemân and piety in our

⁵ Darussalam, Child Companions Around the Prophet, pp. 79-89

⁶ Darussalam, Child Companions Around the Prophet, pp. 86-96

children from a very young age. As mentioned previously, children should know about Allah from the moment of birth. As young children, time should be spent in memorization of the Qur'an and hadiths. It is interesting to note that psychological research has found that the ability to memorize information is strongest during the childhood years. As time goes on, this ability diminishes due to the processes of brain development and aging. The same is true of language acquisition, which is much easier during the childhood years.

The information that a child learns and memorizes during the formative years is likely to remain in the memory storage. Memorization of the Qur'an is especially important since it has positive effects upon the child's ability to memorize other material. Children who consistently memorize the Qur'an in childhood generally excel in other subjects as well. Young 'Abdullâh ibn 'Abbâs not only excelled in memorization of the Qur'an and hadiths, but he was a scholar in all respects. Parents should learn from this example and take advantage of the time that they have with their children.

The other issue to consider related to teaching children from a young age is that the main tasks of parenting take place during the early, formative years. Puberty and the age of responsibility emerge relatively early, sometimes as young as eight or nine years of age. By this time, children should have the necessary and basic tools to manage, function, and make decisions as a responsible Muslim. Their behaviour should be commensurate with Islamic Law, for the angels will begin recording their deeds, both good and bad, to be presented on the Day of Judgment. For this reason, parents must begin early and prepare their children for this important time. The responsibility of parenting never really comes to an end, but the greatest effort should be exerted in the early phases. If this job is done well, the later years will run more smoothly.

Teach children to understand all things from the perspective of Islam

A person with an Islamic personality and strong eemân will look at all issues from the perspective of Islam. Islam becomes their criteria for right and wrong in all matters. One of the names of the Qur'an is the Criterion. It is the criterion between right and wrong, and for this reason it is the main source of knowledge for Muslims. It provides guidance for many areas of life and is further elaborated upon by the Hadith of the Prophet (ﷺ).

Children should realize that all issues and situations should be viewed through the 'lens' of Islam, with the Our'an and the Sunnah as the guides. Islam is a complete and comprehensive way of life that covers every aspect: spiritual, familial, social, economic, and political; as such, it can be applied to the various challenges and problems that one may face in life. A child, for example, may encounter a particularly difficult situation in school such as bullying or teasing by classmates. S/he should be encouraged to search in the Qur'an and the Hadith to find the most appropriate Islamic solution to his or her problem. What does the Qur'an say about dealing with others who act in a harmful way? What would the Prophet (1) do in the same circumstances? Are there similar stories in the seerah to indicate how the Prophet (3) may have coped with such tests? Through this process they not only learn about the Islamic approach to life, but they also gain a deeper understanding of the Qur'an and the Hadith as well.

Teach importance of obedience to parents

The term that means 'obey' and related concepts appear many times in the Qur'an. Allah reminds us countless times to obey Him and to obey His Messenger. Allah (ﷺ) declares,

(Say: Obey Allah and obey the Messenger; but if you turn away then upon him is only that [duty] with which he has been charged, and upon you is that with which you have been charged...)

(Qur'an 24: 54)

He (ﷺ) also says,

(So fear Allah as much as you are able and listen and obey and spend [in the way of Allah]; it is better for your souls. And whoever is protected from the stinginess of his soul — it is those who will be the successful.) (Qur'an 64: 16)

As Muslims, we understand that obedience to Allah and to the Prophet (ﷺ) is the path to true salvation. The Qur'an and the Sunnah of the Prophet (ﷺ) are the integral components in this journey. There really is no other way. And oftentimes, to obey means to go against the wishes and desires of one's own soul, as mentioned in *Soorat at-Taghâbun* above, (whoever is protected from the stinginess of his soul). As humans, we become prisoners of our desires unless and until we give allegiance to Allah. Obedience to Allah is the means through which all chains are broken and the soul is elevated. It is often a difficult struggle, but also a feasible achievement for each and every human being.

The importance of obedience can be seen in the rewards that are \cdot granted to those who submit and obey. Allah (\Re) says,

﴿تِلْكَ حُدُودُ ٱللَّهُ وَمَن يُطِعِ ٱللَّهَ وَرَسُولَهُ. يُدْخِلْهُ جَنَتِ تَجْرِى

[النُسَاء: ١٣]

(These are the limits [set by] Allah, and whoever obeys Allah and His Messenger will be admitted by Him to gardens [in Paradise] under which rivers flow, abiding eternally therein; and that is the great attainment.) (Qur'an 4: 13)

What a beautiful recompense and a fitting abode: the gardens of paradise. Allah (ﷺ) also says,

﴿وَمَن يُطِعِ ٱللَّهَ وَٱلرَّسُولَ فَأُوْلَتِهِكَ مَعَ ٱلَّذِينَ أَنْعَمَ ٱللَّهُ عَلَيْهِم مِّنَ ٱلنَّبِيِّـنَ وَٱلصِّدِيقِينَ وَالشُّهَدَاءِ وَالصَّلِحِينَۚ وَحَسُنَ أُوْلَتِهِكَ رَفِيقًا (﴾﴾

(And whoever obeys Allah and the Messenger — those will be with the ones upon whom Allah has bestowed favour of the prophets, the steadfast affirmers of truth, the martyrs and the righteous. And excellent are those as companions.) $(Qur'an \ 4:\ 69)$

What more could one ask for? This is the promise of Allah.

Obedience in the family unit

We often forget that a condition somewhat comparable to that of paradise can also be attained in this life. Of course it will not be exactly the same, but there will be some similarities. In particular, we can achieve the serenity and joyfulness that is promised to the believers, as well as peacefulness, in realizing that Allah knows what is best for us. Within the family unit, synchrony and harmony can be achieved and love and respect can flourish. Again, this can only come about by following what Allah has ordained for optimal functioning of the family. Obedience is a major component of this formula.

For the family to function properly a wife needs to obey her husband and the children need to obey their parents (unless the husband or parents order them to be disobedient to Allah). When they do this, they are ultimately obeying Allah and receiving the greatest of rewards. Allah (ﷺ) says,

(النِّسَاء: ۳٤) [النَّسَاء: ۳٤] [النَّسَاء: ۳٤] [النَّسَاء: ۳٤] [النَّسَاء: ۳٤] [النَّسَاء: ۳٤] [النَّسَاء: ۳٤] [النَّسَاء: ۲۵] (... So righteous women are devoutly obedient, guarding in [the husband's] absence what Allah would have them guard...)

(Qur'an 4: 34)

In addition, a woman who obeys her husband provides the best role model for the children, to learn this righteous behaviour.

Children need to be taught this concept from a very young age, and the interactions between the mother and father provide ideal examples. The obedience of children to their parents is actually the training ground for eventual submission to Allah. In many ways they go hand in hand, but effective parenting provides the tangible examples that fit with the mind of a young child and ease the transition into responsibility. Notably, children must comprehend that obedience to parents is at the same time submission and obedience to Allah.

When a child learns obedience within the family unit, this generalizes into other areas of his or her life (in school, with peers, and with other adults). There are many situations in which we all need to listen and obey: student to teacher, worker to supervisor, soldier to commander, and so forth, with Allah as the final authority. Allah says,

﴿يَتَأَيُّهُا ٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُوًا أَطِيعُوا ٱللَّهَ وَأَطِيعُوا ٱلرَّسُولَ وَأُوْلِى ٱلْأَمْنِ مِنكُرٌ فَإِن نَنزَعْتُمْ فِي شَىْءٍ فَرُدُوهُ إِلَى ٱللَّهِ وَٱلرَّسُولِ إِن كُتُمُ تُؤْمِنُونَ بِٱللَّهِ وَٱلْيَوْمِ ٱلْآخِرِ ذَلِكَ خَيْرٌ وَأَحْسَنُ تَأْوِيلًا ٢٠٠٠

O you who have believed, obey Allah and obey the Messenger and those in authority among you. And if you disagree over anything, refer it to Allah and the Messenger, if you should believe in Allah and the Last Day. That is the best [way] and best in result. (Qur'an 4: 59) This principle is necessary for optimal functioning of the society.

Part of the rationale behind this ruling is that parents and other adults have more experience than a child and consequently more wisdom. They have gained more knowledge, undergone more trials and tribulations, and learned from their own mistakes. It is important for children to understand that they have their best interests in mind when making decisions. This will assist the children in understanding the perspective of their parents and will build trust between them. Of course, Allah knows us better than we know our own selves, so He is our ultimate judge in all matters.

Encourage a focus on worthy values and related projects

In this day and age, children spend a significant amount of time in useless and valueless pursuits: watching television, playing computer games, surfing the Internet; the list is endless. In essence, they spend significantly greater amounts of time in the fictional world than they do in the real world. It suddenly becomes frightening when you begin to realize this fact and understand the implications. As parents of Muslim children, we need to focus on worthy values, goals, and projects, and instil the same aspirations in our children.

As we look at the situation of the world today, we see so much oppression, strife, destruction, and complete disregard for the fundamental rights of humans. Many of the victims of this death, devastation, and grief are Muslims. We must recall that it is our obligation to help our brothers, sisters and others who are suffering in the world today. Our Muslim brothers and sisters are calling out desperately for our help, and we must respond. We particularly need to take care of the children whose futures seem so dark and hopeless, and who are dependent upon adults for their needs. The least that we can do is feel mercy and compassion for them. The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said: «You see the believers as regards their being merciful among themselves and showing love among themselves and being kind, resembling one body so that, if any part of the body is not well then the whole body shares the sleeplessness (insomnia) and fever with it.»⁷ We must make a supplication to Allah each day to relieve their hardship and suffering. We must act and do what is within our abilities to do. The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «Whoever observes something wrong should change it with his hands. If he is unable to do so, then he should speak against it with his tongue. If he is unable to do even that, then he should at least resent it in his heart and this is the lowest level of faith.»⁸

Teaching our children

As parents, we not only need to fulfil our own obligation to the community, but we must also teach our children about the importance of worthy values such as charity, altruism, empathy, peace, and justice. Parents will find that feeling sympathy for others comes naturally to children. Children will innately want to help and give to others when they see them in need. We must firstly teach children about the condition of other Muslims and other people in the world. They must know of the injustices, the oppression, the hunger, the poverty, and the anguish. They must realize the true nature of events. We should not protect them from the truth for fear of frightening them or worrying them. They must understand that it is only through Allah's mercy that they are not in the same situation as their Muslim brother or sister.

We then need to teach our children of the necessity of assisting those in need in any way possible. They must learn the true meaning

⁷ Bukhari

⁸ A sound hadith narrated by Ibn Mâjah and At-Tirmidhi

of charity and its status in Islam. The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «Every small bone of everyone has a charity due upon it for every day upon which the sun rises. Bringing about justice between two is an act of charity. Helping a man get on his mount, lifting him onto it or helping him put his belongings on it, is a charity. A good word is a charity. Every step you take towards the prayer is a charity. And removing a harmful thing from the path is charity.⁹ The Prophet (ﷺ) also said: «Every Muslim has to give in charity. The people asked: O Allah's Prophet! If someone has nothing to give, what will he do? He said: He should work with his hands and benefit himself and also give in charity (from what he earns). The people further asked: If he cannot do even that? He replied: He should help the needy who appeal for help. Then the people asked: If he cannot do that? He replied: Then he should do all that is good and keep away from all that is evil, and this will be regarded as charitable deeds.»¹⁰

From these hadiths, we understand that charity goes beyond giving money alone and includes any good deed that benefits another human being. Children must learn this fundamental aspect of the religion and incorporate it into their lives from a very early age. Muslims should perform acts of charity on a daily basis and strive to benefit others through these acts. We particularly need to try and reach those who are most in need. Children can collect and save money, clothing, and toys to be sent to those in need. They can participate in fundraising projects and activities to educate others about the suffering in the world. They can write letters and campaign against the injustices and oppression. The list of possibilities is endless. Through this process, the child begins to feel what it means to be a Muslim and to belong to the community. His or her eemân and Islamic personality will be strengthened immeasurably. His or her

⁹ Bukhari and Muslim

¹⁰ Bukhari

time will be spent in worthy pursuits and endeavours that will bring him or her rewards in this life and in the hereafter.

As time goes on, it becomes a part of the personality of the child to treat others with kindness and concern. S/he begins to realize the many wonderful blessings that s/he has received from Allah and s/he desires to demonstrate his or her gratefulness. In thankfulness to Allah, s/he uses the blessings that s/he has received (ability, wealth, health) to assist and improve those in need. S/he never misses any opportunity to perform an act of kindness because s/he realizes that no matter how much s/he performs, s/he can never match the wonderful blessings that s/he has received from Allah. What more could a parent desire for his or her child?

Teenagers, in particular, are idealists and have a fervent desire to change the world and make it a better place. Parents should encourage these natural desires and assist them in fulfilling their dreams and goals. There are many important causes and so much to be done. The keenness for volunteer work and social activism that a teenager participates in will undoubtedly be carried over into adulthood, so that the effort may continue. The inevitable outcome is the strengthening of the Muslim community and the achievement of its goals.

Be good role models

As a starting point, parents must consistently engage in behaviour and speech that exemplifies the true nature of being Muslim. Children derive many of their ideas about roles and values from significant individuals with whom they interact and have close relationships. Of course, the parents would be the main figures in this process as discussed elsewhere. Young people are generally drawn to the values and attitudes of a special person — a parent, an admired teacher, an older sibling, or a famous person — whose ideas and behaviours the youth admires. Adults should give young people reasons to admire them and strive to be successful role models, mentors, and guides. The values, attitudes, and behaviour that youth learn from these significant others will be integrated into their Islamic personality and identity.

Of course, the greatest role model for the whole Muslim community is Prophet Muhammad (ﷺ). We have his model available to us in writing and it can be brought to life in our own behaviour. We cannot expect our children to live and behave in a certain manner if we are not doing it ourselves. The opportunity to influence children is readily awaiting; we just need to take advantage of it.

Demonstrate and encourage pride in being Muslim

Parents should take the lead in demonstrating pride in the religion of Islam and in being Muslim. Children are very perceptive and can sense the feelings and thoughts of their parents, even if they do not readily show in behaviour. Pride, in this context, is very different from arrogance in that it refers to a sense of dignity and certainty, and a commitment to carry the banner of Islam for the sake of Allah. Muslims should be proud of the gift that they have been given from Allah and should work to spread it wherever they are. Pride, self-respect, and self-esteem are key components of identity and facilitate the stable and consistent sense of who we are and how we fit into society. If self-esteem does not come from being Muslim, a person will attempt to gain it through other means. Children and youth are particularly vulnerable as these aspects develop gradually during those years.

Instil love of Jihad

Jihad is one of the mainstays of Islam that has been abandoned by the majority of the Muslim community. This is one of the causes of

the humiliation of Muslims in our time. The grief and suffering caused by current circumstances is overwhelming. As Muslims, we know that the only viable solution is returning to the Qur'an and the Sunnah. Principles of justice, security, and honour can only be guaranteed fully with the implementation of Allah's laws on the earth, which deserve the utmost respect and honour. The ultimate goal in the struggle is to establish Islam and Islamic law, which eliminate all forms of oppression completely and give Allah the devotion and adoration that only He deserves.

This is a process that does not come easily, as it requires a great struggle. This struggle, in the Islamic sense, is termed jihad. Jihad is an Arabic term that means to strive, struggle, and work to improve, and it can be applied to any effort exerted by a person. In an Islamic sense, the general meaning of jihad is to strive in the path of Allah or for the cause if Allah. Its goal is to establish the religion of Islam in our hearts, in our homes, in our communities, and in our countries. Allah indicates in the Qur'an,

﴿وَٱلَّذِينَ جَنهَدُوا فِينَا لَنَهُدِيَنَهُمْ سُبُلَنَا وَإِنَّ ٱللَّهَ لَمَعَ ٱلْمُحْسِنِينَ (٢٩) [العَنكبوت: ٢٩] (And those who strive for Us — We will surely guide them to Our ways. And indeed, Allah is with the doers of good.) (Qur'an 29: 69)

﴿إِنَّمَا ٱلْمُؤْمِنُونَ ٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُواْ بِٱللَّهِ وَرَسُولِهِ شُمَّ لَمْ يَرْتَابُواْ وَجَنهَدُواْ بِأَمَوَلِهِمَ وَأَنفُسِهِمْ فِي سَبِيلِ ٱللَّهِ أُوْلَيَتِكَ هُمُ ٱلصَّندِقُونَ (٢) [الحجزات: ١٥] (The believers are only the ones who have believed in Allah and His Messenger and then doubt not, but strive with their properties and their lives in the cause of Allah. It is those who are the truthful. (Qur'an 49: 15)

Jihad means to struggle against injustice, oppression, corruption, tyranny, exploitation, and the denial of basic human rights. It means to fight against sacrilege and blasphemy of Allah, His

Messenger (靈), and His Book. It means to strive against the enemies of Islam, both visible and unseen, for Satan has an army working with him. Allah (骤) says,

﴿ ٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُواْ يُقَانِلُونَ فِي سَبِيلِ ٱللَّهِ وَٱلَّذِينَ كَفَرُواْ يُقَانِلُونَ فِي سَبِيلِ ٱلطَّغُوتِ فَقَانِلُوَا أَوْلِيَآءَ ٱلشَّيْطَانِّ إِنَّ كَيْدَ ٱلشَّيْطَنِ كَانَ ضَعِيفًا (﴾

(Those who believe fight in the cause of Allah, and those who disbelieve fight in the cause of false objects of worship. So fight against the allies of Satan. Indeed, the plot of Satan has ever been weak.) (Qur'an 4: 76)

Ultimately, jihad is the struggle against Satan and his assistants, who appear in the form of jinn and humans.

Jihad is an essential element in the religion of Islam, and to realize what occurs when it is abandoned means to understand its status; for without jihad, evil will reign. Jihad is so significant that those who perform it are regarded as the best of people. Abu Sa'eed al-Khudri narrated: «Somebody asked: O Allah's Messenger! Who is the best among the people? Allah's Messenger replied: A believer who strives his utmost in Allah's cause with his life and property.»¹¹

Jihad has also been associated with performance of prayers and being kind to parents, two of the fundamentals of the faith. «A man asked the Prophet (ﷺ): What deeds are the best? The Prophet said: To perform the (daily compulsory) prayers at their (early) stated fixed

¹¹ Bukhari

¹² Muslim

times, to be good and dutiful to one's parents, and to participate in jihad in Allah's cause.» 13

In another hadith, its status has been elevated above other acts of worship. «A man said: O Allah's Messenger! Inform me of an act that is equal to jihad (in Allah's cause)! Allah's Messenger (ﷺ) said: You cannot (do that act). The man said: Tell me what it is. Allah's Messenger (ﷺ) responded by asking: Can you fast continuously without eating or drinking (at all) and stand continuously in prayer from the time the warriors go out for jihad (till the time they return back home)? The man replied: No. Allah's Messenger said: That is (the act) which is equal to jihad.»¹⁴

The Prophet (()) himself loved jihad and wished for martyrdom. Narrated Abu Hurayrah (): «I heard Allah's Messenger ()) saying: By Him in Whose hands my soul is! Were it not for some men amongst the believers who dislike to be left behind me, and whom I cannot provide with means of conveyance, I would certainly never remain behind any army unit going out for jihad in Allah's cause. By Him in Whose hands my life is! I would love to be martyred in Allah's cause and then come back to life and then be martyred and then come back to life again and then be martyred and then come back to life again and then be martyred.»¹⁵

Few elements of the faith parallel jihad in status and honour. It is an integral component of Islam as it is a struggle for Allah and His religion. The striving is, in actuality, for the human being himself or herself, as this path leads to nearness to Allah, contentment of the soul, and the eventual goal of paradise in the hereafter. For this reason, some of the Companions used to take their children to the battlefield to teach them bravery and to instil in them a desire for

15 Bukhari

¹³ Bukhari

¹⁴ Bukhari and Muslim

jihad. These are the messages that we should give to our children regarding the status and importance of jihad.

Talk to them about the heroes of earlier generations, Islamic battles and victories

Talking to children about heroes in Islam and about Muslim victories will encourage them to be brave and courageous. This is an important part of being powerful and honourable, and developing a willingness to struggle against evil in all forms of jihad. Children are eager to have role models and they love to hear stories of heroism and bravery. This is particularly true for young boys. Their heroes should be the Companions and warriors who struggled for the sake of Allah. Their battlefields should be those of Islam against disbelief. They should be exposed to stories of brave companions who sacrificed their lives for the sake of Allah, the leaders of Muslim armies at various times throughout history, and the legendary Muslim scholars who struggled against injustice. They should be familiar with the history of Islam, the battles that occurred, and the victories that were achieved through the assistance of Allah.

Place Islam before ethnicity and nationality

Two major threats to the development of a Muslim identity are ethnicity and nationality. Allah (3) actually warns about this several times in the Qur'an. He mentions,

And when it is said to them: Follow what Allah has revealed, they say: Rather, we will follow that which we found our fathers doing. Even though their fathers understood nothing, nor were they guided? (Qur'an 2: 170)

This has happened throughout history and it continues to this day. Many Muslims today place greater emphasis on their cultural traditions and nationality than they do on Islamic values and practices. This means that their national and ethnic identities are much stronger than their Islamic identity. Evidence of this is shown in the fact that mosques are often divided along ethnic or national lines and social groups are formed based upon these factors. A more frightening occurrence is to see people reject a matter in the Qur'an or the Hadith on some aspect because their family has "always done it another way" and they do not want to change. Often, the culture and traditions of the ethnic group are confused with Islam. Practices that are purely cultural may be attributed to Islam and vice versa.

Children should be taught that Muslim identity and Islam come before all else. Muslims are brothers and sisters to one another regardless of race, ethnicity, or nationality; and there is no superiority of one over the other in any of these. They must also understand that there is nothing more important than being a Muslim. There is grave danger in placing ethnicity or nationality above Islam as it may actually lead to various forms of misguidance and shirk. Of course, there is also the danger of the dominant culture for those living in the West. Although Islam accepts and recognizes the value and beauty of the variety of cultures, traditions, and languages, religion should be given priority when it comes to relevant matters.

Chapter 13 Enhancing the Islamic Personality and Building Self-Esteem

« Ilah will show no mercy to those who do not show mercy to others.»¹

There are additional steps that can be taken to enhance the Islamic personality and identity of children as well as build strong self-esteem and confidence. These suggestions are discussed below with an emphasis on self-esteem.

Definitions of self-concept and self-esteem

Self-concept is a mental image of one's self. It is comprised of terms that a person uses to describe himself or herself. Such terms may include outgoing, shy, curious, brave, intelligent, and so forth.

Self-esteem is the evaluation of information contained in a person's self-concept. It is considered to be the level of confidence and satisfaction in one's self. A person with high self-esteem feels confident and pleased with his or her concept or idea of himself or herself.

Importance of self-esteem

Research has found that children who are morally and spiritually conscious develop a sense of their own self-worth. Parents can assist children in developing an Islamic personality and high selfesteem. Self-esteem is an important factor in social and emotional

¹ See the full hadith cited below.

adjustment. Children with high self-esteem are more capable of making good decisions, are proud of their accomplishments, are willing to take responsibility, and act independently. They are better able to cope with stressful situations and are enthusiastic about challenges. They also have the ability to handle positive and negative emotions and are more socially competent.

Building self-esteem

Nurture the special gifts from Allah

Each child is born with unique personality traits, temperaments, skills, abilities, and special gifts from Allah. These gifts were given to a child for a purpose. They should be nurtured and allowed to develop to their fullest capacity. Children should be taught to dedicate their talents and resources to Allah's service. This gives value, purpose and direction in life. Parents play an important role in this regard. They first need to determine the special characteristics and gifts of each child and then find ways to enhance them. If a child's natural abilities are not allowed to grow, this may negatively affect self-esteem.

Love your children abundantly

Parents should show their children how much they care for and love them. They should tell their children on a regular basis that they love them. Children should also be treated with respect and courtesy since actions often speak louder than words. Physical contact is essential, including such things as hugs, kisses, strokes, pats on the back. An important aspect also is that parents should spend time with their children whenever possible. This may involve playing games, talking, taking a walk, praying and reading the Qur'an together, going to the mosque, or sharing other favourite activities. A sense of humour also goes a long way in dealing with many situations and for strengthening the parent-child relationship. In the example of Prophet Muhammad (ﷺ), we find someone who was always kind, respectful, and affectionate toward children. The Prophet (ﷺ) loved children a great deal. He would offer greetings to children when he met them in the street and he would play and joke with them. He would allow his grandsons, Al-Hasan and Al-Husayn, to ride on his shoulders and would hug and kiss them openly. Ya'lâ ibn Murrah mentioned: «We went out with the Prophet (ﷺ) and we were called to eat, when we saw Husayn playing in the street. The Prophet rushed ahead of the people, holding out his arms, and the child was running here and there; the Prophet was laughing with him until he caught him, then he put one of the child's hands under his chin and the other on top of his head, and embraced him.»²

The Prophet (ﷺ) used physical affection toward all children. Usâmah ibn Zayd said: «Allah's Messenger (ﷺ) used to put me on (one of) his thighs and put Al-Hasan ibn 'Ali on his other thigh, and then embrace us and say: O Allah! Please be merciful to them, as I am merciful to them.»³ Yoosuf ibn 'Abd as-Salâm said: «The Prophet of Allah named me Yoosuf, sat me on his knee, and stroked my head.»⁴

² Bukhari

³ Bukhari

⁴ Bukhari, Aḥmad and At-Tirmidhi

⁵ Bukhari and Muslim

⁶ Bukhari, Muslim and Ibn Mâjah

Communicate with your children

In the US, the average American child spends 1,680 minutes per week in front of a machine (TV) and only 38.5 minutes in a meaningful conversation with his or her parents. Some young people spend more time on the computer communicating with people halfway around the world than they spend talking with their parents in the next room. It is very important that parents communicate with their children EVERY DAY, not only for self-esteem enhancement, but for many other reasons as well.

It is very difficult to build a relationship with any human being without frequent communication. Communication is what relationships are based upon. This is definitely true for the parent-child relationship as well. We cannot expect to have an influence upon our children unless we have regular contact with them. This is particularly true as the child gets older and begins to understand more about the world. If the lines of communication are open, it is more likely that s/he will come to his or her parents to find answers to important questions that come up in life. This offers unique opportunities for parents to share their beliefs and values in a direct and real way. Without a history of open communication, this may never happen. A line of communication is also essential for effective discipline.

The most critical element for effective communication is listening (really listening). This means giving your child undivided attention, putting aside your feelings and opinions for a moment, and trying to understand those of your child. His or her ideas, emotions, and feelings should be taken seriously. Parents should show their children that what they do is important by talking with them about their activities and interests. At times, it may be necessary to express values and beliefs, but this should be done in a calm manner and accompanied with a rationale. Problems should be discussed without placing blame or commenting on a child's character.

Praise them for good behaviour

Children respond well to praise and positive attention and this can go a long way in preventing problem behaviours and reducing them once they occur. The use of such phrases or remarks also builds self-esteem. Examples include, "Thank you for helping", "That was an excellent idea!", "You are terrific!", "What a nice job!", " $M\hat{a} sh\hat{a}$ ' Allâh!",⁷ and "Allah will be pleased with you". Praise, recognition, special privileges, or increased responsibility may be given for accomplishments and successes. Hugs and kisses may be used as rewards as well.

Praise and kindness are much more effective as forms of discipline than harshness and physical punishment. In effect, they act as preventive tools. The Prophet (\cong) said: «When Allah wills some good towards the people of a household, He introduces kindness among them.»⁸ The Prophet (\cong) also said: «Allah loves kindness and rewards it in such a way that he does not reward for harshness or for anything else.»⁹ Children who are treated with respect and kindness respond more easily and quickly to the disciplinary efforts of parents. This prevents many arguments and confrontations.

Give them praise and respect in front of others

«Sahl ibn Sa'd said that the Prophet ($\underline{\circledast}$) was brought a cup and he drank from it. There was a boy, the youngest of all the people, on his right and some elders on his left. He ($\underline{\circledast}$) asked: Child, will you allow me to give this to these elders? The boy replied: I will not give away my share of your blessings to anyone, O Messenger of Allah. So he ($\underline{\circledast}$) gave the cup to the boy.»¹⁰

⁷ $m\hat{a} sh\hat{a}$ ' All $\hat{a}h$: *lit.* '[It is] what Allah wanted'; an expression of appreciation for something someone has done

⁸ Ahmad in Saheeh al-Jâmi'

⁹ Muslim

¹⁰ Bukhari; The reason that the Prophet (bpuh) asked the boy his permission is=

This hadith provides a unique and valuable example of respect for children. It is likely that most adults in that same situation would ignore the child or ask him or her to go away so as not to bother the grown-ups. It seems odd that some parents show a great deal of respect to perfect strangers but fall short when it comes to their own children. The Prophet (2) demonstrated the proper manner of dealing with such a situation. Children are human beings and they deserve the same level of respect as any other human being. It is important to respect and admire our children at all times, particularly in front of other people. This sends a very powerful message that a parent values his or her children and considers them to be a worthy member of the community. The Prophet (2) often included young children and youth in study circles with other Companions. These types of experiences are invaluable for character development and lead to a smooth transition into adulthood and the responsibilities of life.

Avoid humiliating or shaming them

Parents should avoid humiliating or shaming children, particularly in the presence of others. Their ideas should not be belittled nor should they be ridiculed or ostracized. Anas narrated: «I served the Prophet (ﷺ) for ten years, and he never said to me, 'Uff,' and never blamed me by saying: Why did you do that or why didn't you do that?»¹¹ This is another compelling illustration of kind treatment toward children; ten years and not one instance of impatience or negative commentary. Some parents are with their children for five minutes and find some way to blame them for every bad thing that happened that day.

⁼that in Islamic etiquette, one serves others starting with those on one's right, and goes around the 'circle' until those on the left are served. The boy thus had the right to be served first. (Editor)

¹¹ Bukhari
Humiliation, shame, and ridicule only serve to harm a child's personality and well-being. In essence, they have the opposite effect of praise and kindness. They lead to a decrease in self-esteem and self-confidence and, in severe cases, a disturbed personality and behaviour problems. We can imagine how we feel when someone gives us a negative comment or humiliates us in some way. It can be hurtful and embarrassing. Children feel the same way and, due to the fact that their personalities and characters are developing, they are much more vulnerable than adults. As a result, they are more likely to suffer from the harmful effects of such actions and carry these effects with them for longer periods of time. Parents should constantly be aware of the sensitive nature of children and their unique vulnerability.

Consult them and ask for their opinions

Consulting children about certain matters helps them to feel grown-up, responsible, and trustworthy. They feel that their opinions are valued when they are asked to express their point of view. It also strengthens their sense of belonging and responsibility toward the family unit. The amount and type of consultation that is done depends, of course, on the age and developmental level of each child. As children reach the teenage years, it becomes even more important to involve them in family discussions. This approach enhances the skills that will be invaluable for them in adult life, such as communication skills, problem-solving, decision-making, compromise, and so forth.

It would be advisable to arrange and conduct family meetings to discuss issues related to the family and its members. A family meeting is basically a structured discussion time that typically is scheduled on a regular basis and involves all members of a family. It provides a forum for making group decisions, assigning responsibilities, sharing positive feelings, and choosing activities for family fun. Problems that family members are facing may be discussed along with possible solutions. These meetings will assist in establishing strong ties, interaction, and cooperation amongst family members. It should be clear, however, that with any form of consultation or family meetings the final authority and decisionmaking rests with the parents due to their position within the family.

Foster responsibility and independence

Children should be given responsibilities according to their age and abilities. This provides training for the development of conscientious, trustworthy, and independent behaviour. As young adults, they will eventually need to make their own important decisions in their lives. With appropriate experience, they are provided with opportunities to learn and develop essential decisionmaking and problem-solving skills. They should then be encouraged to apply these skills on a regular basis. As children get older, they should gradually be allowed more freedom and control over their lives, within suitable limits. Parents should continue to provide support when necessary. The development of responsibility and independence is key to anyone's self-confidence and high selfesteem. Such a child will feel valued, appreciated, and competent. This, in turn, will increase the level of trust between a parent and child and enhance the parent-child relationship, which is so vital in achieving the goals that have been set.

PART FOUR

ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

he environment surrounding children may also have an impact upon their spiritual development. This influence is often subtle, but nonetheless can be quite significant. This is particularly true as the child matures and moves from childhood into adolescence and early adulthood. The general understanding in the field of development is that as a child develops, the influence of parents tends to diminish (although it never ends) and the role of peers and the community becomes more significant. It is a gradual process, which of course will vary from person to person. The good news is that in most cases, youth tend to eventually integrate the morals and values of their parents, even if they spend a period of time 'testing the limits'. Regardless of this encouraging fact, it is important to monitor the home environment itself; the peer environment (their friends, their activities, and so forth); and the community environment, to ensure the most spiritually enriching experiences for your child.

Chapter 14 The Home Environment

Home is a sanctuary and a blessing from Allah. Allah (\mathfrak{R}) mentions:

﴿وَٱللَّهُ جَعَلَ لَكُم مِّنُ بُيُوتِكُمْ سَكُنًا ... (٥٠)

And Allah has made for you from your homes a place of rest...? (Qur'an 16: 80)

It is the peaceful haven to which people retreat from the hardships of this life. Shelter, protection, privacy and enjoyment are found within this enclosure.

Home is also the base for developing and nurturing children with eemân. Children acquire most of their values, beliefs, and behaviours from interactions within this environment. Understanding the responsibility and influence of parenting, parents should ensure that the home offers an environment in which eemân may grow and flourish. This can be accomplished by following a few useful guidelines, centred around instituting that which is good and beneficial and removing that which causes evil or harm.

Create an environment of eemân within the home

The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «The comparison between a home in which Allah is remembered and a home in which Allah is not remembered is like comparing the living and the dead.»¹ The home must be a place where Allah is remembered throughout the day

¹ Muslim

through prayer, reading the Qur'an, remembrance of Allah, supplication, discussion of Islamic topics, reading Islamic books, and so on. These are things that should occur on a consistent basis so that the angels will enter the home and bring Allah's blessings.

Reading the Qur'an should be a regular activity of the members of the household. It is particularly beneficial to recite *Soorat al-Baqarah* (Chapter Two of the Qur'an — The Cow) on a regular basis to protect the home from the workings of Satan. Allah's Messenger (\cong) said: «Do not make your houses into graves. Satan flees from a house in which Soorat al-Baqarah is recited.»² The Prophet (\cong) also said: «Recite Soorat al-Baqarah in your homes, for Satan does not enter a home in which Soorat al-Baqarah is recited.»³ The last two verses of this chapter contain special virtues. The Prophet (\cong) said: «Allah wrote a document two thousand years before He created the heavens and the earth, which is kept near the Throne, and He revealed two verses of it with which He concluded Soorat al-Baqarah. If they are recited in a house for three consecutive nights, Satan will not approach it.»⁴

Establish prayer within the home

Prayer should be established within the home at its required time, and members of the family should pray in congregation when several are present. Establishment of prayer means not only to fulfil the prayer, but to complete it on time and with humbleness. The family may also designate a specific area for prayer and maintain its uniqueness and cleanliness. For women, it is better to pray each prayer within the home. For men, it is recommended to pray voluntary prayers at home before or after having prayed obligatory prayers in

² Muslim

³ Al-Hâkim in Şaheeh al-Jâmi'

⁴ Ahmad in Saheeh al-Jâmi"

the mosque. The Prophet (\cong) said: «The voluntary prayer in the home is better than the voluntary prayer with the people. It is like the obligatory prayer of the man in congregation being better than . praying the obligatory by himself.»⁵ The Prophet (\cong) also said: «When any one of you observes prayer in the mosque he should reserve a part of his prayer for his home, for Allah would make the prayer as a means of betterment in his home.»⁶ This is to ensure that homes are made places of worship just as the mosques.

In one story related to this issue, «'Utbân ibn Mâlik (ﷺ), one of the Companions of the Prophet came to the Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) and said: I am losing my eyesight, and I lead my people in prayer. When it rains, the riverbed between me and them gets flooded and I cannot get to their mosque to lead them in prayer. O Messenger of Allah, I would like you to come and pray in my house so that I can take it as a place of prayer. The Messenger of Allah said: I will do that, *inshâ' Allâh.*⁷ 'Utbân said: The next day the Messenger of Allah and Abu Bakr came in the morning. The Messenger of Allah asked permission to enter, and I gave him permission. He did not sit down until he entered the house, then he said: Where would you like me to pray in your house? I showed him a corner of the house, then the Messenger of Allah stood up, said: *Allâhu akbar*; we stood in a row behind him, and he prayed two units of prayer and gave the *tasleem*⁸ at the end of the prayer.»⁹

The members of the household should encourage and remind one another regarding the prayer. ' \hat{A} 'ishah ($\underline{\mathbb{G}}$) said: «The Messenger of Allah ($\underline{\mathbb{G}}$) used to pray at night, and when he prayed

⁹ Bukhari

⁵ Şaheeh al-Jâmi'

⁶ Muslim

⁷ inshâ' Allâh: God willing

⁸ tasleem(ah): the act of saying as-salâmu 'alaykum wa raḥmat Allâh to end the prayer

*witr*¹⁰ he would say: Get up and pray witr, 'Â'ishah.»¹¹ The Prophet (\cong) said: «May Allah have mercy on a man who gets up at night and prays, then he wakes up his wife to pray, and if she refuses he throws water in her face.»¹² These principles can also be applied to children, particularly as they reach the age of learning their prayers.

Make teaching and learning ongoing activities

Teaching and learning should be ongoing activities in every Muslim household. Attaining knowledge regarding the religion is incumbent upon all members of the family and is the basis upon which eemân will flourish. The head of the household has the primary responsibility to ensure that he is guiding his family to the correct path, enjoining them to do what is good and right, and forbidding them from wrongdoing. Both father and mother work together to teach the children correct Islamic 'ageedah, the pillars of Islam, the pillars of eemân, what Allah has enjoined, what He has prohibited, and Qur'anic memorization. A study circle should be established within the home that covers these various topics, and from which all family members will benefit. Children should especially be encouraged to participate since this will establish a pattern for them that will be carried throughout their lifetimes. As they become older, they may even be requested to prepare topics for presentation. Other sources of learning may be scholarly lectures, recitation of the Qur'an, or Islamic stories and information on radio, audiotapes, video, or via the Internet. The possibilities for acquiring knowledge are endless.

¹⁰ witr: lit. an odd number: a single unit of superogatory prayer, to be prayed any time after the evening ('ishâ') prayer and before the call for the dawn prayer ¹¹ Muslim

¹² Ahmad and Abu Dâwood in Şaheeh al-Jâmi"

Maintain an Islamic library

Each home should have its own small Islamic library. This may . include such things as books, cassette tapes, CDs, and videos. It is important to choose accurate and reliable material that adheres to the Sunnah. There should be a variety of materials to cover the needs of all age levels and languages of those in the home. Arabic material is definitely a must since everyone in the family should either know or be learning to read the language of the Qur'an. Books should cover a variety of topics, be properly organized, and be easily accessible. Audiotapes and CDs may include Qur'anic recitation, lectures, children's tapes containing supplications, reminders of Islamic manners, and religious songs with no musical instruments. Family members should encourage one another to use these materials on a regular basis, and they should be shared with other Muslim families who may be in need of them.

Know the supplications and Islamic rulings that pertain to houses

Members of the household should remember Allah, the Exalted, the Almighty, and say "bismillâh (In the name of Allah)" when entering the home. The Messenger of Allah (\cong) said: «When any one of you enters his home and mentions the name of Allah when he enters and when he eats, Satan says: You have no place to stay and nothing to eat here. If he enters and does not mention the name of Allah when he enters, Satan says: You have a place to stay. If he does not mention the name of Allah when he eats, Satan says: You have a place to stay. If he does not mention the name of Allah when he eats, Satan says: You have a place to stay and something to eat.»¹³ The specific supplication for entering the home is the following: «In the name of Allah we enter and in the name of Allah we leave, and in our Lord we place our trust.

¹³ Muslim and Ahmad

[Bismillâhi walajnâ, wa bismillâhi kharajnâ, wa 'alâ Rabbinâ tawakkalnâ.]»¹⁴

There is also supplication when leaving the home. The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «If a person goes out of his house and says: In the name of Allah, I put my trust in Allah, there is no help and no strength except in Allah [*Bismillâhi, tawakkaltu 'alâ Allâh, wa lâ ḥawla wa lâ quwwata illâ billâh*], it will be said to him: This will take care of you, you are guided, you have what you need and you are protected. Satan will stay away from him, and another devil will say to him: What can you do with a person who is guided, provided for and protected?»¹⁵

Some of the Islamic rulings regarding homes include guarding the secrets of the home, seeking permission to enter, not looking into other people's homes, and not allowing children to enter the parent's bedroom during certain times of the day. Regarding seeking permission to enter, Allah (ﷺ) informs us,

 إِيَّا ٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُوا لَا تَدْخُلُوا بُبُوتِا غَيْرَ بُبُوتِكُمْ حَتَى تَسْتَأْنِسُوا وَتُسَلِّمُوا عَلَىٰ
 الْفَلِهَا ذَلِكُمْ خَيْرٌ لَكُمْ لَمَلَكُمْ تَذَكَرُونَ () فَإِن لَز تَجِدُوا فِيها أَحَدًا فَلَا نَدْخُلُوها
 الْفَلِها ذَلِكُمْ خَيْرٌ لَكُمْ لَمَلَكُمُ تَذَكَرُونَ () فَإِن لَز تَجِدُوا فِيها أَحَدًا فَلَا نَدْخُلُوها
 حَتَى يُؤْذَن لَكُمْ وَإِن قِيلَ لَكُمْ أَرْجِعُوا فَآرَجِعُوا هُوَ أَزْلَى لَكُمْ وَإَلَنَهُ بِمَا تَعْمَلُون
 حَتَى يُعْدِرُ اللهُ مَعْدُ اللّهُ مَا لَكُمْ لَمَلَكُمُ تَذَكُونُ اللّهُ فَإِن لَز تَجِدُوا فِيها أَنْ اللّهُ مُعَالًا مُن اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ مَعْدُونَ اللّهُ مُعَالًا لَكُمْ أَوْمَ اللّهُ مُعَالًا فَعَمَلُونَ حَتَى يُعْذِذَى لَكُمْ وَاللّهُ مَا لَكُمْ اللّهُ مُعَالَقُونَ عَلَى اللّهُ مُعَالُونَ عَلَى اللّهُ مَعْدُ اللّهُ مُعَالَةُ مُوا اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ مُعُمُ مُواللّهُ اللّهُ مُن اللّهُ مُعَالًا لَهُ مُعُمَا اللّهُ مُعَالًا لَعُونُ مُ مُعَلُونَ عَلَى اللّهُ مُعَلُون اللّهُ مُعَالَقُونُ اللّهُ مُعَالَةُ مُنَا لَهُ مُعَالُهُ مُوا لَكُمُ مُؤُلُولُهُ مُعُنُونُ مُ مُعَتَى مُوا لَكُمُ مُوَاللَهُ مُعَلُونُ الْعُنُولُ مُعَالَكُمُ مُعَلَى اللّهُ مُعَلَّهُ مُعُمَا اللّهُ مُعَلَيْنُ مُ مُنَالًا اللّهُ مُعُلُونُ اللّهُ اللَهُ اللّهُ مُعُلُولُكُمُ مُعَلَيْهُ اللّهُ مُعُنُونُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللَّهُ مُولَاللَهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُعُلُون اللهُ مُعُلُون اللهُ مُعُلُولُ اللّهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنَالَعُهُ اللهُ اللّهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ مُعُلُون اللهُ مُنْ مُنُهُ مُ اللَهُ مُولُكُمُ مُعُلُولُ اللّهُ مُولُولُ اللْعُنُولُ مُنْ مُ مُعُلُولُ اللهُ اللْعُلُ مُ الللهُ اللهُ اللَّذِي اللْعُنُولُ مُعُلُونَ اللَهُ مُولُولُ مُعُلُولُ مُنَاللهُ مُولُولُ الْحُلُولُ الْحُلُولُ اللّهُ واللَّهُ مُ مُعَالُهُ مُولُولُ الْحُلُولُ مُعُلُولُ مُ اللللّهُ مَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْعُولُ الْحُلُولُ مُ مُعَالُكُولُ مُ مُولُ مُ مُولُ اللّهُ اللْعُلُولُ ال اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ مُولُولُ اللّهُ اللّهُ مُولُولُ الللّهُ اللللْهُ مُولُولُ مُولُولُ الللَّذِي مُ مُ

O you who have believed, do not enter houses other than your own houses until you ascertain welcome and greet their inhabitants. That is best for you; perhaps you will be reminded. And if you do not find anyone therein, do not enter them until permission has been given you. And if it is said to you: Go back, then go back; it is purer for you. And Allah is Knowing of what you do. (Qur'an 24: 27-28)

¹⁴ Abu Dâwood, mentioned in Qahtâni's Fortress of the Muslim, p. 19

¹⁵ Abu Dâwood and At-Tirmidhi in Saheeh al-Jâmi'

It is prohibited to look into the homes of other people without their permission. The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said: «If someone looks into a person's house without their permission, put his eye out, and there is no compensation payment or legal retribution in this case.»¹⁶ In another hadith, it is narrated: «A man peeped through a hole in the door of the Messenger's house, and at that time, the Messenger had an iron comb with which he was combing his hair. So when the Messenger saw him, he said (to him): If I had been sure that you were looking at me (through the door), I would have poked your eye with this (sharp iron comb). The Prophet added: Asking for permission to enter has been made obligatory so that one may not look unlawfully (at what there is in the house without the permission of its inhabitants).»¹⁷

Children should be informed that there are certain times of the day that they must seek permission to enter their parents' bedroom. These times are before the dawn prayer, at nap time, and after the evening prayer. Allah ($\frac{1}{100}$) mentions,

the night prayer. [These are] three times of privacy for you. There is no blame upon you nor upon them beyond these [periods], for they

¹⁶ Ahmad in Şaheeh al-Jâmi"

¹⁷ Bukhari

circulate continually among you — some of you, among others. Thus does Allah make clear to you the verses [His ordinances]; and Allah is Knowing and Wise. (Qur'an 24: 58)

The privacy of personal affairs is highly respected in Islam as reflected in the above rulings. Care should be taken to preserve this virtue within the home. In addition, when visitors are present, men and women should sit in separate areas. There should be no mixing of men and women, since this can lead to temptation and uncomfortable or awkward situations. This should be applied regardless of whether the visitors are Muslims or non-Muslims. The rules are for your home and they should be respected by those who enter.

Invite righteous and knowledgeable people to the home

Allah (3) mentions,

<زَبِّ أَغْفِرْ لِى وَلِوَالِدَى وَلِمَن دَخَلَ بَيْتِي مُؤْمِنًا وَلِلْمُؤْمِنِينَ وَٱلْمُؤْمِنَاتِ ... ﴿) *

(My Lord, forgive me and my parents and whoever enters my house as a believer, and the believing men and believing women...) (Our'an 71: 28)

Righteous people who enter your home will bring many benefits due to their presence and to conversations with them. They are more likely to discuss useful topics and may be excellent sources of information and knowledge. We should always pray that Allah will bless us with righteous friends, since they can have such positive effects on us. The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «Keep company with a believer only, and let your food be eaten only by the righteous.»¹⁸

¹⁸ A reliable hadith narrated by Abu Dâwood and At-Tirmidhi

Remove negative influences from the home

Negative influences should be removed from the home, including television, unlawful music, dogs, statues, and pictures of animate beings. Each of these is discussed in more detail below.

Television

Television is a standard appliance in many Muslim homes. It is also the one thing that parents will never regret having thrown out. While some people argue that television has advantages, for example, educational programs, its dangers far outweigh any benefits that may be possible. To more effectively create a home environment filled with eemân, it is strongly encouraged to eliminate this major source of distraction. If this is not possible, then strict monitoring of programming must be applied. More information related to this issue is provided at the end of this chapter.

Unlawful music

Unlawful music should also be prohibited within the home. This includes songs with musical instruments and lyrics that provoke temptation and performance of forbidden actions. Allah mentions,

And among people is he who buys the amusement of speech to mislead [others] from the way of Allah without knowledge and who takes it [Allah's way] in ridicule. Those will have a humiliating punishment. (Qur'an 31: 6)

The explanation for "amusement of speech" is that which has no benefit, including misleading stories and frivolous songs or music. In general, it includes all that distracts or diverts one from the Qur'an and the remembrance of Allah. It is permissible, however, to listen to Islamic songs that include wisdom, exhortation, encouragement to do good, and promotion of noble attitudes and characteristics. This is particularly true if the songs revive Islamic thoughts and feelings, and motivate the listener to obey Allah by living within the framework of Islamic Law, to avoid transgressing the limits set by Allah, and to strive in jihad for His sake. The most appropriate times for Islamic songs include during Eid,¹⁹ weddings, when travelling for jihad, or when feeling bored and in need of something to revive spirits. This should not be regarded as something that must be adhered to or a habit engaged in on a continual basis.

Pictures, statues, and dogs

A Muslim home should be free of pictures with animate beings, statues, and dogs, so that angels will enter. The Prophet (\cong) said: «Angels (of mercy) do not enter a house wherein there is a dog or an image of a living creature (a human being or an animal).»²⁰ This ruling for pictures applies to images of animate beings, while inanimate objects are allowed. The reason for the prohibition is that picture-making involves imitating the creative act of Allah. The Messenger of Allah (\cong) said: «The people who will receive the severest punishment on the Day of Resurrection will be those who try to make likenesses of Allah's creations.»²¹ He also said: «Those who make these pictures will be punished on the Day of Resurrection, and it will be said to them: Bring to life what you have created.»²² Since picture-making of animate beings is prohibited, it is also forbidden to buy, sell, or display them. The same ruling obviously applies to

¹⁹ Eid ('eed): lit. festival; the two celebrations: one at the end of Ramadan and the other at the culmination of the Hajj

²⁰ Bukhari

²¹ Bukhari

²² Bukhari

statues of animate beings. Some scholars also conclude that photographs of humans or animals are prohibited as well.

Dogs are forbidden inside the home due to issues of cleanliness. This is evident in the hadith of the Prophet (\cong) who said: «If a dog drinks from your vessel, wash it seven times.»²³ In addition to hindering the angels from entering the home, the presence of a dog also lessens a person's rewards. The Prophet (\cong) said: «If somebody keeps a dog, he loses one of the rewards of his good deeds every day, except if he keeps it for the purpose of agriculture or for the protection of livestock.»²⁴ Dogs are allowed to be kept outside the home when they are used for agricultural purposes such as guarding livestock, and according to the Qur'an (5: 4), they are also permitted to be kept for hunting.

Ensure that physical aspects are conducive to fulfilling religious obligations

It is preferable for the home to be close to a mosque so that it will be easier for men to attend the prayers in congregation and for all family members to visit the mosque for lectures, study groups, and social gatherings. In order to obtain the benefits of community, it is also advisable to find an area where other Muslims live. One should definitely be careful about close neighbours and avoid those who are obviously engaged in immoral activity. When choosing a house or apartment, consideration should be made regarding privacy and the availability of separate sitting areas for men and women. Additionally, although most scholars agree that it is permissible to face the qibla while relieving oneself inside buildings or places where there is a screen between oneself and the Ka'bah, it is best to ensure that toilets are situated in such a way as to avoid facing the direction of

²³ Bukhari

²⁴ Bukhari

the *qibla*.²⁵ The house should be spacious and fulfil safety and health requirements.

Some notes regarding television

Research has found that children spend an average of three to four hours watching television each day. In a 65-year lifespan, that means s/he will have spent nine of those years in front of a box. With these statistics, we realize that children spend significant amounts of time in the fictional world, engaging with this virtual world often more than they do in the real world. It suddenly becomes worrisome when you begin to realize this fact and understand the implications. Television viewing is harmful to the intellectual, psychological, and social development of children. Even more frightening is that children may be harming their souls at a very young age; often never to recover their purity and wholesomeness again.

Dangers to intellectual, psychological, and social development

When a child is born, s/he possesses all of the brain cells (or neurons) that s/he will have for his or her lifetime, although these cells are not yet fully developed. This progression occurs early in life through interaction with others, stimulation from the outside world, and the love and care of a parent. Television has actually been found to be harmful for the process, not allowing the brain to complete its full development. This is because television viewing is a passive activity, not an active one. The American Academy of Pediatrics has itself provided a warning that children under two years of age should not be allowed to watch any television, primarily for this reason. Much of the development occurs early in childhood, but it does continue into adolescence, so this applies to children of all ages.

²⁵ Fatwa of the Standing Committee for Issuing Fatwas: http://www.islamqa.com/ en/ref/69808

Watching television also means that a child is **not** doing something else. Reading, interacting, and experiencing are important for a child's learning. When a child watches television, s/he is obviously not engaged in these activities. S/he is not actively using his or her abilities, not being creative, not socializing, not playing, and not reading and memorizing the Qur'an. So much time is wasted in a useless activity. This means that s/he may not reach his or her full potential in these critical areas. This may also have a negative impact on schoolwork and functioning in school. Children who are the most successful academically have been found to spend most of their time engaged in fulfilling and constructive activities. Television was not included on that list. We need to teach our children that positive and constructive use of time is very important and is actually a part of being Muslim.

Dangers for the soul

The dangers of television for the soul are many. The most obvious is the diversion from worship and remembrance of Allah. Through its entrance into the mind and heart of the child, television has the capability to cause serious damage to the soul. A person who watches a great deal of television is less likely to pray on time (if at all) or to join the congregational prayer. Staying up late for viewing causes the person to miss the dawn prayer. There is little time for reading of Qur'an, and so on. Imagine the outcome in the hereafter for a person who spent nine years of his or her life in front of television versus the one who spent those nine years in worship, reading the Qur'an, and acquiring Islamic knowledge — an amazing difference.

In addition to the time that is lost to meaningless pursuits, there is also exposure to countless un-Islamic values and practices. Most of these are very obvious, while others are more subtle. Some of the more obvious include social mixing between males and females, inappropriate dress, aggressive and unacceptable social behaviour, lack of respect for authority, celebrating of non-Muslim holidays, and so on. It would be useful to recall that television programming is prepared mainly by non-Muslims. That means that the values and morals that are displayed are usually far from those that a Muslim family should have.

For children, the real threat lies in the fact that these values begin to be internalized and become a part of the personality structure. Children begin to assimilate and integrate material that they are presented into their thinking patterns and view of life. They often accept new information without question because they have not yet acquired the critical thinking skills of an adult. This means that what they see on television (and from adults around them), they come to accept and believe as truth and reality. Young children, in particular, have a difficult time separating fantasy from reality, so they perceive what they view to be real and good. Through a process of desensitization, the behaviours that are displayed come to be perceived as normal and acceptable.

In addition, television is probably one of the most influential 'modelling' tools available. Children imitate what they see from others around them and from the media. This means that they not only integrate the material into their thinking patterns, but that they also begin to act it out in their behaviour. Research has found, for example, that children who watch aggressive models on television tend to be more aggressive themselves. The reversal of this process is inevitably very challenging and difficult. The most effective method for dealing with this type of threat is to avoid exposure as much as possible from the beginning.

Another danger of television is the concept of materialism, the foundation of many industrialized societies. Materialism is the belief that pleasure and material aspects are the most important values and goals in life, taking priority over spiritual principles or objectives. The aim of most mass media organizations is to entice the general population to spend as much money as possible in order to make a very small group of people wealthy (or wealthier). Television programs are put together with the conscious attitude of promoting a consumer society; and this is exactly what happens through television advertising. Children become concerned about getting the latest and 'hottest' commodities and products, which leads to a lack of concern about those less fortunate, and about higher values and goals. As Muslims, we need to be cautious about the trap of materialism, especially in countries with high material standards of living, and we must teach our children that which far exceeds wealth in terms of rewards and benefits.

Exposure to various forms of disbelief and polytheism is the most perilous aspect of television viewing. When one begins to analyze the material available to children these days, it becomes clear that much of it includes outright polytheism, while others have more hidden forms of disbelief and polytheism. We see human or "superhuman" beings given strength, control and power that belongs to Allah alone. Whether it involves fighting wicked forces or ridding the world of evil, these beings are most often ascribed abilities that were never given to them by Allah and are for Allah alone. (Of course, most of the characters are fictional, anyway.) This power often means controlling the whole world, and there is no mention of a Greater Being in the whole process. Oftentimes there is use or mention of magic, which is a form of disbelief and polytheism.

When children are exposed to these ideas on a constant basis, they begin to believe that 1) they can rely upon other forces or beings to get what they want in life, 2) there are forces as powerful as Allah, or 3) there is no God. In many ways, a form of worship of these beings or forces takes place, especially in connection with the materialistic aspect.

Chapter 15 The Peer Environment

﴿وَٱصْبِرْ نَفْسَكَ مَعَ ٱلَّذِينَ يَدْعُونَ رَبَّهُم بِٱلْفَـدَوْةِ وَٱلْمَشِيِّ يُرِيدُونَ وَجْهَةً, وَلَا تَعْدُ عَيْنَاكَ عَنْهُمْ تُرِيدُ زِينَةَ ٱلْحَيَوْةِ ٱلدُّنِيَّأُ وَلَا نُطِعْ مَنْ أَغْفَلْنَا قَلْبُهُ, عَن ذِكْرِنَا وَٱتَّبَعَ هَوَنْهُ وَكَانَ أَمْرُهُ, فُرُطًا (٢) ﴾

And keep yourself patient [by being] with those who call upon their Lord in the morning and the evening, seeking His countenance. And let not your eyes pass beyond them, desiring adornments of the worldly life, and do not obey one whose heart We have made heedless of Our remembrance and who follows his desire and whose affair is ever [in] neglect. (Qur'an 18: 28)

The role of peers

Between the ages of six and twelve, children typically spend approximately 40 percent of their waking hours in the company of peers-children of their own age and status. This is twice the amount of time they spent with peers during the preschool years, and it is accompanied by a corresponding decrease in time spent with parents. As children enter adolescence, peer interaction increases even more. On the average, teenagers spend twice as much time with their peers outside of school as they do with their parents or other adults. This is part of the natural, social transition into adulthood.

Related to the amount of time spent with peers is the influence that peers have on a child or adolescent. This influence functions in many ways, and it is commonly termed 'peer pressure'. Children and teens may feel pressured by their peers to think and act in similar ways. By the teenage years, they may be more concerned about the opinion of friends than that of parents or elders. This social influence is a mutual process. Children and adolescents are not only influenced by their peers, but at the same time influence them as well. They also tend to choose friends who are like themselves. The good news is that most adolescents report that they are more likely to go along with peer pressure that is pro-social than with pressure to misbehave.

The increasing time spent with peers alters parent-child relations. As the parenting role begins to diminish, the influence of peers becomes more significant. However, while the influence of parents decreases, most adolescents continue to share their parents' values. Parents also continue to exert an important influence on their children's development throughout adolescence.

Choosing righteous friends

Parents should make every effort to help their children develop friendships with sincere and righteous Muslim peers. Friends should be chosen who believe in and abide by the principles of Islam and who give proper respect to what Allah and Prophet Muhammad (ﷺ) have ordered. They should avoid those peers that are not wellmannered or do not give due attention to their religion and to what pleases or displeases Allah.

The Prophet ($\underline{\mathscr{G}}$) said: «A person inevitably follows the faith of his friends; therefore, be careful in choosing your friends.»¹ The Prophet ($\underline{\mathscr{G}}$) warned that care should be taken in choosing friends and peer groups, since they will have a strong influence on the individual and his or her character. This is precisely what social and psychological research has discovered, as discussed above. This is important, since befriending righteous and virtuous Muslims is an essential means for staying on the straight path.

¹ A reliable hadith narrated by Abu Dâwood and At-Tirmidhi

In another hadith, Prophet Muhammad (\bigotimes) said: «The analogy of a good companion and a bad companion is like that of the seller of musk, and the one who blows the blacksmith's bellows. As for the seller of musk, either he will grant you some, or you buy some from him, or at least you enjoy a pleasant smell from him. As for the one who blows the blacksmith's bellows, either he will burn your clothes or you will get an offensive smell from him.»²

In this hadith, the Prophet (ﷺ) compared a good companion to a seller of musk and alluded to the virtue of having companions who are good and who have gracious manners, piety, and knowledge. Those types of friends will confer upon others their virtuous ways. Keeping good company with those who are pious results in the attainment of beneficial knowledge, good manners, and righteous actions. The Prophet (ﷺ) also forbade us to sit with those who do evil and commit many sins, and likened them to one who blows the blacksmith's bellows. Keeping company with the wicked prevents one from gaining knowledge, good manners, and righteous actions. At times, a Muslim is encouraged by his or her friends to do wrong and to forget his or her duties. S/he may, for example, feel ashamed to leave his or her friends to perform ablution and prayer. In this way, his or her friends cause him or her to deviate from the straight path.

On the Day of Resurrection, the disbelievers will regret having taken evil ones as friends. Allah (ﷺ) describes in the Qur'an:

<<p>وَقَوْمَ يَعَضُ ٱلظَّالِمُ عَلَى يَدَيْهِ يَتُولُ يَنَيْتَنِي ٱتَّخَذْتُ مَعَ ٱلرَّسُولِ سَبِيلًا () يَوَيْلَنَى لَيْتَنِي لَمُ أَتَخِذُ فَلَانًا خَلِيلًا ٢ اللَّهُ لَقَدْ أَصَلَّنِي عَنِ ٱلذِحَرِ بَعْدَ إِذْ جَآءَنِي وَكَان ٱلشَّيْطَنُ لِلْإِنسَنِ خَذُولَا (٢) [الفرقان: ٢٧-٢٩]

And the Day the wrongdoer will bite on his hands [in regret] and he will say: Oh, I wish I had taken with the Messenger a way. Oh, woe

² Bukhari and Muslim

to me! I wish I had not taken that one [the person who misguided him] as a friend. He led me away from the remembrance after it had come to me. And ever is Satan, to people, a deserter.

(Qur'an 25: 27-29)

In contrast, on that day, the believers will be given the glad tidings of admittance into heaven, along with those who were their righteous companions. Allah ($\frac{3}{36}$) also indicates,

Close friends, that Day, will be enemies to each other, except for the righteous [to whom Allah will say:] O My servants, no fear will there be concerning you this Day, nor will you grieve — [you] who believed in Our verses and were Muslims. Enter Paradise, you and your kind [those like you], delighted. (Qur'an 43: 67-70)

Ibn Katheer, commenting on these verses, relates a story on the authority of 'Ali ibn Abi Țâlib (2000) which says:

Any friendship for other than Allah is turned into enmity, except what was in it for Allah the Mighty and Majestic: Two who are friends for Allah's sake. One of them dies and is given good news that he will be granted paradise, so he remembered his friend and he supplicated for him, saying: O Allah, my friend used to command me to obey You and to obey Your Prophet (2) and used to command me to do good and to forbid me from doing evil. And he told me that I will meet You. O Allah, do not let him go astray after me, until you show him what you have just shown me, until You are satisfied with him, just like You are satisfied with me. So he is told: Had you known what is (written) for your friend, would you have laughed a lot and cried a little. Then his friend dies and their souls are gathered, and both are asked to express their opinions about each other. So each one of them says to his friend: You were the best brother, the best companion and the best friend. And when one of the two disbelieving friends dies, and he is given tidings of hellfire, he remembered his friend and he said:

O Allah, my friend used to order me to disobey You and disobey Your Prophet (20), and commanded me to do evil, and forbade me from doing good, and told me that I would not meet You. O Allah, do not guide him after me, until you show him what you have just shown me and until you are dissatisfied with him just like You are dissatisfied with me. Then the other disbelieving friend dies, and their souls are gathered, and both are asked to give their opinions about each other. So each one says to his friend: You were the worst brother, the worst companion and the worst friend.³

The benefits of mixing with the righteous are immense, and they will be even more obvious in the hereafter. It is from Allah's blessings upon a child or youth who submits and turns to Allah in worship that s/he is given a brother or sister similar to him or her; thus they are able to encourage each other in their obedience to Allah and adherence to the Sunnah. Others who take a youth away from remembering Allah and from obeying Him and His Prophet (2000), those who fail to remind him or her of his or her daily prayers and those who do not give him or her sincere advice in regard to his or her way of life, are actually foes and not friends.

From a young age, parents should expose their children to others who are righteous by taking them to the mosque, sending them to an Islamic school, and involving them in activities in the Muslim community. In these ways they will have opportunities to develop friendships based upon righteousness. They will also see other children and families worshipping Allah, which will strengthen their own desire to worship.

As parents assist their children in choosing righteous friends, it may be helpful to keep in mind the following questions:

³ Tafsir Ibn Kathir, vol. 8, (2000) Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: Darussalam Publishers and Distributors

- 1. Will they assist our child in achieving the purpose for which s/he was brought to life (that is, to worship of Allah) or will they take him or her away from it?
- 2. Will they desire for our child Allah's pleasure or is that not their concern at all?
- 3. Will they lead our child closer to paradise or to the hellfire?

Friendship based upon love of Allah

The Prophet (ﷺ) said: «Whoever possesses the following three qualities will taste the sweetness of eemân: one to whom Allah and His Messenger become dearer than anything else, one who loves his brother (or sister) solely for Allah's sake, and one who hates to revert to disbelief just as he hates to be thrown into the Fire.»⁴

Friendship in Islam is based upon mutual love and respect. This is one of the ways through which a person may taste the sweetness of eemân. When a Muslim befriends and loves his or her brother or sister in Islam, s/he loves him or her for the sake of Allah. This means that his or her love for that brother or sister is connected to his or her love for Allah. S/he loves him or her and treats him or her in the manner that Allah has ordained. S/he loves him or her because they share a special bond that can never be broken, the bond of faith in Allah, the Creator of all humankind. It is a bond between hearts and minds that brings them close in a unique and special way; so much so that they are willing to sacrifice anything for each other knowing they will gain the pleasure of Allah in the process. Nothing between them is ever done for worldly gain or purpose.

The Messenger of Allah said: «On the Day of Judgment, Allah, the Most High, will announce: Where are those persons who love

⁴ Bukhari and Muslim

each other for the sake of My pleasure? This day I am going to shelter them in the shade provided by Me. Today there is no shade except My shade.»⁵ Brothers and sisters in Islam who love each other for Allah's sake will find His shade on the day when there will be no other shade. The rewards that Allah gives for this love are beyond our imagination and beyond what we are capable of earning. This emphasizes the importance of loving each other for the sake of Allah.

In another story: «A man went to visit a brother of his in another village. Allah sent an angel to wait for him on the road. When the man came along the angel asked him: Where are you headed? He replied: I am going to visit a brother of mine who lives in this village. The angel asked: Have you done him any favour (for which you are now seeking repayment)? He said: No, I just love him for the sake of Allah. The angel told him: I am a messenger to you from Allah, sent to tell you that He loves you as you love your brother for His sake.»⁶ The significance of this cannot be overstated when we understand that our love for a brother or sister in Islam brings us Allah's love.

At the level of eemân, to develop a friendship for Allah's sake means to establish relationships of love and trust for His sake. This entails assistance, alliance, and loyalty. Loyalty for the sake of Allah really means to come to the assistance of those who are obedient to Him, even if it requires immense sacrifices. It requires us to ally ourselves for the sake of Allah, and it requires us to ally ourselves to Muslims wherever we find them. This brotherhood and sisterhood transcends all worldly barriers such as culture, race, language, and socioeconomic status. There is no better friendship than friendship for the sake of Allah.

⁵ Muslim

⁶ Muslim

Chapter 16 The Community Environment

(مَا تَعْكُمُ أُمَةً وَاحِدَةً وَأَنَا رَبُحُمُ فَالَقُونِ (آن)المؤمنون: ٢٥](And indeed this, your religion [Ummah]¹ is one religion [Ummah], and I am your Lord, so fear Me.(Qur'an 23: 52)

A community is basically a group of people having common interests, goals, principles, and rights. The main element of sharing something in common defines a community. However, it goes beyond that, and for the Muslim community it is a much deeper experience. To be effective, a community needs to be organized, cohesive, cooperative, and active. A true Muslim community will have all of those things in addition to being the carrier of Islam, the Qur'an and the Sunnah of the Prophet (ﷺ). Allah (ﷺ) mentions,

﴿وَكَذَلِكَ جَعَلْنَكُمْ أُمَّةً وَسَطًا لِنَكُونُوا شُهَدَآءَ عَلَى ٱلنَّاسِ وَيَكُونَ ٱلرَّسُولُ عَلَيْكُمْ بُرُبِي شَهِيدًا ... 🗊 [النقرَة: ١٤٣]

(And thus We have made you a median [just] community that you will be witnesses over the people and the Messenger will be a witness over you...) (Qur'an 2: 143)

As the standard bearers of Islam, we are examples for all people, and in particular, for the next generation. This is the responsibility of the community and it is a responsibility that needs to be taken seriously. When we fail to practice Islam or to bring up our children as Muslims, we not only harm ourselves and our family, but we also negatively impact the whole community.

¹ Ummah: community or nation: usu. used to refer to the entire global community of Muslims

In relation to nurturing eemân and developing an Islamic personality, the youth learn values, morals, attitudes, and ideals not only from individual people, but they also acquire them from reference groups. These are social groups to which a person belongs and with which common aspects are shared. For a Muslim youth, the most important reference group should be the Muslim community. For that to happen, the Muslim community needs to be available. Youth need to be encouraged to participate and made to feel that they are important members of the community who have something to contribute. If these elements are not present, the youth will turn to other readily available options.

Encourage a sense of belonging to the Muslim nation

Children should be taught the importance of brotherhood and sisterhood between Muslims and a sense of belonging to the Muslim community. They should read and know about Muslims in other lands who are suffering and need our care and assistance. This hadith of the Prophet (2) should be in their minds: «You see the believers in their mutual love, kindness and compassion are like the human body, in that when one of its parts is in agony the entire body feels the pain, and experiences sleeplessness and fever.»² As part of one body, we should feel joy when other Muslims are joyous and sadness when others are sad. Youth should be trained to do the best that they can to achieve the goals of the community and to develop solutions to the multitude of problems that face it. They need to understand that as responsible members of the community, these problems are not distant or remote, but rather their own concerns as well.

² Bukhari and Muslim

Practical suggestions for developing a sense of community

Children and youth should be taken to the mosque or to social gatherings on a regular basis where they have the opportunity to interact with other Muslim children. This is particularly true for families living in non-Muslim countries. Beginning around the age of six or seven, they can be taken to gatherings to sit with grown-ups. This will help to increase their understanding and wisdom. They will also naturally try to imitate adults, so appropriate adult role models should be provided. The Companions used to bring their children with them when they sat with the Prophet (3). For example, Mu'âwiyah ibn Qurrah narrated (from his father), that «The Prophet (ﷺ) used to sit with a group of his Companions. One man had his little son with him; he would bring him from behind and make him sit in front of him...»³ Young boys should be introduced to congregational prayer in the mosque — including funeral prayers. Eid prayers should be attended by the whole family, and special activities should be planned in the community on these occasions. The community should break the fast and celebrate the Eid together.

Programs and services need to be available for youth so that they obtain a sense of belonging. If no programs are available, they need to be developed to suit various age ranges and interests. This may include such things as religious study groups, Qur'an memorization, extra-curricular activities, sports activities, and so on. The main idea is to develop activities and an environment in which Muslim youth can interact and develop the bonds of community.

It is through these efforts that an environment of brotherhood and social responsibility will develop. Members of the community will support each other, help each other in need, and offer useful advice. This will add to the mutual love among the Muslims and enhance the eemân of each individual member of the community.

³ A sound hadith narrated by An-Nasâ'ee

Conclusion

The beliefs that an individual carries with him or her throughout his or her lifetime are the most significant aspects of his or her existence, as they are the foundation for all else. They will influence his or her choices, behaviour, social interactions, emotions and ultimately his destined place in the hereafter. If a person was a disbeliever all of his or her life and then accepted Islam near the end of that life, s/he would be counted amongst the people of paradise (with the grace of Allah). If another person performed many good deeds during his or her lifetime but died a disbeliever, that person's deeds would not benefit him or her in the least. These scenarios highlight the importance of belief in the Islamic framework.

It was for this reason that the Prophet taught his Companions the principles of aqeedah for 13 years before introducing the practical aspects of the religion. He wanted to ensure that firm eemân and commitment to Islam were built into their hearts, that they were prepared to face the challenges that lie ahead of them, and that they would be willing to defend Islam with their wealth and their lives. A sign of true faith is the willingness to give up everything in this worldly life for the sake of Allah and for Islamic principles and values.

As discussed in the preceding text, the Islamic belief system is built upon the pillars of eemân: belief in Allah, His angels, His prophets, His books, the Day of Judgment and the hereafter, and divine will and predestination. As Muslim parents, it is our duty to instil these beliefs in the hearts and minds of our children by connecting them in various ways to the pillars of faith throughout our daily lives and interactions. Their relationship with Allah should be the most important one in their lives and they should consistently be aware that Allah is aware of their every thought, feeling and deed. This insight will give them the ability to discern right from wrong and to always choose that which is most pleasing to Allah. Lawful choices will be made regardless of the pressures, temptations, or sacrifices they may face.

We should continually recall that parenting is a serious responsibility. What we do and the choices we make will affect our children for the rest of their lives (in this world and the hereafter). We should provide the proper environment and nourishment that are required for eemân to mature and flourish. Then, *inshâ' Allâh*, we can watch as our children grow to become obedient servants of Allah, develop Islamic personalities and identities, and represent Islam as it should be represented.

By Allah's grace, you will reap the rewards of your efforts and hard work as you see your children blossom and flower. Your children will appreciate the gift that you have given to them, you will feel a sense of accomplishment, and the community will be strengthened and activated. The rewards waiting in the hereafter (inshâ' Allâh) will be even greater.

References

Books

- Ali, Abdullah Yusuf (1999) *The Meaning of the Holy Qur'an: Text, Translation and Commentary*, 10th ed. (rev.). Beltsville, MD: Amana Publications
- Al-Ashqar, 'Umar (2002) The Messengers and the Messages in the Light of the Qur'an and Sunnah. Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: International Islamic Publishing House.
- Al-Ashqar, 'Umar (2002) The World of the Noble Angels. Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: International Islamic Publishing House.
- Al-Ashqar, 'Umar (2003) Belief in Allah. Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: International Islamic Publishing House.
- Al-Ashqar, 'Umar S. (2003) *Divine Will and Predestination*. Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: International Islamic Publishing House.
- Darussalam Research Division (2003) Child Companions Around the Prophet, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: Darussalam Publishers and Distributors.
- Ibn Katheer, (2000) Tafsir Ibn Kathir, vol. 8. Abridged by a group of scholars under supervision of Safi ur-Rahman al-Mubarakpuri, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: Darussalam Publishers and Distributors.
- Ibrahim, E. and Johnson-Davies, D. (1976) An-Nawawi's Forty Hadith. Beirut: The Holy Koran Publishing House
- Mohamed, Yasien (1991), Knowledge in Islam and the crisis in Muslim education, Muslim Education Quarterly, 8, 13-32.
- Al-Mundhiri, Z. A. (2000) The Translation of the Meanings of Sahih Muslim, Riyadh: Darussalam Publishers and Distributors.

- Al-Qahtâni, Sa'id bin Wahf (2000) Fortress of the Muslim, tr. 'Aqeel Walker, Riyadh: Darussalam.
- Saheeh International (1997) The Qur'an: Arabic Text with Corresponding English Meanings, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: Abul Qasim Publishing House.
- Zarabozo, Jamal al-Din (1997) *He Came to Teach You Your Religion*, Boulder, CO: Al-Basheer Company for Publications and Translations.
- Az-Zubaidi, Z. A. (1996) The Translation of the Meanings of Summarized Sahih al-Bukhari, M. M. Khan (Translator).
 Riyadh: Darussalam Publishers and Distributors.

Websites

- Al-Baatilee, Ahmed ibn 'Abdullah (2006) "Learning Arabic is a Fard (Obligation) on Every Muslim", 30 Jan. 2006. Islamicweb.com. http://www.islamicnetwork.com/index.php/weblog/comments/ learning_arabic_in_an_obligation_fard_on_every_muslim. Last accessed 14/12/2008
- Islam Question & Answer. http://www.islamqa.com/en/ref/69808 Last accessed Dec. 2008
- Muslim Student Association, University of Southern California. Compendium of Muslim Texts, 'Biographies of the Sahabah': http://www.usc.edu/dept/MSA/history/biographies/sahaabah/ bio.ABDULLAH_IBN_ABBAS.html Last accessed Dec. 2008

Appendix: Parenting Resources

Books

- Abd al Ati, Hammudah (1977), *The Family Structure in Islam*, Indiana, USA: American Trust Publications.
- Abdul Bari, Muhammad (2002), A Guide to Parenting from an Islamic Perspective, London, U.K.: Ta-Ha Publishers Ltd.
- Beshir, Ekram and Mohamed Rida (2003), *Muslim Teens: Today's* Worry, Tomorrow's Hope (A Practical Islamic Parenting Guide, Beltsville, MD: Amana Publications.
- Beshir, Ekram and Mohamed Rida (2004), Parenting Skills Based on the Qur'an and Sunnah, Beltsville, MD: Amana Publications.
- Hasan, Abdul-Majeed Alee (1998), Islaamic Family Guidelines, Middlesex, U. K.: Message of Islam.
- Hasan, Suhaib. (1998) Raising Children in Islam, London, U.K.: Al-Qur'an Society.
- Murad, Mahmoud Ridha (1999), Guidelines for Raising Children, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: Darussalam.
- Rahbar, Faramarz bin Muhammad (1994), Raising Children According to Qur'an and Sunnah, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia: Abul Qasim Publishing House.
- Tarazi, Norma (1995), *The Child in Islam*, Indiana, USA: American Trust Publications.
- Ulwan, Abd-Allah Nasih (2001), Child Education in Islam, Cairo, Egypt: Dar El Salam

Websites

- Effective Islamic Parenting http://www.islamic-world.net/papers/parent.htm
- Parent-Child Relationship in Islam http://www.islamic-world.net/parenting/parenting_page/ parent_child_relationship.htm
- The Positive and Negative C's of Islamic Parenting http://www.themodernreligion.com/family/family_c.htm

Glossary of Islamic terms¹

adhân	أذان	the call to prayer
alḥamdulillâh	الحمد للَّه	all praise is for Allah
Allah	اللَّه	Islamic name for God in the Arabic language; term is singular, has no plural, nor is associated with masculine, feminine or neuter characteristics
Allâhu akbar	اللَّه أكبر	Allah is the Greatest
'aqeedah (pl. 'aqâ'id)	عقيدة	belief system that is based upon a firm conviction in all the fundamentals of faith and of the oneness of Allah; firm creed that one's heart is fixed upon without any wavering or doubt, and that excludes any supposition, doubt or suspicion
as-salâmu 'alaykum	السلام عليكم	a greeting, which means 'peace be with you'
bismillâh	بسم اللَّه	in the name of Allah
dinar (deenâr)	دينار	originally, a gold coin; a unit of currency

¹ The Arabic words are transliterated according to the conventions of the Transliteration Chart found in this book. If a word has become part of the English language (i.e. is found in a dictionary of Standard English), that spelling is used in this book and appears first in this Glossary, with the transliterated form in brackets after it.

dirham	درهم	a silver coin; a unit of currency
Eid ('eed)	عيد	<i>lit.</i> festival; the two celebrations: one at the end of Ramadan and the other at the culmination of the Hajj
eemân	إيمان	faith; belief in all the six pillars of the creed of Islam
fițrah	فطرة	the natural inclination (of humans) instilled by Allah
Hadith (ḥadeeth)	حديث	the collected sayings and actions of Prophet Muhammad, that with the Qur'an form the basis of Islamic law
hadith (ḥadeeth)	حليث	a saying or action of Prophet Muhammad that was remembered and recorded by his Companions and followers
Hajj (ḥajj)	حج	the major pilgrimage to the Sacred Mosque, site of the Kaaba at Makkah, to be undertaken by every able Muslim once in his/her lifetime
hijab (ḥijâb)	حجاب	veil ordained by Allah for believing women
iḥsân	إحسان	goodness, perfection, excellence; to worship Allah as if you see Him, but even if you do not see Him you know that He sees you
inshâ' Allâh	أنشاء اللَّه	God willing

isrâ' and mi'râj	الإسراء والمعراج	the night journey of the Prophet from Makkah to Jerusalem and then up to visit heaven
Islam (Islâm)	إسلام	peace attained through willing submission and obedience to Allah's divine guidance; word for the religion as a whole
Jibreel	جبريل	the Arabic name for Gabriel, the archangel who transmitted the verses of the Qur'an and other communication from Allah to Prophet Muhammad
jinn	جنّ	non-human, rational beings created by Allah, often referred to as 'demons'
Kaaba (Ka'bah)	الكعبة	the House of Allah in Makkah, originally built by Prophets Ibrâheem and Ismâ'eel
al-Lawḥ نفوظ al-Ma <u>h</u> foo <u>dh</u>	اللوح المح	the Preserved Tablet in Heaven on which Allah's words and decrees are written
Laylat al-Qadr	ليلة القدر	the 'Night of Destiny', 'Night of Decree' or 'Night of Power' in which the Qur'an was first revealed, and in commemoration of which Muslims are supposed to spend some nights of the month of Ramadan in prayer and supplication, seeking Allah's forgiveness; Worship and other forms of good deeds performed on this night are rewarded as if one had been

performing them for a thousand months.

mâshâ' Allâh	ماشاء اللَّه	<i>lit.</i> '[It is] what Allah wanted'; an expression of appreciation for something someone has done
Munkar and Nakeer	منکر و نکیر	two angels in charge of questioning the soul in the grave
Muslim	مسلم	lit. 'one who submits' (to Allah)
qibla (qiblah)	القبلة	the bearing from the Kaaba to any point on Earth; the direction that all Muslims must face in prayer
Ramadan (Ramaḍân)	رمضان	the ninth month in the Islamic calendar; the month of obligatory fasting or abstention from food, drink and sexual relations
șaḥeeḥ	صحيح	a grade of hadith: sound or authentic
şalât	صلاة	formal prayer: a combination of physical postures, recitation and supplication
seerah	سيرة	biography
sharia (shariʻah)	شريعة	Islamic law derived from the Qur'an and the Sunnah
shirk	الشرك	associating partners with Allah
soorah or soorat	سورة	chapter of the Qur'an
Sunnah	السنَّة	the practice and collected sayings of Prophet Muhammad that together with

the Qur'an forms the basis of Islamic law

taqwâ	التقوى	fearful awareness of Allah; being mindful of Allah; pious dedication; being careful not to transgress the bounds set by Allah
tasleem(ah)	تسليم	the act of saying as-salâmu 'alaykum wa raḥmat Allâh to end the prayer
tawḥeed	التوحيد	the Oneness of Allah: that He alone deserves to be worshipped and that He has no partners
Ummah	أمَّه	community or nation: <i>usu</i> . used to refer to the entire global community of Muslims
witr	وتر	lit. an odd number: a single unit of superogatory prayer, to be prayed any time after the evening ('ishâ') prayer and before the call for the dawn prayer
zakât (zakâh or zakât)	زكاة	obligatory charity: an 'alms tax' on wealth payable by Muslims and to be distributed to other Muslims who qualify as recipients